Introducing Spin-Orbit Interaction in Graphene

by

Jun Yong Khoo

B.A. Physics, University of Oxford (2011) M.Sc. Physics, University of Waterloo (2013)

Submitted to the Department of Physics in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

at the

MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

September 2018

© Massachusetts Institute of Technology 2018. All rights reserved.

Signature redacted

Author

Department of Physics August 31, 2018

Signature redacted

Certified by

Leonid S. Levitov Professor of Physics Thesis Supervisor

Accepted by Signature redacted

MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY SEP 122018 LIBRARIES ARCHIVES Nergis Mavalvala Associate Department Head, Physics

Introducing Spin-Orbit Interaction in Graphene

by

Jun Yong Khoo

Submitted to the Department of Physics on August 31, 2018, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Abstract

The excellent electron properties of graphene, an atomically-thin material with recordhigh carrier mobility and gate tunability, make it central to modern nanoscience. However, the spin-orbit interaction (SOI) naturally present in graphene is extremely weak and has yet to be observed experimentally. This presents an obstacle for accessing novel phenomena in transport and optics, in particular those related to topological properties. This thesis seeks to address this limitation by artificially introducing SOI in graphene sandwiched between other atomically-thin materials that can produce an interfacial SOI in graphene. In particular, it is demonstrated that a strong SOI, naturally present in the two-dimensional materials such as transition metal dichalcogenides (TMD), can be partially transferred to graphene via the proximity effect. We predict a range of novel phenomena arising in graphene bilayers with layer-asymmetric SOI induced by a proximal TMD layer. These include a gate-tunable SOI, a gate-tunable intrinsic valley-Hall conductivity, as well as a gate-tunable edge conductivity, to name just a few. These findings will facilitate exploring previously inaccessible spin-related phenomena in graphene and other van der Waals heterostructures.

Thesis Supervisor: Leonid S. Levitov Title: Professor of Physics

Acknowledgments

MIT and Cambridge in general, is a place filled with opportunities. While there are countless world class programs and classes, it is really the people who I have had the chance to interact with and learn from through these opportunities that have made me grow in more ways than I could have ever imagined.

I am deeply indebted to my advisor and mentor Leonid Levitov. First of all I am thankful for the physics that he has taught me, either through his classes or meetings in person and over Skype calls. He has helped me mature as a physicist and has always pointed me towards thinking beyond just solving the problem at hand and focusing on more important questions. These include the potential novel applications and phenomena that the solutions could lead to, and motivations or reasons to why anyone should be interested in the problem. His clarity of thought and emphasis on clear communication of ideas has helped me improve my scientific writing and presentation skills. Through his guidance, I gradually began to appreciate the importance of clear scientific communication, to write with a strong motivation and develop ideas coherently. I am appreciative of his care towards me as a mentor, always looking out for opportunities and collaborations that would benefit me. It is through these collaborations that I got exposed to different ideas and projects, as well as gotten the opportunity to meet and work with many others who have helped me along in this journey. Finally, I am most grateful for his time and support throughout my time at MIT, especially in these last few months.

I am fortunate to be a part of various experimental collaborations. I am privileged to have had the chance to work with local experimentalists as well as those from other institutions. I thank Pablo Jarillo-Herrero, Valla Fatemi, Yuan Cao for insightful discussions. I also thank Alberto Morpurgo and Zhe Wang from the University of Geneva for our many fruitful Skype discussions as well as for sharing with me their experimental data. Finally, I am thankful also to Andrea Young and Joshua Island from the University of California Santa Barbara for current ongoing discussions and sharing their data. It was a privilege to have been a part of the Center for Integrated Quantum Materials (CIQM). It was in one of their annual meetings where I learned how to give my first five-minute talk, which was surprisingly difficult to do well. CIQM also provided the opportunity to meet and interact with many distinguished physicists and other members through group meetings, workshops and conferences. I am blessed to have met Shiang Fang from Harvard University through CIQM. I have learned a lot from discussions with him and I am thankful for his willingness and openness to share his ideas, derivations and matlab codes. The sincerity in our discussions has led to a friendship beyond academic relations which I am really grateful for.

This journey would not have been as enjoyable without my office mates. I am thankful for the fruitful discussions, oral exam preparation sessions, and other chitchat sessions that I had with all of them. In particular I thank Jian Feng Kong for sharing his coffee and coffee knowledge and discussing problem sets. I also thank Oles Shtanko for teaching me some Russian phrases and the exchange of cultural knowledge. Finally I thank Cyprian Lewandowski for teaching me some Polish words, for the fruitful discussions in more recent collaborations, as well as for offering a helping hand on many different occasions.

The Condense Matter Theory (CMT) department has always been a friendly and open environment for discussions. I am thankful for discussions with Inti Sodemann and Brian Skinner. Discussions with Inti in particular, have led to collaborative side projects. I would also like to thank Michael Pretko, who had been proactive in organizing student seminars and oral exam practice sessions to promote discussion of ideas and learning among graduate students.

Moving slightly away from research but still staying within my experience with physics is my experience in grading exams for some undergraduate classes. These have been very memorable and interesting moments, not so much for the grading itself, but the brief interactions with some faculty members in an informal setting. In particular, it was a pleasure to have known Peter Dourmashkin, Ibrahim Cisse and Joseph Checkelsky. Their dedication, passion and enthusiasm in general could be felt and it has always been a joy to talk to them. For Peter, I sincerely hope that one day in the future we will have the chance to meet up in Singapore. For Ibrahim, it was exciting to have taken a beginner's lesson in salsa from him; he was an excellent and lively teacher! For Joe, I will never forget that one eventful grading session when something went wrong and my lunch order was missing. He immediately gave me some money and insisted that I have lunch first before grading. Words cannot express how touched I was by his kind gesture.

The classes here at MIT and Harvard were some of the best ones in my life. I was fortunate to have caught a glimpse of the different faculties' mindsets from auditing and taking their classes. I am grateful to have been taught by Xiaogang Wen, Senthil Todadri, Patrick Lee, Mehran Kardar, Liang Fu, Hong Liu, Jesse Thaler, Steven Johnson, Subir Sachdev, Bertrand Halperin, Xi Yin, and of course Leonid himself.

Outside of physics, I am thankful for the buffet/hotpot group for the company and friendship – Jian Feng, Quntao Zhuang, Zi Wen Liu, Elton Zhu, Ta-wei Wang and Qingyang Wang. I am also grateful for the support and fellowship with Gerald Pho, Peng Shi, Annie Chen, David Miculescu and Samuel Perli in the initial years of my PhD, some of whom are talented musicians. I am blessed to have played music with them at several Graduate Christian Fellowship large group meetings.

Music has always brought me great joy and I am grateful for the opportunity to play with my current band Veisty on the bass guitar. I thank Joseph Sandt for bringing up my request to join the band at the end of last year, and for the fun times we spent together working on our maker's class project. I also thank the rest of the band, Elise Strobach, Jean Sack and Daniel Preston, for giving me a chance to be a part of the band. Our various practice sessions and performances this year, as well as the upcoming recording sessions, will forever be imprinted in my memory.

Finally, I thank my lovely wife Berenice, parents and grandmother for being there for me and to have always been a source of encouragement and support all these years. In particular, I am eternally grateful to Berenice for her extraordinary help with the things at home in our last few months here in Cambridge, for being my lifelong companion and for being an endless source of love and support in every aspect of my life. *Dominus Illuminatio Mea*.

Contents

1	Inti	roduction	15
	1.1	Heterostructures in Solid State Physics	17
		1.1.1 "The whole is greater than the sum of its parts."	
		-Aristotle	17
		1.1.2 Semiconductor-Based Heterostructures	17
	1.2	Graphene-Based Heterostructures	22
	1.3	Spin Manipulation	28
	1.4	Thesis Outline	32
2	Bila	ayer Graphene Theory	35
	2.1	Monolayer and Bilayer Graphene Lattice	35
	2.2	Monolayer Graphene Low-Energy Effective Hamiltonian	37
	2.3	Bilayer Graphene Effective Hamiltonian	39
	2.4	Gated Bilayer Graphene	42
		2.4.1 Low-Energy Spectrum and Eigenstates	44
		2.4.2 Capacitance Effects	46
	2.5	Intrinsic Spin-Orbit Interaction in Graphene	47
3	Ori	gin and Magnitude of Spin-Orbit Interaction in Graphene on	L
	Sen	niconducting Transition Metal Dichalcogenides	51
	3.1	Interfacial Interactions in vdW Heterostructures	52
	3.2	Device Fabrication and Characterization	55

	3.3	Extracting SOI from Weak Antilocalization (WAL) in Monolayer Graphe	ne
		on Different TMDs	58
	3.4	SOI in Bilayer Graphene and Thicker Multi-Layers	64
	3.5	Quantitative Analysis of the WAL Data	68
	3.6	Spin-Orbit Band Structure Splitting and SdH Oscillations in High-	
		Mobility Graphene-on-TMD Devices	71
	3.7	Chapter Summary	78
	3.8	Appendix: Classical Magneto-Conductivity Background	81
4	On-	demand Spin-Orbit Interaction from Which-Layer Tunability in	n
	Bila	ayer Graphene	85
	4.1	Tuning Spin-Orbit Interaction in Bilayer Graphene	86
	4.2	Which-Layer Tunability in Bilayer Graphene	88
	4.3	Interfacially-Induced Layer-Dependent SOI	89
	4.4	Electric-Dipole Spin Resonance	91
	4.5	Low-Energy Spectrum of Bilayer Graphene with Layer-Specific SOI $$.	92
	4.6	Gate-Tuneable Topological Phase Transition	95
	4.7	Chapter Summary	98
	4.8	Appendix: Derivation of Low-Energy Effective Hamiltonian and Band	
		Structure	98
5	Tun	able Quantum Hall Edge Conduction in Bilayer Graphene throu	$\mathbf{g}\mathbf{h}$
	Spir	n-Orbit Interaction	103
	5.1	Absence of Spin-Orbit Interaction (SOI) in Graphene Landau Levels	
		$(LLs) \dots \dots$	104
	5.2	Zeroth LLs of Bilayer Graphene with Layer-Specific SOI	105
	5.3	Low-Energy Effective Hamiltonian	107
	5.4	Effects of Layer-Specific Ising SOI	110
	5.5	Inverted Orbital Ordering	111
	5.6	Novel Compensated Electron-Hole Phases	112
	5.7	Effects of Electron-Electron Interactions	117

6	Con	clusions	127
	5.11	Appendix: Derivation of Zeroth LL Spectrum	120
	5.10	Chapter Summary	119
	5.9	Effects of Layer-Specific Rashba SOI	118
	5.8	Conductances of Novel Phases	118

List of Figures

1-1	Rectifying I-V characteristics of a p-n junction	19
1-2	Structure of bipolar junction transistor	20
1-3	Schematic of MOS capacitor	21
1-4	Schematic of MOSFET operation	22
1-5	2D crystals as Lego blocks	24
1-6	Graphene-BN resonant tunnelling transistor	25
1-7	Graphene-BN resonant tunnelling transistor	26
1-8	Moire superlattice	27
1-9	The spin Hall effect	29
1-10	Giant magnetoresistance and the spin-valve effect	30
2-1	Crystal structure of monolayer graphene	36
2-2	Crystal structure of Bernal-stacked bilayer graphene	37
2-3	Bilayer graphene bandstructure	43
2-4	Layer polarization of low energy states	46
2-5	Quantum spin Hall effect	49
3-1	Basic characterization of graphene on TMD substrates	56
3-2	Negative magneto-conductivity due to WAL in monolayer graphene on	
	TMD substrates	59
3-3	Interfacially induced SOI in graphene-on-TMD is a robust phenomenon	60
3-4	Interfacially-induced SOI in graphene multilayers on TMDs	63
3-5	Comparison of WAL data measured on monolayer graphene on different	
	TMDs with the theoretical predictions	66

3-6	Upper bound of $\tau_{\rm so}$, extracted from WAL data, as a function of τ for	
	monolayer graphene devices	67
3-7	Extracting SOI from the SdH resistance oscillations observed in BLG-	
	on-WSe ₂ devices \ldots	73
3-8	Low energy band structure of bilayer graphene on TMD \ldots	74
3-9	Magneto-conductivity measured at high temperatures (20-30 K) in the	
	devices with different mean free path	82
4-1	Low-energy band structure of a biased bilayer graphene with induced	
	SOI	87
4-2	Four lowest energy bands and layer polarization of corresponding eigen-	
	states of bilayer graphene with layer-specific SOI	94
4-3	Phase diagram of the BLG-on-TMD system	96
5-1	Edge state configurations for the compensated electron-hole ortho-,	
	para-, and ortho/para-phases $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	106
5-2	Single-particle zeroth LL spectrum of bilayer graphene with Ising and	
	Rashba SOI	110
5-3	Phase diagrams showing how the regions of inverted orbital ordering	
	and normal orbital ordering changes with Ising SOI $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	113
5-4	Phase diagram showing the ortho-, para-, and ortho/para- compen-	
	sated electron-hole phases	116
5-5	Illustration of the extreme smallness of the level shifts induced by the	
	Rashba SOI in the zeroth LL	119

Chapter 1

Introduction

Heterostructures, or heterojunctions, is a concept in materials science that has revolutionized the fundamental and applied physics in the 20-th century. Heterostructures are formed by combining two (or more) distinct materials in close proximity, so that the chemical composition changes abruptly across the materials' interface. The interface, where the properties of both materials are present, can give rise to "synergetic" behaviors which are more rich and interesting than those of the constituting materials. The interplay between different material properties can in turn give rise to a wide variety of new phenomena, many of which are hard to realize in naturally-found or even artificially-made bulk materials. Furthermore, it was found that heterostructures often provide the unique means to achieve new functionalities.

Creating new properties and functionalities has always been fundamental to solid state physics. Consequently, heterostructures were central to many of the key developments in the physics of the last century. They have led to new physics and revolutionary technology such as two-dimensional electron gases in metal-oxide semiconductor structures, field-effect transistors, quantum Hall effect, topological electronic states, and so on. However, making perfect heterostructures has been a challenging task. High concentrations of impurities and defects, as well as deficiencies in the fabrication and purification technologies, have often hindered the realization of the desired effects as well as the observation of novel phenomena. However, gaining control over the properties of heterostructures, while being really hard, had enormous benefits. The despair due to the difficulty of the problem, as well as the fascination by the prospects, is captured in the two famous quotes,

"God made the bulk; surfaces (and interfaces) were invented by the devil"

- Wolfgang Pauli

and

"Often, it may be said that the interface is the device." - Herbert Kroemer

A big boost to the field came from the recent discovery of two-dimensional (2D) atomically-thin materials, such as graphene and its relatives. These materials, bound by interfacial van der Waals forces, can form atomically perfect interfaces, which are essentially defect-free. The van der Waals heterostructures, as they are now known, helped to address some of the issues faced by their three-dimensional counterparts. The ability to align pristine samples of 2D materials with atomic precision has substantially reduced the concentration of defects and impurities. In addition, in these devices, the system of interest itself has the same dimensionality (in this case, 2D) as its interface with other materials. The "bulk" and "surface" mentioned in the above quote by Pauli are one and the same system in this case. Furthermore, since electronic states of atomically-thin monolayers are fully exposed, they can be controlled and probed from the out-of-plane direction.

The focus of this thesis is on controlling the spin degree of freedom in graphene. Graphene is a material with excellent electron properties such as remarkably high carrier mobilities (which exceed 15000 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ at room temperature) and carrier densities that can be electron-like or hole-like and tuned continuously over a range as wide as 10^{13} cm⁻² [1, 2, 3, 4]. However, the intrinsic spin-orbit interaction (SOI) in graphene is too weak and has yet to be observed in experiments [5]. Many interesting phenomena predicted requires the presence of strong SOI. Because this cannot be achieved by graphene alone, we turn to graphene-based heterostructures to design high-mobility carriers with strong SOI. But before diving into these details, let us take a broader view of the development of heterostructures in semiconductor physics that pervade our life today and continue to empower our society.

1.1 Heterostructures in Solid State Physics

1.1.1 "The whole is greater than the sum of its parts." - Aristotle

The key notion of heterostructures can be viewed in comparison with one of the fundamental working principles that mankind has adopted towards problem solving – unity makes strength. Because all of the desired features are never found all together in what is obtainable easily, humans attempt to combine different ingredients possessing different subsets of these features. This principle is very familiar to everybody through cooking, wherein the specific choice, quantity and process of introducing the different ingredients need to be carefully fine-tuned to achieve the desired outcome.

But humans have also learned ways to go beyond blending different properties in a simple mechanical fashion. Take selective breeding in agriculture as an example, where developing new strains and varieties of plants was followed, after the discovery of genetics, by cross-breading, which allowed to create entirely new species of plants (including some very tasty ones, such as grapefruit, plumcot, and so on). Similarly, in designing new materials, the old-fashioned "additive" approach to improving properties of materials turned out to be less effective than cross-breading of very different materials. Namely, novel phenomena often emerge at the transition region or interface of different materials. In such a case, in line with the adage supposedly going back to Aristotle, the whole system can become truly greater than the sum of its parts.

1.1.2 Semiconductor-Based Heterostructures

Turning to the subject of the thesis, I begin by surveying some of the most successful and impactful examples of heterostructures in semiconductor physics developed over the past few decades. These examples serve to illustrate two essential features of heterostructures that make them especially appealing. One is the acquisition of a new effect at the interface of a heterostructure which leads to a new functionality. The particular heterostructure can then be thought of as the building block associated to that specific functionality. Second, each of these building blocks can then be combined to form a more complex heterostructure that seeks to synergize the functionalities of the building blocks to achieve a new and typically more complex functionality. These two recurring features establishes the background for approaching the 2D heterostructures that I will be focusing on in the rest of this thesis. In particular, it provides the context to discuss the advantages and novel aspects of the 2D heterostructures over their three dimensional (3D) counterparts.

A semiconductor is a material which has a conductivity that is between that of a metal and an insulator. This feature is due to the presence of a relatively small band gap in which its chemical potential lies. Because of the narrow band gap, its chemical potential can be tuned relatively easily into its conduction (n-doped) or valence band (p-doped) either by doping or gating. It is therefore much easier to alter the sign of charge carriers and vary its carrier densities compared to a metal or an insulator. This tunability sets it apart from a metal or insulator, which has electronic properties that are largely determined by their crystal structure.

An immediate consequence is that within the same semiconducting material, two different regions can be oppositely doped so that carriers in the different regions have opposite charges. The result is an interfacial region known as the p-n junction, which is the simplest example of an interface that exhibits novel effects. Separately, p- and n-doped semiconductors can be thought of as materials with oppositely charged free carriers. When placed together, the I-V characteristic across the interface is modified drastically from their individual I-V characteristic (see Fig. 1-1). This modified I-V characteristic endows the p-n junction with the new functionality of currentrectification, whereby electrical current is allowed to pass through the junction only in one direction. Current rectification can not be achieved simply with a p-doped or n-doped semiconductor but is born out of the interface between the two. As we shall see later, there exists a graphene-based heterostructure analogous to and richer than the p-n junction. In that case, the I-V characteristic is not merely modified, but can be done in a controlled fashion.



Figure 1-1: Rectifying I-V characteristics of a p-n junction [6].

Combining two p-n junctions results in a p-n junction transistor [7] or what is now known as a bipolar junction transistor (BJT). In an n-p-n BJT for instance (see Fig. 1-2), a p-doped region is sandwiched between two n-droped regions. A contact is formed at the p-region (base), as well as each of the n-regions (collector and emitter). Under the correct bias configuration, it acts as a current amplifier. This allows BJTs to be used as amplifiers or switches, which has applications in many modern electronic devices today such as computers, telephones and radio transmitters. We thus find a new functionality in a heterostructure formed by two simpler ones. Both of these heterostructures can be separately treated as building blocks for even more complex semiconducting electronic devices.

One is not restricted to considering interfaces between differently doped regions of the same semiconducting material. A natural progression is to consider the interface between dissimilar crystalline semiconductors with unequal band gaps. This is known as a heterojunction. Heterojunctions allow for engineering devices with spatially distinct band gaps, which enable applications such as semiconducting lasers, solar cells and transistors. Going one step further, a semiconductor can be proximitized with a metal to form a metal-semiconductor junction. The junction can either be rectifying (Schottky barrier) or non-rectifying (ohmic contact).

Going up the complexity ladder, I now discuss the metal-oxide semiconductor (MOS) capacitor which is a heterostructure comprising all three types of materials



Figure 1-2: Structure of bipolar junction transistor and the corresponding energy level scheme in thermal equilibrium (a,b), and when biased as an amplifier (c,d) [7].

discussed thus far. This heterostructure allows for the gate-control of the *depletion layer*, the region at the oxide-semiconductor interface that is essentially devoid of carriers. By changing the potential difference between the metal and semiconductor layers, the depletion layer changes into an *inversion layer*, which hosts carriers (e.g. electrons) with the opposite charge to those from the bulk semiconductor (e.g. pdoped semiconductor). The MOS capacitor therefore achieves the new important functionality of a gate-tunable carrier density.

Sandwiching the MOS capacitor between two p-n junctions gives rise to the metaloxide-semiconductor field-effect transistor (MOSFET). In this heterostructure, both the current-rectifying feature of the p-n junctions and the gate-tunable carrier density



Figure 1-3: Schematic of metal-oxide semiconductor capacitor biased into (a) surface depletion and (b) inversion. Metal is labeled as 'Gate', Oxide as 'SiO₂' and p-type semiconductor 'P-Si'. When gate voltage $V_{\rm g}$ is greater than the flatband voltage $V_{\rm fb}$, a depletion layer forms at the oxide-semiconductor interface where carriers are absent. Further increasing $V_{\rm g}$ past the threshold voltage $V_{\rm t} > V_{\rm fb}$ causes electrons to accumulate at this interface [6]

feature of the MOS capacitor are combined to achieve the so called field-effect. The resulting field-effect transistor is a unipolar transistor which uses only one kind of charge carrier, in contrast to the BJT discussed earlier. For instance, an nMOSFET is constructed from a MOS capacitor with a p-doped semiconductor layer and sandwiched between two n-doped semiconductors (see Fig. 1-4). In the 'off' state, this is essentially an n-p-n junction and no current is allowed to pass through it when a potential difference is applied between the two adjacent p-doped regions. By changing the (transverse) potential difference across the MOS capacitor, an inversion layer with excess electrons forms. This inversion layer then acts as an n-channel that connects the two n-doped regions and current transmission is turned 'on'. As we shall see later, there exists a different graphene-based heterostructure analogous to the MOSFET. In that case, the carrier density as well as the bandstructure itself can be tuned by applying a transverse electric field.



Figure 1-4: Schematic of n-type metal-oxide semiconductor field effect transistor (nMOSFET), which is formed by a MOS capacitor with p-doped semiconductor layer sandwiched between two n-doped semiconducting regions. Shown here in (a) is the 'on' state when $V_{\rm g} > V_{\rm t}$ as in the case of Fig. 1-3(b). This can be thought of as forming an n-channel which connects the two n-doped regions and thus allowing current to flow [6].

With this new functionality, MOSFETs in turn become new building blocks which can be combined cleverly with other heterostructures in digital integrated circuits. Different integrated circuits are designed to perform different tasks such as basic logic operations and data storage found in microprocessors that proliferate our society today. Of course, there are many more examples of semiconductor-based heterostructures and our discussion thus far does not begin to even scratch its surface. The above serves to illustrate the ongoing process of building more complex heterostructures with new functionalities out of simpler ones. Having surveyed the capabilities of 3D heterostructures, we are now in a position to understand the novel aspects that come with forming heterostructures out of atomically-thin 2D materials.

1.2 Graphene-Based Heterostructures

In the previous section, the examples we looked at were 3D heterostructures. The discovery of graphene brought about the 2D revolution and with it, a new generation of 2D heterostructures. In this case, because the 2D materials are few-atoms thick,

the interface and bulk are one and the same. Furthermore, these 2D materials are atomically-flat so that they can be stacked on top of one another with relative ease. The resulting heterostructures formed in this way have interfaces that are essentially free of the impurities or crystallographic defects which were issues often found in 3D heterostructures.

In this section, I discuss several examples of graphene-based heterostructures, in each case highlighting functionalities analogous to some of those achieved by semiconductor-based heterostructures. We will also explore several novel phenomena recently discovered in graphene-based heterostructures that rely specifically on the aforementioned properties of these 2D heterostructures and therefore cannot be realized by semiconductor-based heterostructures. Let us begin with a brief history of how these atomically-thin materials became a reality.

Van der Waals (vdW) materials are a special class of layered crystalline materials. In these materials, adjacent layers are held together by interlayer vdW bonds which are much weaker (typically by an order of magnitude) than the intralayer bonds that hold the atoms within each layer. Examples of vdW materials such as graphite and TMDs have been studied over the past few decades with the primary goal of understanding the properties of their bulk (few-layer) form, which were naturally available or could be synthesized via techniques such as chemical vapor deposition. Theoretical attempts to describe such systems typically begin with constructing models for their monolayer crystals¹ before proceeding to model multilayered crystals by introducing interlayer coupling [8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13]. Therefore while interesting properties of such monolayer crystals have been discovered, they remained disconnected from reality as no one had worked out how to consistently extract them from their bulk crystals and whatever small quantities that existed were produced unintentionally.

It was not until in 2004 when graphene, the monolayer crystal of graphite, was successfully isolated by Andre Geim and Konstantin Novoselov at the University of Manchester [1]. By then, the theoretical understanding of the electronic properties of

¹Note that monolayer is not synonymous with one-atom thick. Monolayer TMDs such as WSe₂ for instance are typically three atomic layers thick.

graphene has already been well established, so that the first observation of the integer quantum Hall effect in graphene that soon followed [3, 4, 14] confirmed the presence of the theoretically predicted massless Dirac fermions and their corresponding Berry's phase. The success of the mechanical exfoliation technique used to isolate graphene prompted its application to other vdW materials. Subsequent successful isolation has led to the discovery of 2D materials such as hBN, MoS₂, WS₂, WSe₂ and MoSe₂.



Figure 1-5: Depiction of 2D crystals to be analogous to Lego blocks (right panel) [15].

In fact, Geim and Novoselov's pioneering work not only produced graphene but also the first graphene-based heterostructure. The isolated graphene was transferred onto thin silicon dioxide on a silicon wafer so as to electrically isolate the graphene. It follows then to consider materials other than silicon dioxide to serve as substrates for graphene, such as the other successfully isolated 2D materials. The first novel substrate was hBN [16], which demonstrated its ability to preserve high quality electronic properties of graphene. This was followed by few-layer hBN, MoS_2 and WS_2 which served as tunnel barriers for two graphene electrodes in vertically-stacked devices that functioned as field-effect transistors [17, 18], resonant tunnelling diodes [19, 20], and photodetectors [21, 22], paving the way for more designer vdW heterostructures to come [15].

One particular graphene-based heterostructure analogous to the p-n junction is formed by two graphene electrodes on either side of an atomically thin hBN tunnel barrier [19]. Like the p-n junction, this tunnel barrier has non-linear I-V characteristics. A novel feature of this device is the ability to tune the I-V characteristics into forward or reverse bias. This is achieved by gating the bottom graphene electrode and adjusting its chemical potential relative to the top graphene electrode (see Fig. 1-6).



Figure 1-6: Graphene-BN resonant tunnelling transistor. (a) Schematic diagram of the heterostructure. (b) Measured I-V (V_b) characteristics of a particular device in which the hBN barrier is four atomic layers thick. The inset shows the relative positions of the chemical potentials of the two graphene layers at the peak of the I-V curve in forward bias with $V_g = 15$ V. (c) Theoretical simulation [19].

A graphene-based heterostructure that is analogous to the MOSFET is the dualgated bilayer graphene [23]. Through gating, the chemical potential of the system, and therefore its carrier density, can be tuned. This field-effect in graphene is much more sensitive than that in the MOS setup and can be understood from basic electrostatics. The electric field strength between the gates scales as the ratio of the potential difference of the gates to the distance between them. It follows that for atomically-thin heterostructures such as graphene, the distance between gates is now exponentially reduced compared to 3D materials. This leads to enhanced electric field strengths across these 2D heterostructures, which by Gauss' law, results in much higher carrier densities.

Additionally, an interlayer bias can be introduced between the top and bottom

layers of the dual-gated bilayer graphene. This induces a non-zero bandgap that scales with the applied bias and in this sense, the bandstructure itself can be tuned. I will discuss the physics behind this phenomenon in the next chapter. Here I emphasize that this novel functionality in a gate-tunable bandstructure cannot be realized in previous 3D semiconductor-based heterostructures.



Figure 1-7: (a) Optical microscopy image of the bilayer device (top view). (b) Illustration of a cross-sectional side view of the gated device. (c) Sketch showing how gating of the bilayer induces top (D_t) and bottom (D_b) electrical displacement fields. (d) Left: the electronic structure of a pristine bilayer has zero bandgap. Right: upon gating, the displacement fields induces a non-zero bandgap Δ and a shift of the Fermi energy E_F . (e) Graphene electrical resistance as a function of top gate voltage V_t at different fixed bottom gate voltages V_b . The resistance peak in each curve corresponds to the charge neutrality point. (f) The linear relation between top and bottom gate voltages that results in bilayer charge neutrality point. [23].

The atomic precision of stacking these 2D materials, together with the fact that the above materials all share the same triangular Bravais lattice (albeit with different lattice constants) enabled yet another knob – crystallographic alignment. When the twist angle between the crystal axes of two different 2D crystals with similar lat-

tice constants is sufficiently small, a Moire pattern develops. The electronic states experience a superlattice potential with a lattice constant at least two orders of magnitude larger. When the alignment results in a commensurate superlattice structure, the Brillouin zone of the system shrinks to a much smaller region in momentum space. The electronic bands fold and separate to form minibands [24, 25] in this mini Brillouin zone. The low-energy physics of these Moire systems, even for the incommensurate cases, are adequately captured by the $k \cdot p$ model. Novel phenomena such as topological bloch bands in graphene-on-hBN superlattices [26], as well as Diracvelocity renormalization of Moire bands in twisted bilayer graphene [27] have been predicted from their corresponding $k \cdot p$ models. The associated flat Moire bands of the magic angle (~ 1.05°) twisted bilayer graphene in particular give rise to even more exotic physics. The recent observation of Mott insulating behavior and unconventional superconductivity in these twisted bilayer graphene [28, 29] came as a surprise. Nobody had thought that such exotic phenomena could exist in graphene systems. This has in turn triggered an overwhelming response from the theoretical community [30, 31, 32, 33] in attempts to explain its underlying physics.



Figure 1-8: (Left panel) Moire pattern formed for example in graphene-on-hBN or bilayer graphene with small twist angle θ (shown) between the two layers forming a superlattice. (Right panel) Folding of the the Brillouin zone into a mini-Brillouin zone when the superlattice is commensurate [28].

With the discovery of various novel phenomena, graphene-based heterostructures is poised to remain as one of the hottest research areas for many years to come. In this thesis, I will focus on a particular designer feature that was recently experimentally observed in graphene-on- WS_2/WSe_2 devices – interfacially-induced SOI. Although these semiconducting TMDs have been used as substrates to preserve high electronic quality of graphene, they have not until recently, been investigated for their ability to induce a strong SOI in the graphene Dirac band. To see why this is desirable, I discuss the importance of SOI in the next section and give a brief overview of how spin control has been achieved.

1.3 Spin Manipulation

In the previous sections, we looked at how charge properties can be manipulated through the heterostructures. In this section, we will see how heterostructures enable the manipulation of spin-dependent properties that result in new functionalities. The importance of SOI is emphasized in this context, which is responsible for the underlying spin-dependent transport properties. At the same time, the ability to generate strong and localized magnetic fields is necessary for achieving some of these spinbased functionalities. It also plays several different roles in spin-based phenomena because it interacts with carriers through both their charge and spin degrees of freedom. In the second half of this section, I discuss the developments in magnetic field technology in relation to the new phenomena and capabilities it has led to. Overall, the key concepts introduced in this section set up the foundation for discussing the novel spin-based phenomena achieved in graphene-based heterostructures in the later chapters.

Like charge, spin is an intrinsic degree of freedom that electrons (also holes) possess. The beginnings of solid state physics focused almost entirely on charge-based phenomena. Spin-based phenomena gradually gained interest with the incorporation of magnetic materials into devices as well as the theoretical study and observation of the spin-Hall effect. The former enabled the generation of spin-polarized currents through the use of ferromagnetic contacts and led to the understanding of spindependent conductivities. The latter explored various mechanisms that can affect or be used to manipulate the spin-polarization of currents. Together, these gave birth to the modern subfield of solid-state physics known as *spintronics*.



Figure 1-9: The Spin Hall Effect. An electrical current induces spin accumulation at the lateral boundaries of the sample. In a cylindrical wire the spins wind around the surface [34].

Predicted in 1971 by Dyakonov and Perel, spin Hall effect is a phenomenon in which oppositely oriented spins are accumulated on opposite boundaries on the lateral surface of a current-carrying sample. Originally, the mechanisms proposed are *extrinsic*. These mechanisms showed how carriers with opposite spins scatter in opposite directions when colliding with impurities in the material [35, 36]. A fundamentally different mechanism *intrinsic* to the material was later proposed. In this case, the carriers' trajectories are curved as a result of SOI arising from the broken crystallographic symmetries of the material [37, 38].

The next big step was the arrival of major discoveries in magnetic heterostructures in 1980s. Unlike semiconductor-based heterostructures, the field of magnetic heterostructures began from metallic multilayer studies primarily for superlattice effects [39]. In such multilayered heterostructures, physical properties due of different length scales coexist. Properties due to combining different materials are typically classified in increasing order of sample complexity: interface/proximity, magnetic coupling across non-magnetic materials, and superlattice [40]. Despite so, it is typically easier to observe these shorter length scale effects in superlattice structures. This is either due to an enhancement of the effect from the increased number of layers or because most interfaces are well protected from surface contamination.

One of the most important key discoveries first observed in a superlattice structure

was the *giant magnetoresistance* (GMR). GMR refers to the large change in electrical resistance across two ferromagnetic layers separated by a non-magnetic conductive layer depending on whether the magnetization of the ferromagnetic layers are parallel or anti-parallel 1-10. This trilayer effect is based on the spin-dependent scattering experienced by electrons in ferromagnetic metals such as Fe, Ni, Co and their alloys. Spin-dependent scattering gives rise to spin-dependent conductivities through the interplay between the electronic band dispersion and exchange interactions. Albert Fert [41] and Peter Grünberg [42] separately proposed a heterostructure design that would exploit this spin-dependent conductivity to realize the GMR phenomenon. From its functionality, this heterostructure can be thought of as the spintronics version of the p-n junction, from which various forms of spin field effect transistors [43, 44, 45, 46] and other spin-valve based devices [47, 48, 49] have been proposed. As we shall see in chapter 5, a different spin-based tunable conductivity can be achieved in graphene-based heterostructures.



Figure 1-10: Giant magnetoresistance and the spin-valve effect. Schematic representation of the spin-valve effect in a trilayer film of two identical ferromagnetic layers F1 and F2 sandwiching a non-magnetic conductive layer M. When the two magnetic layers are magnetized parallel (left panel), the spin-up electrons (spin antiparallel to the magnetization) can travel through the sandwich nearly unscattered, providing a conductivity shortcut and a low resistance. In contrast, in the antiparallel case (right panel) both spin-up and spin-down electrons undergo collisions in either F1 or F2, giving rise to a higher overall resistance. [50].

At the same time, the rapid progress in other fields such as cyclotron-based physics, electron paramagnetic resonance and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy provided the impetus to generate stronger and more homogeneous magnetic fields. Often achieved via large currents in superconducting coils, strong magnetic fields have thus been added as an additional knob in solid state physics. This has enabled the study of quantum Hall physics which led to the discovery of the celebrated fractional quantum Hall effect [51], as well as the detection and characterization of SOI in 2D systems. Magnetic field strengths in the Tesla scale such as those used in NMR have enabled magnetoconductivity and quantum oscillation experiments in 2D systems. In particular, magnetoresistance measurements at the Tesla scale allow for better resolution of beating patterns that are present in the oscillating data. This is essential for precise characterization of the underlying SOI strength when the subbands are weakly spin-split [52, 53]. At larger field strengths ($\gtrsim 10$ T), Zeeman splitting can reach the meV scale. This leads to several new developments. One is the lifting of the otherwise spin-degenerate Landau levels [54, 55]. Strong *B* fields can also be used to probe electron correlation and interaction effects in such systems [56, 57, 58, 59, 60, 61, 62, 63, 64].

Integrating some of these spin-related phenomena into next generation devices necessarily demands their implementation in a form factor that is competitive to devices already available. Fortunately, half of the work has been undergoing constant development – the generation and control of nanoscale magnetic fields – which is of interest for a wide range of applications [65]. For example, magnetic field strengths on the order of 1 T, length scales of less than 100 nm and switched at the GHz bandwidth are essential for coherent control of spins at the nanoscale dimensions. This has applications in quantum spintronics [66, 67] nanoscale resolution sensing [68, 69, 70]. Such fields can be generated by modern hard disk drive write heads which can be traced back to the magnetic recording technology invented in 1898 by Valdemar Poulsen. Over the past decades, these write heads have acquired smaller form factors while achieving stronger magnetic fields with faster operational frequencies. As we shall see in Chapter 4, this fast switching field will enable the electric-dipole spin resonance effect in a bilayer graphene-on-TMD heterostructure.

Subsequent studies on the SOI in 2D systems eventually led to more interesting

discoveries. Notable examples include topological insulators [71, 72, 73, 74] as well as other valley-spin related phenomena in TMDs [75] such as valley-selective optoelectronics [76, 77, 78, 79]. The theoretical and experimental developments thus far puts us in a great position to investigate the strength and form of SOI that can be introduced into graphene via heterostructures. As I will discuss in subsequent chapters, such systems provide new ways to control not only spin, but also charge and valley degrees of freedom. Together with the dynamic control of localized strong magnetic fields, some of the ideas presented in this thesis may find their way into applications in quantum spintronics or nanoscale sensing devices and may be part of key components in solid state quantum computers.

1.4 Thesis Outline

In this thesis, I discuss how SOI can be introduced in graphene via proximity effect. Doing so on a bilayer graphene results in a layer-specific SOI. This can be exploited in conjunction with gate-tuneability in bilayer graphene to access novel phenomena. As we will see, the interplay between both elements is key in realizing these phenomena in heterostructures formed from bilayer graphene and TMDs.

I first introduce the unique electronic properties of graphene and bilayer graphene with an emphasis on the case of gated bilayer graphene in Chapter 2. I also discuss the different forms of SOI in graphene and bilayer graphene respectively. Unfortunately, the type of SOI allowed by their respective crystal symmetries are very weak and has not yet been measured directly in experiments. This provides the impetus to engineer SOI into graphene via heterostructures.

In Chapter 3, I present an experimental collaboration which showed that the lowenergy carriers of graphene multilayers experience a substantially strong SOI which is imprinted in the magnetoconductivity measurements. Furthermore, the observed Shubnikov-de Haas oscillations show a beating pattern. This is a direct evidence that the strong SOI does not merely affect the transport properties of the low-energy carriers, but it in fact modifies the bandstructure that describes these carriers. In Chapter 4, I discuss in greater detail the layer-specific SOI in the context of the strongly layer-polarized states in gated bilayer graphene. In particular, I show how a gate-tunable SOI is achieved in the bilayer graphene-on-TMD heterostructure. I explain how this new functionality leads to achieving electric-dipole spin resonance with the application of an in-plane magnetic field. In addition, I show that the TMDbilayer graphene-TMD heterostructure can be gate-tuned into a new new topological phase. This phase is characterized by its distinct intrinsic valley-Hall conductivity from the valley-Hall insulator phase of gated bilayer graphene.

In Chapter 5, I discuss the same bilayer-on-TMD heterostructure but now in its quantum Hall regime under a sufficiently strong transverse magnetic field. I explore how the Landau level physics in bilayer graphene is modified as a result of the interplay between the layer-specific SOI and interlayer potential. Depending on the strength of the magnetic field, spin- and orbital- ordering inversions can occur in the zeroth Landau level. I predict the existence of two new phases when moderately strong magnetic fields and interlayer bias are applied. The more interesting phase hosts a gate-tunable edge conductivity, in which switching the sign of the interlayer bias switches on or off its edge conductivity.

Finally, in Chapter 6, the main results of this thesis are summarized and potential extensions of the various ideas are discussed.

Chapter 2

Bilayer Graphene Theory

This chapter serves as an introduction to the basic theoretical description that is used to model the graphene monolayer and bilayer electronic structure. Starting from the tight-binding description, the low-energy effective Hamiltonian for each of them is derived, which will be the starting point for many of the subsequent chapters. Following which, I provide a review on the intrinsic spin-orbit interaction in graphene and explain why it is often neglected despite being allowed by symmetry. Finally, I discuss the capacitance effects in bilayer graphene and how it modifies the description provided by the single-particle effective Hamiltonian.

2.1 Monolayer and Bilayer Graphene Lattice

Graphene is a single layer of carbon atoms arranged in a honeycomb lattice, as is shown in Fig. 2-1. More precisely, the structure is understood as a triangular lattice with a basis of two atoms per unit cell that are spatially separated in the 2D plane. They are denoted as sublattice sites A and B. The primitive lattice vectors of the triangle lattice, $\mathbf{a_1}$ and $\mathbf{a_2}$, may be defined as

$$\boldsymbol{a_1} = \left(\frac{a}{2}, \frac{\sqrt{3}a}{2}\right), \quad \boldsymbol{a_2} = \left(\frac{a}{2}, \frac{-\sqrt{3}a}{2}\right),$$
 (2.1)

where $a = |\mathbf{a_1}| = |\mathbf{a_2}| = 2.46\text{\AA}$ is the lattice constant. This is necessarily distinct from the distance between nearest neighbor carbon atoms, which is the distance between adjacent A and B sublattice sites, $a_{CC} = a/\sqrt{3} = 1.42\text{\AA}$. The corresponding primitive reciprocal lattice vectors $\mathbf{b_1}$ and $\mathbf{b_2}$ are given by

$$\boldsymbol{a_1} = \left(\frac{a}{2}, \frac{\sqrt{3}a}{2}\right), \quad \boldsymbol{a_2} = \left(\frac{a}{2}, \frac{-\sqrt{3}a}{2}\right),$$
 (2.2)

so that $\boldsymbol{a_i} \cdot \boldsymbol{b_j} = 2\pi \delta_{ij}$.



Figure 2-1: (a) Crystal structure of monolayer graphene with carbon atoms on A (B) sublattice shown as white (black) circles. The shaded rhombus is the conventional unit cell, $\mathbf{a_1}$ and $\mathbf{a_2}$ are primitive lattice vectors. (b) Reciprocal lattice of monolayer and bilayer graphene with lattice points indicated as crosses, $\mathbf{b_1}$ and $\mathbf{b_2}$ are primitive reciprocal lattice vectors. The shaded hexagon is the first Brillouin zone with Γ indicating the centre, and K_+ and K_- showing two non-equivalent corners [80].

There are many ways in which two graphene layers can be stacked. We will be mostly concerned with Bernal-stacked bilayer graphene. This refers specifically to the case when the B sublattice (B1) on one layer is exactly aligned to the A sublattice (A2) on the other such that the other two sublattices (A1 and B2) are respectively aligned to the center of the hexagonal unit cell of the other layer. These sublattice alignments are clearly seen from the top view, shown in Fig. 2-2. A continuous range of stacking configurations are achieved by introducing a shift or twist angle (or both) between the two layers until the two layers once again return to their Bernalstacked configuration. In this thesis, 'bilayer graphene' by default therefore assumes
the reference Bernal-stacked configuration, i.e. where the twisted angle and relative shift between the two layers are both zero. Bilayer graphene therefore has the same primitive lattice vectors, reciprocal lattice vectors and Brillouin zone as monolayer graphene. It however has instead four atoms per unit cell, labeled A1 and B1 on the lower layer and A2, B2 on the upper layer.



Figure 2-2: (a) Top and (b) side view of the crystal structure of Bernal-stacked bilayer graphene. Atoms A1 and B1 on the lower layer (layer 1) are shown as white and black circles, A2, B2 on the upper layer (layer 2) are black and grey, respectively. The shaded rhombus in (a) indicates the conventional unit cell. Various hopping parameters $\gamma_{i=0,1,3,4}$ are shown in (b) [80].

2.2 Monolayer Graphene Low-Energy Effective Hamiltonian

The nearest-neighbor tight-binding Hamiltonian of graphene takes the form

$$\widehat{H}_{\text{MLG}} = -\gamma_0 \sum_{\langle i,j \rangle, s} \left(a_{i,s}^{\dagger} b_{j,s} + \text{H.c.} \right)$$
(2.3)

where $\gamma_0 = 2.61$ eV denotes the nearest-neighbor hopping energy and $a_{i,s}\left(a_{i,s}^{\dagger}\right)$ annihilates (creates) an electron with spin $s(s=\uparrow,\downarrow)$ on sublattice A at position \mathbf{R}_i . A similar notation is used for sublattice B with $a \to b$. In Fourier space, the Hamilto-

nian 2.3 is given by,

$$\widehat{H}_{\text{MLG}} = \sum_{\mathbf{k},s} \psi_{\mathbf{k},s}^{\dagger} H_{\text{MLG}}(\mathbf{k}) \psi_{\mathbf{k},s}, \quad H_{\text{MLG}}(\mathbf{k}) = -\gamma_0 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & f(\mathbf{k}) \\ f^*(\mathbf{k}) & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (2.4)$$
$$f(\mathbf{k}) = e^{ik_y a/\sqrt{3}} + 2e^{-ik_y a/2\sqrt{3}} \cos\left(k_x a/2\right), \quad (2.5)$$

where $\psi_{\mathbf{k},s}^{\dagger} = \begin{pmatrix} a_{\mathbf{k},s}^{\dagger} & b_{\mathbf{k},s}^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}$ and $\mathbf{k} = (k_x, k_y)$ is the wavevector.

The energy bands given by this Hamiltonian, first derived by Wallace [8], are described by

$$E_{\pm}(\mathbf{k}) = \pm \gamma_0 |f(\mathbf{k})|. \tag{2.6}$$

The +(-) sign here labels the positive (negative) energy, electron (hole)-like, conduction (valence) band. The spectrum is symmetric about zero energy and features a linear-dispersion near zero energy at the Dirac points $\mathbf{K}_{\pm} = (\pm \frac{4\pi}{3a}, 0)$ of the Brillouin zone,

$$E_{\pm}(\mathbf{K}_{\xi} + \mathbf{k}) = \pm v_0 \hbar |\mathbf{k}|. \tag{2.7}$$

Here I introduce the valley index $\xi = \pm$ which labels the Dirac point of interest. For their resemblance in the energy dispersion to those of massless relativistic particles, the low-energy carriers in graphene are described as massless Dirac quasiparticles but with a velocity $v_0 = \frac{\sqrt{3}a}{2\hbar}\gamma_0 \simeq 10^6 \text{ ms}^{-1}$, which is about 300 times less than the speed of light. These massless Dirac quasiparticles are therefore four-fold degenerate, two from valley and two from spin.

Alternatively, the low-energy spectrum of graphene 2.7 can be solved by first expanding H_{MLG} from Eq. 2.4 about the \mathbf{K}_{ξ} points to obtain the low-energy effective Hamiltonian of graphene,

$$H_{\text{MLG}}(\mathbf{k}) = v_0 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \pi^{\dagger} \\ \pi & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.8)$$
$$\pi = \hbar(\xi k_x + ik_y), \quad \pi^{\dagger} = \hbar(\xi k_x - ik_y).$$

Here, **k** is understood to be the wavevector taken with respect to the \mathbf{K}_{ξ} points. It is convenient to introduce this wavevector relabeling, since the low-energy carriers of the various graphene-based systems of interest are in the vicinity of these Dirac points.

2.3 Bilayer Graphene Effective Hamiltonian

As we saw in Fig. 2-2, bilayer graphene comprises two layers of graphene with additional interlayer hopping parameters $\gamma_{i=1,3,4}$. The largest of these parameters is $\gamma_1 = 0.361$ eV, which describes the coupling between electronic orbitals on the vertically aligned A2 and B1 sites. For reasons that will become clear shortly, the A2 and B1 are known as 'dimer sites' and the A1 and B2 the 'non-dimer' sites. The parameter $\gamma_4 = 0.138$ eV describes the coupling between dimer and non-dimer orbitals A1 and A2 or B1 and B2, while the parameter $\gamma_3 = 0.283$ eV describes the coupling between the two non-dimer sites A1 and B2. Finally, the parameter $\Delta' = 0.015$ eV describes the energy difference between dimer and non-dimer sites. The values of these parameters are obtained from recent *ab initio* calculations [81], although slightly different values have been obtained previously [80].

With these parameters, we can construct a tight-binding Hamiltonian for bilayer graphene,

$$\widehat{H}_{BLG}^{0} = -\gamma_{0} \sum_{\langle i,j \rangle, \rho, s} \left(a_{\rho,i,s}^{\dagger} b_{\rho,j,s} + \text{H.c.} \right) + \gamma_{1} \sum_{\langle i,j \rangle, s} \left(a_{2,i,s}^{\dagger} b_{1,j,s} + \text{H.c.} \right) \\
+ \gamma_{3} \sum_{\langle i,j \rangle, s} \left(a_{1,i,s}^{\dagger} b_{2,j,s} + \text{H.c.} \right) + \gamma_{4} \sum_{\langle i,j \rangle, s} \left(a_{1,i,s}^{\dagger} a_{2,j,s} + b_{1,i,s}^{\dagger} b_{2,j,s} + \text{H.c.} \right) \\
+ \Delta' \sum_{j,s} \left(a_{2,j,s}^{\dagger} a_{2,j,s} + b_{1,j,s}^{\dagger} b_{1,j,s} \right),$$
(2.9)

where I introduced a new layer index ρ so that for instance, $a_{\rho,i,s}\left(a_{\rho,i,s}^{\dagger}\right)$ annihilates (creates) an electron with spin $s(s=\uparrow,\downarrow)$, on layer $\rho(\rho=1,2)$ on sublattice A at position \mathbf{R}_{i} .

In Fourier space, the Hamiltonian 2.9 is given by,

$$\widehat{H}_{BLG}^{0} = \sum_{\mathbf{k},s} \psi_{\mathbf{k},s}^{\dagger} H_{BLG}^{0}(\mathbf{k}) \psi_{\mathbf{k},s},$$

$$H_{BLG}^{0}(\mathbf{k}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\gamma_{0}f(\mathbf{k}) & \gamma_{4}f(\mathbf{k}) & \gamma_{3}f^{*}(\mathbf{k}) \\ -\gamma_{0}f^{*}(\mathbf{k}) & \Delta' & \gamma_{1} & \gamma_{4}f(\mathbf{k}) \\ \gamma_{4}f^{*}(\mathbf{k}) & \gamma_{1} & \Delta' & -\gamma_{0}f(\mathbf{k}) \\ \gamma_{3}f(\mathbf{k}) & \gamma_{4}f^{*}(\mathbf{k}) & -\gamma_{0}f^{*}(\mathbf{k}) & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$(2.10)$$

where $\psi_{\mathbf{k},s}^{\dagger} = \begin{pmatrix} a_{1,\mathbf{k},s}^{\dagger} & b_{1,\mathbf{k},s}^{\dagger} & a_{2,\mathbf{k},s}^{\dagger} & b_{2,\mathbf{k},s}^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}$ and $f(\mathbf{k})$ is given in Eq. 2.5. Expanding H_{BLG}^{0} from Eq. 2.10 about the \mathbf{K}_{ξ} points, we get

$$H_{\rm BLG}^{0}(\mathbf{k}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & v_{0}\pi^{\dagger} & -v_{4}\pi^{\dagger} & -v_{3}\pi \\ v_{0}\pi & \Delta' & \gamma_{1} & -v_{4}\pi^{\dagger} \\ -v_{4}\pi & \gamma_{1} & \Delta' & v_{0}\pi^{\dagger} \\ -v_{3}\pi^{\dagger} & -v_{4}\pi & v_{0}\pi & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.12)

where π and π^{\dagger} is given in Eq. 2.8 and **k** is understood to be the wavevector taken with respect to the \mathbf{K}_{ξ} points. The various velocity parameters are given by $v_{i=1,3,4} = \frac{\sqrt{3}a}{2\hbar}\gamma_{i=1,3,4}$. The bandstructure of $H^0_{\mathrm{BLG}}(\mathbf{k})$ is shown in Fig. 2-3.

Near the Dirac points, the **k**-independent γ_1 term dominates and separates the system into a high- and low-energy subspace. These correspond directly to the dimer and non-dimer orbitals respectively. The low-energy eigenstates are therefore strongly localized in the vertically-aligned, non-dimer orbitals (A1,B2). It is possible to obtain an effective 2×2 Hamiltonian of the low-energy system by projecting H_{BLG} in Eq. 2.12 into the (A1, B2) subspace in a perturbative fashion in the limit where γ_0 and γ_1 are much larger than other energies. There are a few different but equivalent ways to do this [82] and I briefly discuss the application of one of these approaches in the appendix section of chapter 4.

It can be shown that the effective 2×2 Hamiltonian, $H_{\rm BLG}^{2 \times 2}$, is given by [83, 84]

$$\begin{aligned} H_{\rm BLG}^{2\times2} &= h_0 + h_w + h_4 + h_\Delta + h_U, \end{aligned} (2.13) \\ h_0 &= -\frac{1}{2m} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & (\pi^{\dagger})^2 \\ (\pi)^2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad h_w = v_3 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \pi \\ \pi^{\dagger} & 0 \end{pmatrix} - \frac{v_3 a}{4\sqrt{3}\hbar} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & (\pi^{\dagger})^2 \\ (\pi)^2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \end{aligned} \\ h_4 &= \frac{2v_0 v_4}{\gamma_1} \begin{pmatrix} \pi^{\dagger} \pi & 0 \\ 0 & \pi \pi^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}, \quad h_\Delta = \frac{\Delta' v_0^2}{\gamma_1^2} \begin{pmatrix} \pi^{\dagger} \pi & 0 \\ 0 & \pi \pi^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}, \end{aligned} \\ h_u &= -\frac{u}{2} \left[\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} - \frac{2v_0^2}{\gamma_1^2} \begin{pmatrix} \pi^{\dagger} \pi & 0 \\ 0 & \pi \pi^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} \right]. \end{aligned}$$

This effective Hamiltonian captures the bandstructure near the Dirac points (see inset of Fig. 2-3). The first term h_0 resembles the low-energy effective Hamiltonian of graphene (Eq. 2.8) but has instead a quadratic dependence of π and π^{\dagger} . This can be understood as an effective hopping between the non-dimer sites involving a three step process: A1 \rightarrow B1 acquiring a $v_0\pi$ factor, followed by B1 \rightarrow A2 acquiring its 'mass' $\frac{1}{\gamma_1}$ and finally A2 \rightarrow B2, acquiring another $v_0\pi$ factor. This gives rise to an overall mass term $m = \gamma_1/2v_0^2$, so that the low-energy electrons of bilayer graphene are described as massive chiral electrons [83, 85]. This term alone captures the essential physics of the low-energy electrons in bilayer graphene. A simpler model obtained from setting the other intrinsic parameters γ_3 , γ_4 and Δ' to 0 is often capable of explaining qualitative features observed by experiments and demonstrating novel phenomena as we will see in later chapters. It gives rise to a quadratic and isotropic dispersion of the low-energy carriers,

$$E(\mathbf{k}) = \pm \frac{\hbar^2 k^2}{2m},\tag{2.14}$$

which is not only particle-hole symmetric, but also valley and spin degenerate. The other terms break some of these symmetries which I briefly discuss.

Because of the symmetry of the lattice, at larger energies and momenta \mathbf{k} away from the Dirac points, the above isotropic dispersion relation acquires a triangular distortion. This effect occurs in graphene and graphite as well because they share the same Bravais lattice. In bilayer graphene however, an additional triangular distortion occurs due to the first term of h_w linear in π and π^{\dagger} . This occurs at an energy scale |E| < 1 meV [83, 86] much smaller than what is of interest and will therefore be neglected for most of the works in this thesis. The other effect of h_w comes from its second term, which essentially renormalizes the mass m of the low-energy carriers and does not introduce qualitative changes to the physics.

The next two terms in $H_{\text{BLG}}^{2\times2}$, h_4 and h_{Δ} , achieve the same effect of breaking the electron-hole symmetry. When considered together with h_0 , the low-energy dispersion Eq. 2.14 gets modified slightly to $E(\mathbf{k}) = \pm \frac{\hbar^2 k^2}{2m} \left(1 \pm \left(2\frac{v_4}{v_0} + \frac{\Delta'}{\gamma_1}\right)\right)$. I will be mostly neglecting these terms and only include their effects in the chapter 5.

For completeness, I have included the last term h_u here which breaks the inversion symmetry of the crystal and is in this sense, an extrinsic term. The extent of asymmetry introduced by h_u depends on the energy difference u between the two graphene layers. This is typically achieved experimentally by doping [87] or externally gating [88, 89] both layers with different potentials. As this interlayer bias will play a pivotal role in the rest of my thesis, I devote the next section to discuss its consequences and its effects on the low-energy spectrum.

2.4 Gated Bilayer Graphene

In monolayer graphene, applying a uniform gate potential from one side, say through the substrate, results in an overall shift in the electronic spectrum. Doing so dopes the system with electrons or holes depending on the sign of the potential. In bilayer graphene however, the two layers can be gated separately so that the potential on each layer can be written as $u_{i=1,2}$. We can define new parameters $u_0 = \frac{1}{2}(u_1+u_2)$ and $u = u_2 - u_1$, which describes the overall spectrum shift and the interlayer potential respectively. The former influences the carrier density of the system while the latter breaks inversion symmetry and opens up a gap in the low-energy spectrum. As we shall see, this gate-tuneable gap provides direct control over the layer-polarization of low-energy carriers in bilayer graphene. It therefore serves as a knob to tune properties that are strongly layer-polarized.



Figure 2-3: Bilayer graphene bandstructure obtained from $H^0_{\text{BLG}}(\mathbf{k})$ showing the Dirac points K_{\pm} and the Brillouin zone center Γ . The inset shows the low-energy spectrum of interest in the vicinity of the K_+ point (also K_- point). Parameters values are $\gamma_0 = 3.16 \text{ eV}, \gamma_1 = 0.381 \text{ eV}, \gamma_3 = 0.38 \text{ eV}, \gamma_4 = 0.14 \text{ eV}$ and $\Delta' = 0.022 \text{ eV}$. Adapted from Ref. [80].

2.4.1 Low-Energy Spectrum and Eigenstates

The interlayer potential can be modeled by introducing an on-site potential term \hat{H}_u to the tight-binding Hamiltonian H^0_{BLG} in Eq. 2.9 (or in Fourier space Eq. 2.10),

$$\widehat{H}_{\text{BLG}} = \widehat{H}_{\text{BLG}}^0 + \widehat{H}_u \tag{2.15}$$

$$\widehat{H}_{u} = \frac{u}{2} \sum_{j,s} \left(-a_{1,j,s}^{\dagger} a_{1,j,s} - b_{1,j,s}^{\dagger} b_{1,j,s} + a_{2,j,s}^{\dagger} a_{2,j,s} + b_{2,j,s}^{\dagger} b_{1,2,s} \right)$$
(2.16)

$$= \sum_{\mathbf{k},s} \psi_{\mathbf{k},s}^{\dagger} H_{u} \psi_{\mathbf{k},s},$$

$$H_{u} = -\frac{u}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.17)

Projecting the full bilayer graphene Hamiltonian $H_{\rm BLG} = H_{\rm BLG}^0 + H_u$ to the lowenergy subspace yields $H_{\rm BLG}^{2\times 2}$ given in Eq. 2.13. In this subspace, the constant leading term can be added directly by hand. The second term however is a k^2 correction term obtained from perturbative expansion. It analogous to h_{Δ} and therefore introduces electron-hole asymmetry.

To study the leading effects of interlayer potential on the low-energy carriers, let us consider the case where the only non-trivial parameters are γ_0, γ_1 and u. In this case, it can be shown that the spectrum of \widehat{H}_{BLG} is given by [83]

$$E(\mathbf{k}) = \pm \epsilon_{\alpha}(\mathbf{k}), \qquad (2.18)$$

$$\epsilon_{\alpha}^{2}(\mathbf{k}) = \frac{\gamma_{1}^{2}}{2} + \frac{u^{2}}{4} + v_{0}^{2}\hbar^{2}k^{2} + (-1)^{\alpha}\sqrt{\frac{\gamma_{1}^{4}}{4} + v_{0}^{2}\hbar^{2}k^{2}(\gamma_{1}^{2} + U^{2})}.$$

The low-energy bands $\alpha = -1$ has a 'Mexican hat' shape dispersion which gives rise to a band gap u_g at wavevector k_g from either valleys [80],

$$u_g = \frac{|u|\gamma_1}{\sqrt{\gamma_1^2 + u^2}}, \quad k_g = \frac{|u|}{2v_0} \sqrt{\frac{2\gamma_1^2 + u^2}{\gamma_1^2 + u^2}}.$$
(2.19)

In this thesis, we will be mainly concerned with the small u limit for which $u \ll \gamma_1$ so that $k_g \to 0$ and $u_g \to u$. In this limit, the spectrum simplifies to

$$E(\mathbf{k}) \simeq \pm \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{u^2 + \frac{\hbar^4 k^4}{m^2}},$$
 (2.20)

which is the exact spectrum of the effective Hamiltonian obtained from adding only the leading term of h_u to h_0 ,

$$H_{\rm BLG}^{2\times2} = -\left(\begin{array}{cc} \frac{u}{2} & \frac{1}{2m} \left(\pi^{\dagger}\right)^{2} \\ \frac{1}{2m} \left(\pi\right)^{2} & -\frac{u}{2} \end{array}\right).$$
 (2.21)

The corresponding bandstructure is shown in Fig. 2-4(a). The eigenstates of this effective Hamiltonian is given by,

$$\psi(\mathbf{k}) = \sqrt{\frac{E(\mathbf{k}) - u/2}{2E}} \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ -\frac{v_0^2 \hbar^2 k^2}{\gamma_1(E(\mathbf{k}) - u/2)} e^{i2\xi\varphi_k} \end{pmatrix} e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}}, \quad \tan(\varphi_k) = \frac{k_y}{k_x}, \quad (2.22)$$

where I use φ_k to denote the azimuthal coordinate in k-space. The layer-1(2) polarization $g_{1(2)}(\mathbf{k})$ of an eigenstate with wavevector \mathbf{k} is given by

$$g_{1(2)}(\mathbf{k}) = |\psi_{A1(B1)}(\mathbf{k})|^2 = \frac{1}{2} \mp \frac{u}{4E(\mathbf{k})}.$$
 (2.23)

In the vicinity of the Dirac point therefore, the eigenstates are strongly layer polarized when u is finite. For instance, when u > 0, we find

$$\lim_{k \to 0} g_{1(2)}(k) \to \begin{cases} 0(1), & E > 0\\ 1(0), & E < 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.24)

This implies that electrons and holes of gated bilayer graphene are strongly localized on opposite layers. These carriers of opposite charges are therefore asymmetrically sensitive to any layer-specific effects, e.g. due to having different materials adjacent to the opposite layers. I will explain how this special property of bilayer graphene leads to several novel phenomena in the later chapters.



Figure 2-4: Layer polarization of low energy states. (a) Low energy dispersion with non-trivial interlayer bias u > 0, opening up a gap separating the conduction band E_+ in red, and valence band E_- in blue. (b) Layer-1 polarization of the corresponding low-energy bands in (a). Near the valley p = 0, states from the conduction band (red) are strongly polarized in layer 2 while states from the valence band (blue) are strongly polarized in layer 1.

2.4.2 Capacitance Effects

For a finite chemical potential, integrating the layer polarization Eq. 2.23 over the circular Fermi surface then gives the electron densities $n_{1(2)}$ on the respective layers,

$$n_{1(2)} = 4 \int \frac{d^2 \mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^2} g_{1(2)}(\mathbf{k}) = \frac{2}{\pi} \int dk \ k g_{1(2)}(\mathbf{k}).$$
(2.25)

In the above expression, a factor of four has been included to account for spin and valley degeneracies. When there is no asymmetry between the layers, an excess charge $n = n_1 + n_2$ induced necessarily splits equally between the two layers, $n_1 = n_2 = n/2$.

However, when layer asymmetry arises, this charge redistribution is no longer symmetric, $n_1 \neq n_2$. By treating each graphene layer as a conducting plate, we see that bilayer graphene acts like a capacitor, so that the interlayer potential necessarily satisfies a self-consistent equation [90]

$$u(n) = u_0 + \frac{e^2 n_2 c_0}{\epsilon_r \epsilon_0},$$
(2.26)

where ϵ_r is the bilayer graphene dielectric constant and u_0 is the bare interlayer bias, i.e. $u(n = 0) = u_0$. This can be understood as an electron-electron interaction effect, which is essentially the most significant Hartree potential for the bilayer graphene geometry.

The self-consistent treatment of carrier density is particularly important for accurately describing its dependence on the interlayer bias especially in the case when bilayer graphene is gated only from one side. I will discuss this case in greater detail in section 3.6 of the following chapter. When bilayer graphene is dual-gated, taking account of the capacitance effect is crucial for properly extracting the interlayer potential and chemical potential of the system from experimental inputs of top and bottom gate voltages. Furthermore, the capacitance effects of bilayer graphene can be used to probe layer-specific properties that are normally out of reach in transport measurements [91].

2.5 Intrinsic Spin-Orbit Interaction in Graphene

Spin-orbit interaction (SOI) is a relativistic effect which couples the spin and orbital degrees of freedom of electrons. When an electron travels with a velocity orthogonal to an external electric field, it experiences an effective magnetic field in its rest frame. This magnetic field points in the direction orthogonal to both its velocity and the electric field. It couples to the electron's spin, so that the coupling occurs between the electron's spin and orbital motion in the laboratory frame. Consequently, the effect is typically strong in crystals comprised of heavy ions where the average velocity of electrons is high. Carbon is a light atom, so that a crystal formed by carbon atoms alone such as graphene is expected to have weak SOI.

In the tight binding model, SOI manifest as spin-dependent and directionaldependent hopping terms. In the absence of magnetic field, the crystal symmetries and time-reversal symmetry are respected. This limits the types of spin-dependent hoppings allowed. Because these SOI terms respect these symmetries, they are said to be *intrinsic*.

In graphene, the operators corresponding to time reversal (\mathcal{T}) and inversion

 $(\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{MLG}})$ are given by

$$\mathcal{T} = i\tau_x s_y \mathcal{K}, \qquad (2.27)$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{\text{MLG}} = \tau_x \sigma_x, \qquad (2.28)$$

where \mathcal{K} refers to complex conjugatiton, $\sigma_{x,y,z}$ and $s_{x,y,z}$ are the Pauli matrices corresponding to the sublattice and spin degrees of freedom respectively. The intrinsic SOI at the K_{\pm} points take the form [72, 92, 93]

$$H_{\rm MLG}^{iSO} = \Delta_I \tau_z \sigma_z s_z, \qquad (2.29)$$

where Δ_I is the intrinsic SOI interaction strength. This interaction acts as an effective mass that has opposite signs for opposite sublattices (σ_z) , opposite spins (s_z) and at opposite valleys K_{\pm} (τ_z) . It is this form of SOI that opens a topological gap at the Dirac points so that the system at charge neutrality is quantum spin-Hall insulator. Quantum spin-Hall insulators feature counter-propagating edge modes with opposite spin-polarizations that are topologically protected from backscattering. This gives rise to quantized charge and spin conductances [72].

More generally, when s_z does not commute with the Hamiltonian such as in the presence of a Rashba-type SOI,

$$H_R = \lambda_R (\tau_z \sigma_x s_y - \sigma_y s_x) \tag{2.30}$$

the system is a topological insulator for sufficiently large values of $\Delta_I > \lambda_R/2\sqrt{3}$ [94]. While the edge modes of topological insulators no longer have spin-polarizations along the z-direction, they nonetheless enjoy the same topological protection from backscattering. Topological insulators therefore also feature quantized charge conductance.

Various approaches have been used to estimate the magnitude of Δ_I ranging from 1 μ eV to 100 μ eV [95, 96, 97]. This is much smaller than the characteristic SOI of 2p electrons in carbon (~ 6 meV). The strength of the SOI diminishes when projected onto the atomic π bands of a flat graphene layer [92, 93] and is shown to be weaker



Figure 2-5: Quantum spin Hall effect. (a) Energy bands for a ribbon with "zig-zag" edges in the quantum spin Hall phase [94]. (b) Schematic diagrams showing (upper panel) a quantized charge current of $2\frac{e^2}{h}V$ flowing to the right in a two terminal measurement geometry and (lower panel) quantized spin current of $\frac{e}{4\pi}V$ flowing to the right. Diagrams to the right indicate the population of the edge states [72].

than curved graphene sheets or nanotubes [92, 98, 99]. Because of its small value, it has not yet been possible to directly measure Δ_I from experiments, although an upper bound value of ~ 100 μ eV has been set [5].

In bilayer graphene, the inversion operator (\mathcal{I}_{BLG}) is given by

$$\mathcal{I}_{\text{BLG}} = \tau_x \rho_x \sigma_x, \tag{2.31}$$

where $\rho_{x,y,z}$ are the Pauli matrices corresponding to the layer degree of freedom. Consequently, the intrinsic SOI at the K_{\pm} points takes the form

$$H_{\rm BLG}^{iSO} = \lambda_1 \tau_z \sigma_z s_z + \lambda_2 \tau_z \rho_z s_z + \lambda_3 \rho_z (\sigma_y s_x - \tau_z \sigma_x s_y) + \lambda_4 \sigma_z (\rho_y s_x + \tau_z \rho_x s_y). \quad (2.32)$$

In particular, the first term is the intrinsic SOI of graphene applied to both layers; the second and third terms have opposite signs in the two layers and correspond to an Ising-like valley-dependent SOI and a Rashba-type SOI respectively; the last term is a layer-spin analogue of the Rashba-type SOI with opposite signs on different sublattice sites. Likewise, the magnitudes of these parameters $\lambda_{i=1,2,3,4}$ have been estimated to be roughly in the range of 1 to 100 μ eV [100, 101, 102], so that just like in monolayer graphene, SOI in bilayer graphene is essentially absent.

Applying a transverse electric field through gating breaks the inversion symmetry. Although this generates new *extrinsic* SOI terms, the strengths of these terms are strongly suppressed due to the relativistic nature of SOI. For instance, typical electric fields strengths of 1V/nm are estimated to generate Rashba-type spin splittings of \sim 10 to 50 μ eV in graphene [93, 102], comparable to that of the intrinsic SOI strengths.

Inversion symmetry can alternatively be broken by introducing a substrate. If the substrate material is made up of light atoms such as hBN, any extrinsic SOI terms generated will once again be weak. But as we shall see in the next chapter, by choosing substrates known to have strong SOI such as WSe₂ or other TMDs comprising heavy atoms, a substantially strong SOI in the meV scale can be interfacially induced in graphene. Although these terms are different from the intrinsic SOI that is necessary to realize the topological insulating phase [72, 103, 104, 105], I will show that the SOI induced from TMD-substrates gives rise to interesting topological properties that are gate-tunable in the case of bilayer graphene (see chapters 4 and 5).

Chapter 3

Origin and Magnitude of Spin-Orbit Interaction in Graphene on Semiconducting Transition Metal Dichalcogenides

In this chapter, I describe a collaborative work with the University of Geneva in which a combination of experimental techniques were used to demonstrate a general occurrence of spin-orbit interaction (SOI) in graphene on transition metal dichalcogenide (TMD) substrates ¹. Their measurements indicate that SOI is ultra-strong and extremely robust, despite it being merely interfacially-induced, with neither graphene nor the TMD substrates changing their structure. This is found to be the case irrespective of the TMD material used, of the transport regime, of the carrier type in the graphene band, and of the thickness of the graphene multilayer. Specifically, they performed weak antilocalization (WAL) measurements as the simplest and most general diagnostic of SOI, and show that the spin relaxation time is very short (approximately 0.2 ps or less) in all cases regardless of the elastic scattering time, whose

¹This chapter is reproduced in part with permission from Z. Wang, *et al.*, Origin and magnitude of 'designer' spin-orbit interaction in graphene on semiconducting transition metal dichalcogenides, *Phys. Rev. X* **6**, 041020 Copyright (2016) by the American Physical Society.

value varies over nearly two orders of magnitude. Such a short spin-relaxation time strongly suggests that the SOI originates from a modification of graphene band structure. This expectation was confirmed through the observation of a gate-dependent beating, and a corresponding frequency splitting, in the low-field Shubnikov-de Haas magneto-resistance oscillations in high quality bilayer graphene devices on WSe₂. These measurements provide an unambiguous diagnostic of a SOI-induced splitting in the electronic band structure, and their analysis allows us to determine the SOI coupling constants for the Rashba term and the so-called spin-valley coupling term, i.e., the terms that were recently predicted theoretically for interface-induced SOI in graphene. The magnitude of the SOI splitting is found to be on the order of 10 meV, more than 100 times greater than the SOI intrinsic to graphene. Both the band character of the interfacially induced SOI, as well as its robustness and large magnitude make graphene-on-TMD a promising system to realize and explore a variety of spin-dependent transport phenomena, such as, in particular, spin-Hall and valley-Hall topological insulating states.

3.1 Interfacial Interactions in vdW Heterostructures

Van der Waals (vdW) heterostructures formed by vertical stacks of different twodimensional (2D) materials have emerged recently as designer systems, providing a new paradigm for engineering novel electronic media with widely tunable parameters [15]. Stacked vdW heterostructures nicely combine the ability to tailor interfacial interactions at the atomic scale, while at the same time preserving the integrity of individual layers. This 'designer' aproach is epitomized by recent work on graphene paired with hexagonal boron-nitride (hBN) [106, 107, 108]. In this system, a dramatic change in the graphene band structure occurs when the crystal axes of graphene and hBN layers are nearly aligned, in the total absence of any reorganization of chemical bonding or any change in the atomic order of individual layers. The transformed band structure manifests itself in striking and robust transport phenomena –such as the appearance of so-called satellite Dirac points– that are readily observable experimentally. These unexpected findings are opening up a wide avenue of research exploring vdW heterostructures based on many different 2D materials [22, 21, 109, 110, 111, 112]. A key goal at this stage is to identify the interfacial interactions that can alter specific electronic properties of interest, and to understand the microscopic physical processes responsible for their origin.

One fascinating question in this vein is whether vdW heterostructures can be used to control not only the orbital dynamics of electrons in graphene, but also their spin, i.e., whether vdW heterostructures can be employed to generate a strong spin-orbit interaction (SOI) in the graphene Dirac band. To this end, combining graphene with large-gap semiconducting transition metal dichalcogenides (TMDs) appears to be a promising route [113], because semiconducting TMDs exhibit an extremely strong SOI [114, 75, 115, 116], and because they are known to preserve the high electronic quality of graphene when used as substrates [117]. Recent magnetotransport measurements performed on graphene-on- WS_2 [118, 119] – and in particular the observation of a pronounced weak antilocalization (WAL) contribution to the conductivity of graphene [119] – confirm these expectations. Indeed, the analysis of the experimental results indicated that the spin relaxation time τ_{so} in graphene-on- WS_2 is between 100 and 1000 times shorter than in graphene on SiO_2 [120] or on hBN [121]. This is broadly consistent with *ab-initio* calculations, which predict the strength of SOI in graphene-on- WS_2 to be at least 100 times larger than the SOI intrinsic to graphene [119, 92, 93, 122].

These results pose a number of interesting and challenging questions, which are central for our understanding of the new phenomenon of 'designer' SOI. In particular, the physical process by which strong SOI can be imprinted by one layer on an adjacent layer without any changes in their structure remains puzzling. So far, the experiments were unable to elucidate the microscopic mechanism responsible for the strong SOI in graphene, nor did they provide any reliable insight into the functional form of the induced SOI as well as its strength. They also did not establish whether a strong interfacially-induced SOI is unique to graphene-on-WS₂ or whether it is a robust, generic property of all graphene-on-TMD heterostructures. Last but not least, perhaps the most tantalizing question of all is whether SOI is dominated by disorder scattering or by a band structure modification. If the latter happens to be the case, the strong SOI present in graphene-on-TMD system can be employed to create and explore a variety of electronic media with novel properties [94, 72, 123].

A variety of graphene-on-TMD heterostructures were exploited to tackle these questions in a comprehensive way. Large part of the work focuses on the study of WAL in heterostructures formed by graphene and one of the semiconducting TMDs: WSe₂, MoS₂, and WS₂. For all TMDs used, irrespective of carrier mobility (μ) , position of the Fermi level in graphene, and thickness of the graphene layer (up to trilayer), a pronounced WAL signal is observed. This finding shows that interfacially induced SOI in graphene-on-TMDs is an extremely robust phenomenon, insensitive to virtually all details of the vdW heterostructure considered. A quantitative analvsis of the WAL data allows us to establish an upper bound of approximately 0.2 ps for the spin-relaxation time τ_{so} , irrespective of the carrier mobility (which was varied by nearly two orders of magnitude). Such a short τ_{so} value appears to be physically compatible only with SOI originating from a modification of the graphene band structure. This conclusion was validated from measurements of Shubnikov-de Haas (SdH) conductance oscillations, which exhibited a beating due to a splitting in their frequency [124, 125, 53]. The size of the splitting and its dependence on carrier density show that the beating originates from SOI, and its quantitative analysis allows us to establish the SOI magnitude. We find that the dominant SOI term is of the Rashba type, and that its characteristic energy is approximately $\lambda_R \simeq 10 - 15$ meV; the strength of the other SOI term expected to be induced by interfacial interactions [119] –i.e., the one that couples spin and valley- ranges between $\lambda = 0$ and $\lambda \approx 5$ -6 meV (i.e., experimental data are compatible with $\lambda_R = 15$ meV and $\lambda = 0$ meV or with $\lambda_R = 10$ meV and $\lambda = 5 - 6$ meV, as well as different choices in these intervals).

Besides elucidating most aspects of interfacially induced SOI in graphene, the results presented here clearly illustrate the experimental flexibility of graphene-on-TMDs heterostructures. These heterostructures allow comparative studies by varying the specific TMD material used, the thickness of the graphene layer, the position of the Fermi level, and the scattering time (τ). Even more flexibility could be introduced using double gated devices, to tune the graphene band structure (e.g., in bilayers) [88, 58, 126, 127] and further extend the range of carrier densities accessible experimentally. We anticipate that this unrivaled experimental flexibility will prove useful in future experiments aiming at exploring other aspects of interfacial interactions in vdW heterostructures.

3.2 Device Fabrication and Characterization

Van der Waals heterostructures were assembled by transferring graphene layers of different thickness (mono, bi, or tri layers) onto thin exfoliated flakes of TMDs (WSe₂, WS₂, and MoS₂), resulting in devices whose cross section is schematically shown in Fig. 3-1(a). For the assembly, a commonly used dry transfer technique was employed [16, 128]. Conventional electron-beam lithography, lift-off, and oxygen plasma etching techniques were employed to pattern and contact multi-terminal Hall-bar devices. The contacts consist of an evaporated Ti/Au thin film (10/70 nm). All structures were realized on substrates consisting of degenerately doped Silicon covered with a 285 nm thick layer of thermally grown SiO₂. The charge density (n) of graphene is tuned by operating the doped Silicon substrate as a gate electrode. In this configuration, for sufficiently large gate voltage (V_g), carriers are accumulated at the surface of the TMD flake at the interface with the SiO₂ layer [119, 129]. When that happens, the carrier density in graphene cannot be tuned anymore by V_g , and the conductivity (σ) of graphene saturates.



Figure 3-1: Basic characterization of graphene on TMD substrates. (a) Schematic cross section of the devices. The graphene layer (green) is transferred onto a TMD crystal (pink) that has been previously exfoliated on a substrate consisting of highly doped Silicon (gray) covered by 285-nm-thick SiO_2 (light blue). The silicon substrate is operated as a back-gate. (b-c) AFM images of a graphene Hall-bar device before and after the AFM-ironing process (scale bar is 2 μ m long). (d-f) Gate-voltage (V_q) dependence of the resistance (R; red curves) and the conductivity (σ ; blue curves) of monolayer graphene on WSe_2 (d), MoS_2 (e) and WS_2 (f), measured at 4.2 K. The carrier mobility in the three cases is 110,000, 33,000, and 23,400 cm^2/Vs , respectively. In all devices, the conductance saturates at large enough V_q away from charge neutrality point, when charges start to be accumulated at the SiO₂-TMD interface. The black line in (f) represents the V_q -dependent conductivity $\sigma(V_q)$ before AFM-ironing (the corresponding mobility is approximately two times smaller than for the blue curve). (g-h) Integer quantum-Hall effect (QHE) observed in high-quality graphene-on-WSe₂ at T = 250 mK whose basic characterization is shown in (d). The color map of the longitudinal resistance (R_{xx}) versus V_g and B (g) and the V_g -dependence of R_{xx} (red curves) and the Hall conductance (σ_{xy} ; blue curves) measured at B = 12 T (h) clearly confirm the occurrence of the vanishing R_{xx} and concomitantly quantized $\sigma_{xy} = \nu \times e^2/h$ at integer values of filling factor ($\nu \equiv nh/eB$). In panel (h), the QH plateaus at $\nu = \pm 1, -3, -4, -5$ due to the full degeneracy lifting of the N = 0, 1Landau levels in monolayer are clearly visible.

The device quality –i.e., the carrier mobility and the inhomogeneity in carrier density– depends on the details of the assembly process, and on the procedure to "clean" the device structure at the end of the fabrication. Two key elements introduce disorder: structural defects resulting from the transfer process, such as "bubbles" and "wrinkles" in the graphene layer [130], and adsorbates adhering onto graphene (mostly polymer residues remaining at the end of the fabrication process). The influence of both elements can be controlled in different ways. Structural defects are absent. Selecting these areas, which typically have linear dimensions of the order of 5-6 μ m, usually results in very high carrier mobility: low-temperature mobility values as large as 160,000 cm²/Vs have been observed, which are comparable to (or possibly even slightly better than) the best values observed in graphene-on-hBN structures assembled by the same dry-transfer technique [106, 107, 108, 131, 132]. Selecting larger areas is also possible, but this unavoidably prevents the full exclusion of structural defects, resulting in lower mobility.

Adsorbates can be eliminated in a rather controlled way by a so-called atomic force microscope (AFM) "ironing" process [133], essential to realize high mobility devices. AFM ironing consists of scanning the graphene flake with an AFM tip in contact mode, applying only a moderate force, in such a way to pile up all the adsorbates just outside the edges of the graphene flake. The effectiveness of the process is illustrated in Figs. 1(b-c). Fig. 3-1(b) shows an AFM image of a device at the end of fabrication and Fig. 3-1(c) another image of the same device taken after the "ironing" step. The difference –the extremely small corrugation that is measured on graphene after the "ironing" process– is clear. In this study 16 different devices were measured, in which –depending on their area, cleaning procedure adopted, density of "bubbles", etc.– the carrier mobility extracted from measurements of the conductivity and of Hall effect ranged between 3,000 and 160,000 cm²/Vs.

Figs. 3-1(d-f) shows the gate voltage dependence of the resistance (red curves) and of the corresponding conductivity (blue curves) measured on three representative devices, respectively on WSe₂, MoS₂, and WS₂. As compared to an earlier work on

graphene-on-WS₂, in which no AFM ironing was done [119], in the current generation of higher-quality devices the charge neutrality point is "exposed" in all cases: it is possible to shift the Fermi level (E_F) both in the valence and in the conduction band by acting on the back gate. Whereas for graphene on WS₂ and MoS₂ only a small range of energies in the conduction band can be accessed, for WSe₂, E_F can be shifted over a rather large interval in both the valence and the conduction band. Hence, WSe₂ allows the systematic investigation of SOI in the conduction band without the need to use a top gate electrode, something that could not be done in previous work. Finally, Figs. 1(g-h) show that all integer quantum Hall effect (QHE) states are visible, including the symmetry broken states caused by the presence of electron-electron interactions [131], which is indicative of the high quality of the devices (in the best cases, symmetry broken states become already visible for applied magnetic fields as low as approximately 1 Tesla).

3.3 Extracting SOI from Weak Antilocalization (WAL) in Monolayer Graphene on Different TMDs

Weak antilocalization is a striking quantum interference effect originating from spinorbit coupling that has long served as a direct probe of SOI in conductors [134, 135]. Also for graphene-on-TMD heterostructures, the observation of the WAL correction to the low-temperature magneto-conductivity provides the simplest and most general diagnostic of the presence of SOI [119]. Extracting the WAL contribution requires suppressing the effect of the so-called phase-coherent universal conductance fluctuations (UCF) originating from random interference of electronic waves [136]. Indeed, since the dimensions of the graphene-on-TMD devices studied are typically comparable to (or even smaller than) the phase coherence length L_{ϕ} , the WAL contribution in any individual measurement is normally eclipsed by the presence of UCF. To make the WAL contribution stand out, the magnitude of the UCF was suppressed by looking at the ensemble averaged conductivity, obtained by averaging many (typically 50)



Figure 3-2: Negative magneto-conductivity due to WAL in monolayer graphene on TMD substrates. (a-c) Ensemble-averaged magneto-conductivity measured on monolayer graphene on WSe₂, MoS₂ and WS₂, for T = 250 mK (black curve), T = 1.6 K (red curves), and T = 20 or 30 K (blue curves), with the Fermi level gate-tuned to be in the graphene valence band. The data are measured on the same devices whose V_g -dependent transport curves are shown Figs. 1(d-f). The characteristic peak due to WAL around B = 0 T is clearly visible at low temperature and disappears at higher temperature. (d-f) Quantum corrections to magneto-conductivity of monolayer graphene on WSe₂, MoS₂, and WS₂, obtained by subtracting the classical contribution (corresponding to the magneto-conductivity measured at T = 20 or 30 K) from the magneto-conductivity measured at T = 20 or 30 highest magnetic field investigated, no signatures of weak-localization are visible.

magneto-conductance traces measured at slightly different values of V_g (the procedure is identical to that described in Ref. [119]).

The procedure described above, performed at different temperatures, leads to the results shown in Figs. 2(a-c) for graphene on WSe₂, MoS₂, and WS₂ respectively. In all cases, a negative magneto-conductivity of order e^2/h is clearly apparent at the lowest temperature investigated, T = 250 mK, upon the application of a magnetic field (*B*) of a few milliTesla. The magnitude of the negative magneto-conductivity decreases upon warming up the devices and the effect disappears entirely at $T \simeq 20 - 30$ K, as expected for quantum interference effects [135]. It is clear that, irrespective



Figure 3-3: Interfacially induced SOI in graphene-on-TMD is a robust phenomenon. (a) Magneto-conductivity of graphene-on-WSe₂ measured with the Fermi energy gatetuned to be in the graphene conduction band. (b) Magneto-conductivity due to WAL measured on a larger-area graphene-on-WSe₂ device with a carrier mobility of only 3,000 cm²/Vs. (c) Magneto-conductivity of graphene-on-WS₂ measured on a same device before (red) and after (black) the AFM-ironing process needed to clear graphene from adsorbates. As the carrier mobility increases, the WAL peak becomes sharper as expected. All data in this figure have been measured at T = 250 mK.

of the TMD used to realize the heterostructures, the presence of a pronounced WAL signal in magneto-transport demonstrates that in all cases SOI is induced in graphene.

In extracting the strength of SOI from magnetotransport measurements a special care should be taken in accounting for the interplay between WAL and weak localization, since the two effects contribute to magnetoconductivity with opposite signs [137]. Weak localization gives rise to a positive magneto-conductivity, which becomes visible when during the phase-coherent progapation of electrons their spins do not rotate-or rotate by a small enough angle [134]. Despite the presence of SOI, a small positive magneto-conductivity due to weak localization may still be observed, because at sufficiently high magnetic field only the shortest trajectories give a nonnegligible contribution to the interference effects probed by the ensemble-averaged conductivity. Unless SOI is extremely strong, the electron spin may not have time to rotate by a sufficient amount along these short trajectories, and signatures of weak localization may then become visible at large B.

The issue is relevant because –as it is clear from Figs. 2(a-c)– a positive magnetoconductivity is visible in the measurements, and it is important to establish whether

this is a manifestation of weak localization. To this end, we recall that WAL and weak localization are quantum corrections to the conductivity, i.e. they correspond to the difference between the total magneto-conductivity that is actually measured and the classical contribution. The classical contribution is straightforward to determine, since it corresponds to the magneto-conductivity measured at sufficiently high temperatures, where phase coherent effects have been suppressed because of the thermally induced shortening of L_{ϕ} . Since at 20-30 K the effect of WAL has entirely disappeared and the remaining low-field (positive) magneto-conductivity does not exhibit any significant temperature dependence, we can take the magneto-conductivity measured at these temperatures to be a good approximation of the classical contribution (see Section 3.11 for more details on the classical magneto-conductivity background). The resulting quantum correction to the magneto-conductivity for the different devices is shown in Figs. 2(d-f). Within the precision of the measurements, determined by the remnant amplitude of UCF fluctuations, no positive magnetoconductivity is visible in Figs. 2(d-f). We conclude that irrespective of the TMD material used in the heterostructure, a clear WAL signal is always present with no detectable weak localization contribution. This observation provides a first clear indication that in all heterostructures investigated, the SOI induced in graphene has a very strong intensity.

Data measured on other monolayer graphene devices confirm that WAL always occurs with no detectable weak localization signal, irrespective of whether carriers are electrons or holes, and of their mobility (or, equivalently, scattering time τ), which was varied over a range of nearly two orders of magnitude. Both aspects had not been addressed in a previous work on WS₂, in which the Fermi level could not be shifted into the conduction band and the scattering time was only varied by a limited amount [119]. The occurrence of WAL for electron transport is best illustrated with data measured on graphene-on-WSe₂, shown in Fig. 3-3(a), in which a fully developed WAL signal is clearly visible. The effect of the mobility can be appreciated by looking at Figs. 3-3(b) and 3-3(c). Fig. 3-3(b) shows the quantum correction to the magneto-conductivity measured on a large-area graphene-on-WSe₂ device, in which a high-density of "bubbles" led to a low-temperature mobility of 3,000 cm²/Vs (whereas all devices shown in Figs. 2(a-c) had mobility larger than 25,000 cm²/Vs). We find that the magnitude of the WAL correction is comparable in all cases, but in the lower mobility devices the magnetic field required to observe the negative magneto-conductivity is larger. This is expected, since when the mobility is lower a larger magnetic field is needed to pierce a flux of $\Phi_0 = h/e$ through the area in which the electronic waves propagate phase coherently and interfere. The same conclusions can be drawn by looking at Fig. 3-3(c), which shows the WAL magneto-conductivity in a same graphene-on-WS₂ device measured before (red curve) and after (black curve) performing an AFM "ironing" step, resulting in a mobility increase. It is apparent that in this case as well, a higher mobility leads to a decrease of the magnetic field scale needed to suppress the effect of WAL.



Figure 3-4: Interfacially-induced SOI in graphene multilayers on TMDs. Panels (ac) and (d-f) refer respectively to a bilayer and a trilayer device, both realized on WSe_2 . Panels (a) and (d) show that the resistance peak around charge neutrality is very narrow, indicative of a high uniformity of carrier density (in the trilayer, the magnitude of inhomogeneity is smaller than 2×10^{10} cm⁻², comparable to the best devices on hBN). High quality integer quantum Hall effect is observed in both devices, as shown by data in panels (b) and (e) measured at T = 4.2 K. In panel (b), in which the characteristic quantization sequence of graphene bilayer is observed, the applied magnetic field is B = 4 T. Panel (e) shows a color plot of the longitudinal resistance of trilayer graphene as a function of filling factor and magnetic field. Full breaking of the degeneracy of Landau levels due to electron-electron interactions start to be clearly visible already at B = 1 T. Panels (c) and (f) show the ensemble averaged magnetoconductivity measured at T = 250 mK, exhibiting the characteristic signature of WAL, with no positive magneto-conductivity due to weak localization (in panel (c) the different curves show data at different gate voltages, corresponding to shifting the Fermi level from the bilayer graphene valence band to the conduction band).

3.4 SOI in Bilayer Graphene and Thicker Multi-Layers

When monolayer graphene is substituted by thicker multilayers, a strong SOI remains present in all devices (irrespective of the TMD used for the device realization). Fig. 3-4 illustrates this conclusion with data measured on two different graphene-on- WSe_2 devices: Figs. 3-4(a-c) refer to a bilayer graphene device with low-temperature mobility $\mu = 33,000 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$ and Figs. 4(d-f) to a trilayer having mobility $\mu \simeq 110,000$ cm^2/Vs . Basic transport characterization show that –as for monolayer devices– heterostructures based on thicker multilayers exhibit an excellent electronic quality. The resistance peak around the charge neutrality point is extremely sharp in both cases (see Figs. 4(a) and 4(d)); in the trilayer device the measured width corresponds to a charge inhomogeneity as low as 1.8×10^{10} cm⁻², comparable to the best ever reported for non-suspended graphene devices. In the presence of a perpendicular magnetic field B = 4 T the expected Hall effect quantization sequence is observed in the bilayer device, with plateaus in the Hall conductance occurring at $\sigma_{xy} = 4Ne^2/h$ $(N = \pm 1, \pm 2, ...)$ [85, 83], concomitantly with the vanishing of the longitudinal resistance. In the thicker multilayer, the plot of the longitudinal resistance versus filling factor $\nu \equiv nh/eB$ and B (Fig. 3-4(e)) shows the appearance of broken symmetry quantum Hall states already at B as low as approximately 1 T. In short, excellent quality bi and tri-layer graphene devices can be realized on TMD substrates, comparable to the very best devices realized on hBN by means of the same technique.

Figs. 4(c) and 4(f) show that a pronounced low temperature negative magnetoconductivity due to WAL is clearly visible in both the bilayer and the trilayer device. In these devices as well, no background due to weak localization is observed, indicative of the large SOI strength. This is remarkable, because interfacial interactions are expected to modify only the properties of the bottom graphene layer, the one in direct contact with the TMD crystal [119]. Under normal conditions, the eigenfunctions in the different bands of the multilayer are such that electrons have a finite amplitude of probability to be in that layer. As a result, all bands are affected and that is why thicker multilayers exhibit a pronounced WAL. Nevertheless, it is clear that the effect of interfacially induced SOI should decrease in intensity as the thickness of the multilayer increases, since the probability for electrons to enter in contact with the TMD crystal decreases upon increasing thickness (or, equivalently, the amplitude of the electron wavefunctions in the bottom layer –the one in contact with the TMD– decreases for thicker multilayers). The data shown in Fig. 3-4(c) –and especially those shown in Fig. 3-4(f)– indicates that despite the larger thickness, at least up to trilayer graphene the observed behavior of the WAL correction is the one typical of very strong SOI. Significantly thicker multilayers are needed to "dilute" the effect of SOI induced by interfacial interactions.

The observation of WAL in graphene bilayers (Fig. 3-4(c)) is worth an additional comment. In monolayers, WAL can occur due only to the Dirac nature of electrons (i.e., in the absence of SOI), as a consequence of the π Berry phase picked up by the electron wave functions that undergo backscattering processes while staying in a same valley. WAL due to this effect has been seen experimentally, albeit only at elevated temperatures (typically $T \geq 10$ K) [138], since only then L_{ϕ} is sufficiently short (such a dependence on temperature allow the phenomenon to be discriminated from WAL due to SOI, which increases in amplitude upon cooling). The effect is absent in bilayer graphene, since in bilayers a 2π Berry phase is acquired by the electron wavefunction upon back-scattering, which does not lead to WAL [139]. As such, the occurrence of WAL in bilayers illustrated by the data shown in Fig. 3-4(c) provides unambiguous and more direct evidence of the presence of interfacially induced SOI.

In concluding this Section, I emphasize that the possibility of using interfacial interactions with a TMD substrate to induce strong SOI in different graphene multilayers –and not only in monolayers– adds to the flexibility of this experimental system. As I will discuss in Section 3.6, this flexibility was exploited in the present work to determine quantitatively the type and magnitude of the interfacially induced SOI.



Figure 3-5: Comparison of WAL data measured on monolayer graphene on different TMDs with the theoretical predictions of Eq. (1). In panels (a-d), the black dots represent the data; the continuous lines of different colors represent the predictions of Eq. (1) for different values of spin-relaxation time τ_{so} . In panel (a), data from a low-mobility device ($\mu = 3,000 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$) on WSe₂ are shown; Panels (b-d) show data on higher mobility devices (respectively, 23,400, 33,000, and 110,000 cm²/Vs) on WS₂ (b), MoS₂ (c), and WSe₂ (d). Note in all cases, inserting values of $\tau_{so} > 0.5 \text{ ps}$ in Eq. (1) leads to the appearance of a positive magneto-conductivity due to weak localization at higher *B*, which is not seen in the experiments. This allows us to determine an upper bound for τ_{so} for all the devices investigated. All data in this figure have been measured at T = 250 mK.



Figure 3-6: Upper bound of τ_{so} , extracted from WAL data, as a function of τ for monolayer graphene devices. The shape of the different symbols refers to devices realized on different TMD substrates (triangles for WSe₂, circles for MoS₂, and squares for WS₂). For each different symbol, data points represented with the same color refer to the same device measured at different gate voltages. The broken line corresponds to $\tau_{so} = \tau$.

3.5 Quantitative Analysis of the WAL Data

The pronounced WAL observed in the measurements presented in the previous sections, together with the absence of any signature of weak localization, illustrate that strong SOI is a general property of graphene-TMD heterostructures. For a quantitative analysis, we confine ourselves to devices realized on monolayers, for which an explicit theoretical expression for the magneto-conductivity due to WAL is available [140]. The expression, which takes into account the effect of all possible symmetry-allowed SOI terms, reads:

$$\Delta\sigma(B) = -\frac{e^2}{\pi h} \left[F\left(\frac{\tau_B^{-1}}{\tau_{\phi}^{-1}}\right) - F\left(\frac{\tau_B^{-1}}{\tau_{\phi}^{-1} + 2\tau_{asy}^{-1}}\right) - 2F\left(\frac{\tau_B^{-1}}{\tau_{\phi}^{-1} + \tau_{so}^{-1}}\right) \right], \quad (3.1)$$

where $F(x) = \ln(x) + \psi(1/2 + 1/x)$ with $\psi(x)$ the digamma function. Here $\tau_B^{-1} = 4DeB/\hbar$ (*D* is the carrier diffusion constant), τ_{ϕ}^{-1} is the dephasing rate, τ_{asy}^{-1} represents the spin relaxation rate due to the SOI terms that break $z \to -z$ symmetry (*z* is the direction normal to the graphene plane) and τ_{so}^{-1} is the total spin-relaxation rate, including the effect of all SOI terms.

Since weak (anti)localization theory is developed having the fully diffusive transport regime in mind [140], we started with the analysis of the magneto-conductivity measured in the lowest mobility device, i.e. the graphene-on-WSe₂ device whose data are shown in Fig. 3-3(b) (carrier mobility $\mu \cong 3,000 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$; elastic scattering time $\tau \approx 0.04 \text{ ps}$). Fig. 3-5(a) shows that Eq. (1) reproduces the data well with $\tau_{so} \approx 0.2 \text{ ps}$, with all other parameters satisfying the conditions of validity of the theory: $\tau_{\phi} > \tau_{asy} > \tau_{so} > \tau^{-2}$. Some more considerations are however needed to understand physically the meaning of the good agreement between Eq. (1) and the experimental data.

²When fitting the data from different devices, we found that -in agreement with the assumptions made by theory- the condition, $\tau_{\phi} > \tau_{asy} > \tau_{so}$, is always satisfied. However, whereas the data analysis gives an upper bound for $\tau_{so} \simeq 0.2 - 0.4$ ps for all devices, the spread in the values extracted for τ_{asy} is larger. For different devices τ_{asy} was found to vary between 2 and 10 ps. Such a spread is likely to be caused -at least in part- by uncertainties in extracting the magneto-conductivity $(\Delta \sigma)$ from the measured magneto-resistance, due to the limited precisions in determining the device geometry (indeed, the value of τ_{asy} extracted from the fit is particularly sensitive to the absolute magnitude of the negative magneto-conductivity)

To this end, we note that, for τ_{so} values longer than 0.2 ps, theory predicts that weak localization should become visible in the magnetic field range explored in the measurements (see, for instance, the green curve in Fig. 3-5(a), which represents Eq. (1) with $\tau_{so} = 0.78$ ps), contrary to what is observed experimentally (no positive magneto-conductivity is observed up to the largest magnetic field B = 40 mT applied in the experiments). τ_{so} values significantly larger than 0.2 ps are therefore not compatible with these observations and can be excluded. τ_{so} values shorter than 0.2 ps, however, are compatible with the measurements. This is illustrated by the red curve in Fig. 3-5(a), which is a plot of Eq. (1) with $\tau_{so} = 0.04$ ps (and with all other parameters to be the same). This choice for τ_{so} also perfectly reproduces the data and leads to a magneto-conductivity that is indistinguishable from the case $\tau_{so} = 0.2$ ps. We therefore conclude that our analysis of WAL can only provide an upper value for $\tau_{so} \approx 0.2$ ps.

These considerations make it clear that measuring WAL up to sufficiently high magnetic field is important, because the absence of a positive magneto-conductivity due to weak localization is what allows a more precise quantitative determination of the upper bound for τ_{so} . In an earlier work on graphene-on-WS₂ [119], in which the analysis of WAL was also used to obtain τ_{so} , the magnetic field range had not been extended sufficiently in the measurements. As a result, the estimates of τ_{so} reported there are approximately one order of magnitude larger than what was found here. In other words, from the analysis reported in a previous work [119], the intensity of SOI –albeit already very strong– appeared to be weaker than what it actually is.

For devices with higher mobility, in which the electron mean free path $l = v_F \tau$ becomes longer, the analysis of WAL requires more critical thinking. For instance, the use of Eq. (1) is meaningful only up to magnetic field values $B \approx \Phi_0/l^2$ (where $\Phi_0 = h/e$ is the quantum of flux), because in the diffusive regime described by Eq. (1) the minimum area of a time reversed trajectory giving rise to WAL or weak localization is of the order of l^2 [137]. For devices in which $\mu \simeq 100,000 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$, the corresponding value of B is only approximately 5 mT. This does not pose problems to observe the characteristic peak in WAL, which for such high μ values becomes extremely narrow (see, e.g., Fig. 3-5(c)), but limits the range of magnetic field that can be meaningfully used in the quantitative analysis of the data. Nevertheless, in practice, Eq. (1) does reproduce satisfactorily the measured magneto-conductivity in all cases, as illustrated in Figs. 3-5(b-d). Therefore, as per the low mobility case, the upper bound for τ_{so} for each of the devices analyzed was determined. This upper bound is such that for larger τ_{so} values the predictions of Eq. (1) shows the presence of a positive magneto-conductivity at higher magnetic field and are incompatible with the experimental observations, whereas for smaller values of τ_{so} the magnetoconductivity predicted by Eq. (1) does not change significantly and reproduces the behavior of the experimental data.

The result of this analysis is summarized in Fig. 3-6, in which the upper bound for τ_{so} extracted for all monolayer devices analyzed is plotted as a function of the elastic scattering time τ . For each device, the result of the analysis performed for different applied gate voltage is also shown. The upper bounds for τ_{so} determined from WAL cluster between 0.1 and 0.4 ps, and in most cases they are close to 0.2 ps. This is a remarkably systematic behavior, especially considering the large range in carrier mobility investigated (from 3,000 to 110,000 cm²/Vs).

Care is needed in interpreting this result, because for sufficiently high mobility devices (e.g., in all cases in which $\tau > 0.5$ ps in Fig. 3-6) $\tau_{so} < \tau$, which appears to be beyond the regime of validity of Eq. (1) (the assumption that motion is diffusive implies that τ is the shortest time scale). This situation is not new. It has already been encountered in the analysis of WAL in different two-dimensional systems in which SOI is known to be extremely strong, such as 2D hole gases in GaAs-heterostructures [141, 53]. As discussed in detail in Ref. [53], also in these systems a pronounced signal due to WAL is observed without any positive magneto-conductivity due to weak localization. The quantitative analysis of the magneto-conductivity gives an upper limit for τ_{so} ($\tau_{so} \approx 3$ ps in that case), such that $\tau > \tau_{so}$ ($\tau \approx 25$ ps for those systems), in complete analogy to what was found in previous high mobility graphene-on-TMD devices. For 2D holes in GaAs-heterostructures, the very short τ_{so} values extracted from the analysis of WAL were taken as a signature of a strong SOI originating from the band structure (i.e., not from impurity scattering) [53]. This conclusion was validated through a study of Shubnikov-de Haas (SdH) resistance oscillations, that exhibit a gate-voltage dependent beating. The beating is due to SOI that splits the hole Fermi surface, causing SdH oscillations to occur with two distinct frequencies. By analyzing the frequency splitting as a function of carrier density, the precise nature of the SOI term present in the Hamiltonian could be established.

In view of the similarity in the behavior of WAL in graphene-on-TMDs and in GaAs-based 2D hole gases it is tempting to draw analogous conclusions. Namely, the observed behavior of WAL appears to indicate a band origin of SOI in graphene-on-TMD. Indeed, the SOI-induced splitting in the electronic band structure can generate WAL which is at most weakly dependent on the amount of disorder in the system. This is consistent with the observation of WAL which is strong and robust for a wide range of carrier mobilities in a variety of different samples. To confirm the band origin of interfacially induced SOI, a search for the occurrence of a beating in the low-field Shubnikov-de Haas (SdH) resistance oscillations was performed.

3.6 Spin-Orbit Band Structure Splitting and SdH Oscillations in High-Mobility Graphene-on-TMD Devices

The SdH oscillations of transport coefficients in non-quantizing magnetic fields arise due to cyclotron motion of carrier states at the Fermi level. The periodic dependence on the inverse field 1/B provides a convenient way to measure the Fermi surface size. In the presence of spin-orbital splitting, the electronic band structure gives rise to split Fermi surfaces with different spin polarization. In this regime, the SdH oscillations exhibit a characteristic beating pattern that provides an unambiguous diagnostic of the split Fermi surface, allowing to directly measure the spin splitting value.

Measurement of the beating patterns in SdH oscillations relies on resolving a large number of Landau levels at moderate-to-low magnetic fields. Achieving this regime requires devices of exceptional quality. One constraint arises from carrier mobility which must be high enough to prevent the washing out of Landau levels of high order. Another constraint, which is equally important, is the absence of significant inhomogeneity in carrier density across the device. Indeed, an inhomogeneous density would result in washing out of the SdH oscillations due to different parts of the device contributing to the SdH oscillations with different frequencies. If the spread in frequencies originating from the carrier inhomogeneity is comparable to (or larger than) the SOI-induced frequency splitting, no splitting can be detected experimentally.

The high mobility values that can be achieved in these graphene-on-TMD devices are comfortably in the range needed for detecting a SOI-induced beating in the SdH oscillations. Charge inhomogeneity, on the contrary, poses certain challenges. Previous work indicates that, in the density range of the experiments in this study, the inhomogeneity effects are less prominent in graphene bilayer (BLG) as compared to graphene monolayer [142]. This is so because the density of quasiparticle states is higher in the bilayer, where quasiparticle dispersion is quadratic, and lower in the monolayer, where the dispersion is linear [143]. High-mobility BLG devices were therefore employed for this part of the experiments.

As shown in Fig. 3-7(a), magneto-resistance measurements performed on highquality BLG-on-WSe₂ indeed exhibit beating in the SdH oscillations. The node of the beating pattern, marked by arrows, shifts towards higher magnetic field values when a more negative gate voltage is applied. Accordingly, the SdH oscillations Fourier spectrum (Fig. 3-7(b)) exhibits a pair of peaks with the splitting that increases upon shifting V_g further away from charge neutrality. The full behavior is illustrated in Fig. 3-7(c) which shows the Fourier spectrum as a function of V_g and oscillation frequency f. The frequencies corresponding to the maxima of the split peaks in the Fourier spectrum are plotted in Fig. 3-7(d) as a function of V_g . The observed splitting in the SdH oscillation frequency is a direct manifestation of the SOI splitting of the Fermi surface of BLG-on-WSe₂.


Figure 3-7: Extracting SOI from the SdH resistance oscillations observed in BLG-on-WSe₂ devices. (a) SdH resistance oscillations exhibit a beating pattern whose node position shifts with the applied gate voltage V_g (curves are vertically offset for clarity; the charge neutrality point in this device is at $V_g = -2$ V). (b) Peak splitting in the Fourier spectra of the data shown in (a) is used to determine the SdH frequency splitting. (c) Color-coded Fourier spectrum plotted vs. frequency f and gate voltage V_g . (d) The position of the two peaks in the Fourier spectra shown in (c) plotted vs. V_g (black and red circles represent the lower and higher frequency splitting increases as the carrier density increases.



Figure 3-8: (a) Low energy band structure of bilayer graphene on TMD, obtained from the Hamiltonian in Eq. (3), with U = -6 meV, $\lambda_R = 13$ meV, $\lambda = 5$ meV. See the inset of panel (b) for a numerically accurate band cross section, with the red line indicating the position of the Fermi energy calculated self-consistently as described in text. (b) The circles represent the measured splitting δf of the frequency of the SdH resistance oscillations plotted versus the average frequency peak \overline{f} . The values of δf and \overline{f} are obtained from the data shown in Fig. 3-7(d) as the Fermi energy is swept through the valence band ($V_g < -2$ V). The colored lines correspond to theoretical predictions calculated using the band structure obtained with the Hamiltonian in Eq.(3) for different values of λ_R and λ . Three possible best-fit plots with (λ_R, λ) = (15,0) meV (red solid line), (λ_R, λ) = (13, -5) meV (green, dashed line), and (λ_R, λ) = (13, 5) meV (blue, dashed-dotted line)) are shown.

These findings indicate that the effect of the interfacially induced SOI is dominated by a modification of the band structure of graphene rather than a spin-dependent disorder potential. For each value of V_g , the two peak frequencies are proportional to the areas of the two split Fermi surfaces. The measured dependence of these areas on V_g can be used to reconstruct the band structure as described below. However, before getting into the details of this discussion, it is useful to note that the general properties of the interfacial SOI, such as its magnitude and momentum dependence, can be inferred directly from the observed SdH beating patterns without invoking detailed modeling. Indeed, since for parabolic bands the Fermi energy is proportional to carrier density, the observed 10-15% splitting in density translates into a 10-15% splitting in the Fermi energy. This predicts the SOI splitting on the order of 10 meV or higher. Second, the monotonic increase of the splitting vs. density indicates that the SOI has a strong momentum dependence. This behavior is consistent with the dominant SOI of a Rashba type. Both conclusions are confirmed below by a detailed modeling.

The general Hamiltonian for BLG-on-TMD takes on the form of a low-energy BLG Hamiltonian with an SOI term added to describe interfacial coupling to TMD. Literature describes BLG in terms of two Dirac Hamiltonians of the two constituent monolayers coupled by the γ_1 term describing inter-layer nearest neighbor hopping [143, 83, 80]. The effect of interfacially induced SOI can be modeled by an effective Hamiltonian which was determined through *ab-initio* calculations in a previous study of monolayer graphene on WS₂ [119]. The expression for the spin-orbit Hamiltonian obtained in Ref. [119] is

$$H_{SOI} = \frac{\lambda}{2} \tau_z s_z 1_\sigma + \frac{\lambda_R}{2} (\tau_z \sigma_x s_y - \sigma_y s_x), \qquad (3.2)$$

where Pauli matrices $s_{x,y,z}$ and $\sigma_{x,y,z}$ represent electron spin-1/2 and pseudo-spin (sublattice A-B wavefunction components), respectively. The parameters λ and λ_R represent the strengths of the two types of SOI induced by TMD substrate, hereafter referred to as "spin-valley SOI" and Rashba SOI, respectively [119] ³.

Here the Hamiltonian given in Eq. (3.2) was incorporated in the part of the full BLG-on-TMD Hamiltonian describing the graphene layer in direct contact with the WSe₂ substrate. The minimal single-valley Hamiltonian describing BLG-on-WSe₂

³Note that in Ref. [119] the Hamiltonian in Eq.(3.2) was discussed as part of a larger Hamiltonian that contained a potential term describing sublattice A-B modulation, $H' = \frac{\Delta}{2}\sigma_z \mathbf{1}_s$. Under realistic experimental conditions the value Δ was estimated to be very small, which makes the term H' entirely negligible.

reads:

$$H = v(\tau_z \sigma_x k_x + \sigma_y k_y) \mathbf{1}_s \mathbf{1}_\rho + \frac{1}{2} \gamma_1 \mathbf{1}_s (\sigma_x \rho_x + \sigma_y \rho_y) + \frac{1}{2} U \mathbf{1}_s \mathbf{1}_\sigma \rho_z + \left(\frac{\mathbf{1}_\rho + \rho_z}{2}\right) H_{SOI},$$
(3.3)

where $\rho_{x,y,z}$ are Pauli matrices corresponding to the BLG layer index, the quantities $\sigma_{x,y,z}$ and $s_{x,y,z}$ were defined above, the quantities $1_{\rho,\sigma,s}$ denote the corresponding 2×2 identity matrices, and $\tau_z = \pm 1$ is the valley index (valley degeneracy persists in the presence of SOI). The Hamiltonian H includes the inter-layer potential difference U. In the single-gated configuration of the devices used in this study, the value U is finite in the presence of an applied gate voltage V_q [80].

The Hamiltonian given in Eq. (3.3) was used for the quantitative estimate of the SOI parameters λ and λ_R . This is done by determining the SdH oscillation frequency f of each spin-split band from the area of the corresponding Fermi surface and comparing the resulting values with the experimental data. To this end, I employed the approach of Ref. [90] for obtaining E_F self-consistently. For a given λ , λ_R and U, the band structure can be easily computed, see Fig. 3-8(a) as an example. Due to the layer asymmetry, eigenstates of the Hamiltonian Eq. (3.3) are not equally partitioned between the two graphene layers of the BLG. Thus, just as in the case of the spin-degenerate gapped BLG, the total carrier density $n = n_1 + n_2$ fixed by a given E_F is unequally split between the two layers. The unequal layer carrier densities give rise to interlayer potential difference $\tilde{U}(n)$ that depends on the total carrier density n^4 . By varying E_F (or n), the self-consistent value for which $\tilde{U}(n) = U$ can be found. The self-consistent solution corresponds to the experimental situation in which the gate voltage V_g is given by $C_{\Box}(V_g - V_{g0}) = en$, where V_{g0} corresponds to the charge neutrality point and C_{\Box} is the capacitance per unit area between the device and gate

⁴More specifically, for a given E_F , we compute the total excess (i.e. relative to the background density of positive charges) electron density on each layer, including those from the completely filled bands. Due to the layer asymmetry of the system, eigenstates from the completely filled bands are also partitioned unequally between the two layers and thus also contribute (albeit independent of E_F), to the inter-layer potential U_n . U_n is then given by $C_{BLG}U_n = e\delta n_{total,2}$, where C_{BLG} is the capacitance per unit area of the bilayer graphene (assuming vacuum dielectric constant ϵ_0) and $\delta n_{total,2}$ is the total excess electron density on the layer further away from the substrate.

electrode. As an illustration, the red line in inset of Fig. 3-8(b) indicates the position of the self-consistent value of E_F for U = -6 meV, $\lambda_R = 13$ meV, and $\lambda = 5$ meV.

Knowing the self-consistent E_F for a given U, the Fermi momenta k_{F+} and k_{F-} of the two spin-split bands can then be determined, or –equivalently– the areas of the corresponding Fermi surfaces and the density of carriers n_+ and n_- in these two bands (note that $n = n_+ + n_-$). For instance in the inset of Fig. 3-8(b), k_{F+} and k_{F-} correspond to the intersection of the red line with the two blue lines. This procedure is then repeated so that the self-consistent solutions of n_+ and n_- is obtained as U(and hence E_F) is swept through the valence band, just as is done in experiments. The values of the frequency peaks are related to the carrier densities through re-scaling by a factor of $\frac{h}{2e}$.

Having determined self-consistently the relation between n_{\pm} and U, we proceed to compare theory with experimental results. This is done by plotting the frequency splitting δf as a function of the average frequency \overline{f} . Here both quantities can be extracted directly and independently from the measured data in Fig. 3-7(d) (note that $\overline{f} \propto V_g$). In Fig. 3-8(b), the empty circles correspond to the experimental data measured as E_F is swept through the valence band while the colored lines represent three possible theoretical best-fit plots obtained for different combinations of SOI values (λ_R, λ) = (15,0) meV (red solid line), (λ_R, λ) = (13, -5) meV (green, dashed line), and (λ_R, λ) = (13, 5) (blue, dashed-dotted line). In this way a very satisfactory fit to the data can be obtained. Upon varying λ_R and λ over a broad interval, the range of values for which a good agreement is found is $\lambda_R \simeq 10-15$ meV and $\lambda \simeq 0-6$ meV (larger values of λ_R constrain λ to smaller values to fit the data).

Theory can also reproduce the data obtained when E_F is swept through the conduction band, but in that case the range of carrier density for which a beating is observed experimentally is smaller (see Fig. 3-7(d)), and thus only a few data points are present in the δf -vs- \overline{f} plot (again $\overline{f} \propto V_g$). In the conduction band, the best-fit values of λ_R and λ are in the range between 5 and 8 meV. Although in this case SOI appears to be slightly weaker than in the valence band, the smaller amount of data makes it more difficult to determine the two parameters accurately. The above analysis of the beating patterns observed in the SdH measurements therefore indicates that the strong SOI induced in graphene by proximity with TMD is of a band origin. The SOI strength extracted from the comparison between theory and experiments is in the same ballpark, although somewhat larger than the values estimated in Ref. [119] from *ab-initio* calculations. The similarity of the SOI strength estimated from the data and that found from *ab-initio* calculations supports the consistency of our analysis. We therefore conclude that the characteristic magnitude of the interfacially-induced SOI in graphene is about 10 meV. This value is more than a hundred times larger than the SOI intrinsically present in pristine graphene [92, 93, 122].

This is also in line with the conclusion drawn from the behavior of the spinrelaxation time τ_{so} obtained from the analysis of WAL. In this regard we note that a ~ 10 meV spin splitting in the band structure, such as the one found here, would give rise to a characteristic "Rabi" spin precession frequency of $\lambda_R/\hbar \approx 10$ THz, which is compatible with values of the spin relaxation time $\tau_{so}^* \approx 0.2$ ps inferred from WAL. Indeed, it would have been difficult to reconcile this fast spin relaxation time with a much smaller SOI strength –say, a spin splitting of 1 meV or less. Specifically, a 1 meV spin-splitting corresponds to a 1 THz Rabi frequency, which is insufficient to randomize the spin direction over a time of 0.1-0.2 ps. These considerations indicate that two very different phenomena –the quantum correction to the conductivity due to electron interference and the splitting in the frequency of the SdH oscillations– lead to conclusions on the estimated strength of the SOI that are internally consistent, providing an independent confirmation of the validity of our analysis.

3.7 Chapter Summary

The main conclusion that can be drawn from the measurements presented above is that the interfacially induced SOI is dominated by spin-orbital splitting in the graphene band structure. This generalizes to spin-dependent phenomena the results obtained in graphene-on-hBN moire superlattices, where interfacial interactions alter the graphene band structure by producing secondary Dirac points and creating a gap at the main Dirac point. Our second conclusion is that the interfacially induced SOI is extremely robust. A strong SOI is induced irrespective of the specific TMD material used, of the graphene and TMD lattice alignment angle, of the thickness of the graphene multilayer (up to three layers were tested in this study), or of the position of the Fermi level in the graphene band.

Most tellingly, a pronounced magneto-conductivity due to weak antilocalization was observed in all devices that were measured at low temperatures, where the transport regime varied from fully diffusive up to nearly ballistic. None of the devices exhibited a positive magneto-conductivity due to weak-localization. This indicates that SOI in graphene was -- in all regimes investigated -- sufficiently strong to cause a full precession of the electron spin even for the shortest trajectories that contribute to electron interference. These observations appear to be only compatible with a band origin of strong SOI, a conclusion that is confirmed by the experimental observation of beating patterns and a splitting in the frequency of the Shubnikov-de-Hass oscillations in high-quality bilayer devices. The evolution in the magnitude of the splitting that is observed upon varying carrier density indicates that the dominant contribution to the interfacially induced SOI is of the Rashba type. A quantitative analysis of the data indicates that the interaction coupling constant for the Rashba term is as large as 10-15 meV, whereas the strength of the other SOI term that couples spin and valley degrees of freedom is about 5-6 meV or smaller. These values correspond to a remarkably strong SOI, especially in comparison to the minute values of the intrinsic SOI in graphene which are only 20-40 μeV [92, 93, 122].

It is remarkable that such a large interfacial SOI can be induced without causing any damage to the electronic properties of graphene. The highest quality devices studied here exhibited carrier mobility reaching up to 160,000 cm²/Vs and carrier density inhomogeneity of only $\simeq 2 \times 10^{10}$ cm⁻², which is comparable to best grapheneon-hBN devices [106, 107, 108, 131, 132]. The possibility to achieve such a high quality both in terms of carrier mobility and density homogeneity will be crucial for probing the predicted topologically insulating states that may be realized in graphene-based systems [94, 72, 119].

In that regard we also note that, since Rashba turns out to be the dominant SOI coupling, a gap opening between valence and conduction bands in charge neutral graphene-on-TMD (leading to a topologically insulating state) is not expected to occur [119]. However, diverse strategies are available to change the situation. For instance, encapsulating graphene in between two TMD crystals may result in a smaller asymmetry of the device structure, causing a decrease in the intensity of the Rashba term, with other spin-valley SOI contribution becoming stronger. Under these conditions, a topological insulating state may be engineered in graphene with a band gap of several meV [119] and, if so, the ability to achieve very high carrier mobility and small density inhomogeneity demonstrated in this work will be essential for probing the occurrence of edge transport in the presence of an insulating bulk.

Another interesting possibility opened up by the results presented here is achieving gate control of SOI in graphene based system. A simple strategy in this regard is to employ dual-gated BLG devices, using a TMD layer as gate insulator on one side and a hBN layer on the other side. The application of a perpendicular electric field in such a structure will lead to a band gap opening at the charge neutrality point [88, 58, 126]. In this regime, electronic states at the top of the valence band and at the bottom of the conduction band have their wave-functions localized on one of the two BLG layers (depending on the sign of the perpendicular electric field) [91]. Since the interfacially induced SOI is present only in the BLG layer which is in direct contact with the TMD, such a configuration will allow switching SOI on and off by tuning the position of the Fermi level and the polarity of the electric field responsible for the gap opening.

Finally, strong interfacially induced SOI in graphene-on-TMDs opens countless opportunities for investigating novel physical phenomena under controlled conditions. For instance, devices can be realized by employing ferromagnetic electrical contacts that enable injection and detection of spins in graphene [120, 144]. In these systems the dynamics of spin polarized carriers will be controlled, and altered in an interesting way, by the interfacially induced SOI. These systems will also help to gain new insight into the subtle phenomena originating from spin-Hall effect and inverse spin-Hall effect [145]. These examples illustrate that the ability to engineer the properties of electronic systems in van der Waals heterostructures through a layer-by-layer assembly –demonstrated here for the case of SOI in graphene– opens up a wide range of exciting opportunities for realizing and exploring new physical phenomena.

3.8 Appendix: Classical Magneto-Conductivity Background

As discussed in Section 3.5, for the quantitative analysis of the WAL data, the quantum correction to the magneto-conductivity is obtained by subtracting the classical contribution from the total measured magneto-conductivity. The classical contribution is determined by taking the magneto-conductivity measured at a temperature that is sufficiently high to reduce significantly the phase coherence time τ_{ϕ} . In the case of the devices in this study, this happens at 20-30 K, above which quantum corrections become negligible (as indicated, for instance, by the complete disappearance of the negative magneto-conductivity due to WAL).

Here we briefly discuss the behavior of the classical contribution that was subtracted, which is shown in Fig. 3-9 for three devices with different mobility and mean free path (l). It is seen that the classical magneto-conductivity is small and negative for the low-mobility device (green line in Fig.3-9, $\mu \simeq 3,000 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$) as expected from diffusive Drude transport. For these low-mobility devices, the background is so small that has virtually no effect on the quantitative analysis of the data, i.e., removing it or not leads to virtually identical estimates of τ_{so} . For devices with larger mobility, it was systematically found that the classical magneto-conductivity tends to become positive, growing in magnitude with increasing mean free path. This behavior can be understood by recalling that, while the classical magnetoconductivity is negative in the diffusive regime, it changes sign and becomes positive in a narrow channel in which the mean free path is larger than the channel width. In the crossover regime, occurring when the mean free path increases and approaches the channel width, the



Figure 3-9: Magneto-conductivity measured at high temperatures (20-30 K depending on the device) in the devices with different mean free path $(l, \text{ in } \mu\text{m})$. The width $(W, \text{ in } \mu\text{m})$ of the device is also indicated.

magnetconductivity is positive but small, growing larger for larger mean free path values. Although the devices studied here are never fully in this regime, in some cases the mean free path is as large as half the channel width (black line in Fig. 3-9).

It might appear that the positive background magneto-conductivity that was subtracted is in fact due to weak localization. The data, however, show that this is not the case. Not only is there an absence of temperature dependence in the background (see Figs. 2a-c), but also the magnitude of the measured positive magneto-conductivity typically far exceeds e^2/h (see for instance, the black curve in Fig. 3-9). Both of these features are incompatible with the weak localization interpretation. Additionally, in high-mobility devices with a long mean free path the weak localization signal should appear only in at low magnetic fields (within a few mT) when the magnetic length is longer than (or at most comparable to) the mean free path, whereas the observed positive magneto-conductivity continues to increase up to much higher magnetic field values.

Chapter 4

On-demand Spin-Orbit Interaction from Which-Layer Tunability in Bilayer Graphene

Spin-orbit interaction (SOI) that is gate-tunable over a broad range is essential to exploiting novel spin phenomena. Achieving this regime has remained elusive because of the weakness of the underlying relativistic coupling and lack of its tunability in solids. In this chapter ¹, I outline a general strategy that enables exceptionally high tunability of SOI through creating a which-layer spin-orbit field inhomogeneity in graphene multilayers. An external transverse electric field is applied to shift carriers between the layers with strong and weak SOI. Because graphene layers are separated by sub-nm scales, exceptionally high tunability of SOI can be achieved through a minute carrier displacement. A detailed analysis of the experimentally relevant case of bilayer graphene on a semiconducting transition metal dichalchogenide substrate is presented. In this system, a complete tunability of SOI amounting to its ON/OFF switching can be achieved. New opportunities for spin control are exemplified with electrically driven spin resonance and topological phases with different quantized

¹This chapter is reproduced in part with permission from J. Y. Khoo, L. S. Levitov, On-demand Spin-Orbit Interaction from Which-Layer Tunability in Bilayer Graphene, *NanoLetters* **17**, 7003-7008 Copyright (2017) by the American Chemical Society.

intrinsic valley Hall conductivities.

4.1 Tuning Spin-Orbit Interaction in Bilayer Graphene

Spin-orbit interaction (SOI), tunable on demand over a wide range of values can provide access to a wide variety of interesting spin transport phenomena. One popular strategy of achieving tunable SOI relies on directly tuning the SOI using an applied electric field. This approach proved successful in various instances such as tuning Rashba-type SOI in two-dimensional semiconducting systems[146, 147, 148, 149] and Ising-type SOI in transition metal dichalcogenides (TMDs)[76]. However, in all these cases the range of values in which SOI could be tuned has been relatively small because of the relativistic nature of SOI.

I propose graphene multilayers as a vehicle to achieve an on-demand SOI that is free from these limitations. The first step involves engineering an environment with a spatially inhomogeneous spin-orbit field[150, 151], which is e.g. high on one layer and low on the adjacent layer. In such a system, through applying transverse electric field, carriers can be shifted between layers with strong and weak SOI. This renders the SOI strength felt by these carriers strongly dependent on the which-layer charge polarization. Some aspects of this scheme resemble gate-tunable Zeeman coupling demonstrated in Ref. 152. The advantage of such an indirect approach to tuning SOI is that it disassociates the applied electric field from the spin-orbit field. The atomic scale separation between graphene layers then ensures an exceptionally high tunability that is achieved through a minute carrier displacement.

I illustrate this idea in the specific context of bilayer graphene (BLG) on a TMD substrate such as WS_2 . Implementing a strongly tunable SOI in such graphene-based systems is highly desirable due to the high mobility of carriers in graphene that is preserved by these atomically flat and chemically inert substrates[153]. In this configuration, the spatially inhomogeneous spin-orbit field simplifies to an ON/OFF which-layer field – only the layer adjacent to the TMD acquires from it an interfacially-induced Rashba SOI and Ising SOI. Our proposal builds on previous work, which



Figure 4-1: Low-energy band structure of a biased bilayer graphene (near K_+ point) with interlayer bias U = 10 meV including induced SOI $H_{\rm SO}^{\rm eff} = \frac{1}{2}g_1^{(\zeta)}\lambda s_z$ with $\lambda = 2$ meV. The color of the lines indicates the layer occupancy $g_{1,2}^{(\zeta)}$ of their corresponding eigenstates given by Eq. 4.3 in the main text. A similar situation occurs near the K_- point. Different sizes of arrows in the insets depict the difference in strength of the induced SOI experienced by carriers in layer 1 and 2 as a result of their proximity from the substrate.

established that strong interfacial SOI in the meV range can be induced in individual graphene layers[119, 154, 118, 155, 113]. As I will show, the low-energy carriers experience an effective SOI that has an enhanced gate-tunability to the extent of *complete gate-tunability*, i.e. it can be switched on and off by applying a transverse electric field of moderate strength ($\sim mV/Å$).

Furthermore, the robust high-frequency response of graphene extending up to $\sim 100 \text{ GHz}[156]$ can enable a range of novel time-dependent spin phenomena. Indeed, because applying a transverse field in BLG directly alters the wavefunctions of its carriers, gate-tunable SOI possesses full quantum coherence. Quantum-coherent tunability enables coherent manipulation of carrier spin degrees of freedom, becoming particularly interesting if the SOI Hamiltonian can be modulated on the carrier transport time scales. As an illustration of this new capability, I discuss the electric-dipole spin resonance (EDSR) that can be driven though an application of a transverse AC electric field[157]. Quantum-coherent tunability also enables direct control of the electron Bloch Hamiltonian and Bloch bands, giving access to gate-tunable Berry phase and band topology of Bloch electrons. I illustrate these new opportunities by considering BLG sandwiched between TMD layers, a system that provides gate-switching between topologically distinct phases with different values of the intrinsic valley Hall conductivity.

4.2 Which-Layer Tunability in Bilayer Graphene

The essential aspects of the which-layer approach can be illustrated by a model of a Bernal-stacked BLG in a transverse electric field, which for the sake of simplicity only accounts for the low-energy subspace of electronic states. Microscopically, the interlayer bias potential U introduces an asymmetry between the A sublattice of layer 1 and B sublattice of layer 2, denoted below as A1 and B2. Crucially, the interlayer bias breaks the layer-occupation symmetry[91]. This behavior is captured by the two-band (spin-degenerate) Hamiltonian describing the low-energy subspace,

$$H_{\rm BLG}^{2\times2} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{1}{2}U & -\frac{1}{2m}\pi^{\dagger 2} \\ -\frac{1}{2m}\pi^2 & \frac{1}{2}U \end{pmatrix}, \quad \pi = \tau_z p_x + ip_y.$$
(4.1)

Here **p** is the momentum measured relative to the K and K' points of the Brillouin zone, which I will henceforth refer to as K_+ and K_- ($\tau_z = \pm 1$) respectively, and $-\frac{1}{2}U$ and $\frac{1}{2}U$ are the potentials on layers 1 and 2. The spectrum of $H_{\text{BLG}}^{2\times 2}$ is given by

$$\varepsilon_{\zeta}(p) = \frac{\zeta}{2} \sqrt{U^2 + \frac{p^4}{m^2}}.$$
(4.2)

Here $\zeta = \pm 1$ refers to the conduction or valence band respectively, and the interlayer bias U incorporates the capacitance corrections[91]. When $U \neq 0$, the wavefunctions of electronic states are asymmetric in the layer occupancy:

$$g_{1,2}^{(\zeta)} = |\psi_{\zeta}^{A1,B2}(p)|^2 = \frac{1}{2} \mp \frac{U}{4\varepsilon_{\zeta}(p)},$$
(4.3)

where the minus and plus signs correspond to the layers 1 and 2, respectively. The extent of layer polarization for each of these states is therefore directly controlled by U. The carriers with specific layer polarization can be accessed in an energy-resolved manner through doping[158].

4.3 Interfacially-Induced Layer-Dependent SOI

Next, I discuss how a layer-dependent SOI is engineered using a proximal TMD layer, e.g. a TMD multilayer with strong SOI such as WS_2 which serves as the substrate for the BLG. We expect carriers in layer 1 (blue) that is adjacent to the TMD substrate to acquire an interfacially-induced SOI (see Fig.4-1). Carriers in non-adjacent layer 2 (red) are coupled to substrate only indirectly, through interlayer hopping. This phenomenology of interfacially-induced SOI is supported by recent studies[119, 113] on monolayer graphene (MLG) on TMD substrates with strong SOI. A simple model of MLG experiencing an enhanced SOI due to the TMD substrate can be described by a low-energy Hamiltonian

$$\delta H_{\rm MLG} = \frac{\Delta}{2}\sigma_z + \delta H_{\rm Ising} + \delta H_{\rm R}, \qquad (4.4)$$

treated as a perturbation to the MLG Hamiltonian near the K_{\pm} points. Here $\delta H_{\text{Ising}} = \frac{\lambda}{2} \tau_z s_z$ and $\delta H_{\text{R}} = \frac{\lambda_{\text{R}}}{2} (\tau_z \sigma_x s_y - \sigma_y s_x)$, where I use σ_i and s_i to denote the Pauli matrices corresponding to the A and B sublattices, and to spin degrees of freedom, respectively. The term δH_{Ising} has the form of Ising SOI and originates from the Ising SOI inherently present in the TMD substrate. The term δH_{R} has the form of Rashba SOI in graphene. The term $\frac{\Delta}{2}\sigma_z$ originates from sublattice asymmetry; it is comparatively small in practice and can be ignored in most cases.

The consequence of introducing layer-dependent SOI in BLG can be illustrated by considering a simple model in which the interfacial SOI described by δH_{MLG} only affects the carriers localized in layer 1 and is negligible for carriers localized in layer 2. To see how this modification allows for a switchable SOI, consider the limit of weak Ising SOI, $|U| \gg |\lambda|$, and with $\Delta = \lambda_{\text{R}} = 0$. To first order in perturbation theory, I neglect the influence of δH_{MLG} on the electronic states and find the spin-split lowenergy bands

$$\delta \varepsilon_{\zeta,s=\uparrow,\downarrow} = \pm \frac{\lambda}{2} \tau_z g_1^{(\zeta)}, \qquad (4.5)$$

where the energy shifts of sign plus and minus correspond to the $s = \uparrow$ and $s = \downarrow$ states respectively. The spin splitting in Eq. 4.5 is of opposite sign for different valleys, $\tau_z = \pm 1$, as required by time reversal symmetry.

Bands with different spin splitting can be accessed in a dual-gated system in which there is independent control over interlayer bias and doping: the induced SOI is turned on by hole doping and turned off by electron doping. Indeed, at small dopings, since the Fermi momentum is small, there is a correlation between which band a carrier is from and which layer of the BLG the carrier predominantly occupies. For positive interlayer bias U > 0, carriers from the conduction band are fully localized on layer 2, $g_1^{(+1)} \approx 0$, while carriers from the valence band are fully localized on layer 1, $g_1^{(-1)} \approx 1$. It follows from Eq. 4.5 that in this case the Ising SOI is only present for holes ($\delta \varepsilon_{-1,s=\uparrow,\downarrow} \approx \pm \frac{1}{2} \lambda \tau_z$) and is absent for electrons ($\delta \varepsilon_{+1,s} \approx 0$), as illustrated in Fig.4-1; the situation is reversed when U < 0 so that the Ising SOI is only present for electrons and is absent for holes (see Fig.4-2(a) and (c)). The contrast between the ON and OFF states fades away quickly as doping increases, since at large momenta the electron wavefunctions are split nearly equally between both layers (see Fig.4-2 right panel).

One interesting consequence of which-layer tunability is that the spin splitting (Eq. 4.5) acquires a dependence on the interlayer bias U. Crucially, the states in Eq. 4.5, while having opposite spin projections, have identical orbital structure. It is therefore possible to view the spin splitting in Eq. 4.5 as being due to an effective magnetic field applied transverse to the BLG plane. Because of the dependence of the layer occupancy on the interlayer bias U (Eq. 4.3), this effective B field is gate-tunable and therefore defines a new form of spin-electric coupling.

4.4 Electric-Dipole Spin Resonance

As an illustration of the new capabilities endowed on the system by such spin-electric coupling, I discuss spin resonance of an electric-dipole spin resonance (EDSR) type driven by a time-dependent gate voltage U(t). I consider an external static magnetic field of strength such that the Zeeman energy exceeds the interfacially induced spin splitting, Eq. 4.3, for the sake of simplicity taking the field to be applied parallel to the BLG plane. The carrier spin dynamics is then governed by an effective Hamiltonian

$$H_{\rm EDSR} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\rm Z} s_x + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{\lambda}(t) \tau_z s_z, \qquad (4.6)$$

where the time-dependence $\tilde{\lambda}(t) = \lambda g_1^{(\zeta)}(t)$ originates from gate-tunable Ising SOI. Here $\epsilon_{\rm Z} = g\mu_{\rm B}B$ is the Zeeman energy, $\mu_{\rm B}$ is Bohr's magneton and, without loss of generality I consider the static magnetic field applied along the x direction, $\mathbf{B} = B\hat{x}$.

To achieve EDSR, the interlayer bias U(t) should not at any point in time close

the gap between the valence and conduction bands so that the carrier orbital wavefunctions remain unchanged. Without loss of generality, I consider the case for which $\lambda > 0$ and $U(t) = U_0 + U_1 \cos \omega t$ with $U_0 > \lambda$ and $U_1 \ll U_0$. The resulting timedependent Ising SOI experienced by the conduction band carriers with momentum pvaries with time as $\tilde{\lambda}(t) \simeq \frac{\lambda p^4}{4m^2 U^2(t)}$. This time-dependent Ising SOI will thus act as an oscillating field which induces transitions between the Zeeman states $s = | \leftrightarrow \rangle$ and $s = | \rightarrow \rangle$. Consequently, EDSR is achieved by matching the frequency of the timedependent Ising SOI to the Zeeman energy, $\hbar \omega = \epsilon_Z$. Note that while the Ising SOI has opposite signs at the K_{\pm} valleys, both SOI couplings cause the spin projection on the x-axis to evolve with the same time dependence. In the absence of intervalley coupling, the effects of EDSR originating from both valleys add up constructively, resulting in doubling of the spin polarization signal.

4.5 Low-Energy Spectrum of Bilayer Graphene with Layer-Specific SOI

While the simple analysis of interfacially induced SOI presented above qualitatively captures the essential physics, it is instructive to develop a more precise and complete description of the system near the K_{\pm} points. That can be done by directly adding $\delta H_{\rm MLG}$, Eq. 4.4, to the layer-1 subspace of the BLG tight-binding Hamiltonian,

$$H_{\text{eff}} = H_{\text{BLG}} \otimes 1^{(s)} + \mathcal{P}_1 \delta H_{\text{MLG}} \mathcal{P}_1.$$
(4.7)

Here $\mathcal{P}_{i=1,2}$ is the operator that projects onto the layer-*i* subspace and $1^{(s)}$ is the 2 × 2 identity matrix of the spin degrees of freedom. The Hamiltonian H_{BLG} describes Bernal-stacked BLG, in which two MLG layers are stacked such that the B sublattice in one layer (B1) is vertically aligned with the A sublattice on the other (A2). As is well known, the strongest interlayer coupling γ_1 in this stacking configuration occurs between the B1 and A2 sites. As a result the low-energy states near the K_{\pm} points are strongly localized over the A1 and B2 sublattices, as described by the low-energy Hamiltonian considered above, Eq. 4.1. The Hamiltonian H_{eff} can be numerically solved to obtain the band structure. The four low-energy bands obtained in this way are shown in Fig.4-2 for three different values of interlayer bias U corresponding to three different phases discussed below.

To gain insight in the different regimes accessible though varying U, I derive the low-energy Hamiltonian in the A1/B2 subspace perturbatively in $\frac{1}{\gamma_1}$ (see Supporting Information). Since $[H_{\text{eff}}, s_z] = 0$ at p = 0, the quantity s_z is a good quantum number and can be used to label states and associated bands. To order $\frac{1}{\gamma_1^2}$, the energy levels at p = 0 are

$$E_{\zeta=+1,s}|_{p=0} \simeq \frac{U}{2} \quad (\text{doubly degenerate, } s=|\uparrow\rangle,|\downarrow\rangle),$$

$$E_{\zeta=-1,s}|_{p=0} \simeq -\frac{U}{2} + \frac{\Delta}{2} + \delta\lambda^* \pm \left(\frac{\lambda}{2} - \delta\lambda^*\right)\tau_z, \quad \delta\lambda^* = \frac{\lambda_{\rm R}^2}{\gamma_1^2}(U - \frac{\Delta}{2} + \frac{\lambda}{2}). \quad (4.8)$$

Here, the sign in front of the U/2 term matches the value of $\zeta = \pm 1$ introduced in Eq. 4.2. In Eq. 4.8 the plus and minus sign corresponds to the $s = |\uparrow\rangle$ and $s = |\downarrow\rangle$ states respectively. This result extends Eq. 4.5 by including the effects of sublattice asymmetry Δ and the leading correction at order $\frac{1}{\gamma_1^2}$ given by $\delta\lambda^*$. We see that the effect of Δ is to uniformly shift both $E_{-1,s}$ bands and renormalize the bias U. The quantity $\delta\lambda^*$ produces a similar effect, and can also generate a spin splitting between the $E_{-1,s}$ bands. However, so long as the values λ and λ_R are comparable, the quantity $\delta\lambda^*$, which is suppressed by a large factor $\frac{1}{\gamma_1^2}$ compared to λ , only matters as a constant energy shift to the $E_{-1,s}$ bands but not a source of spin splitting.

In this case, upon tuning interlayer bias U, the $E_{\pm 1,s}$ bands (red) shift across the $E_{-1,s}$ bands (blue) so that the system undergoes transitions from an insulator to a semi-metal and then again to an insulator state. The corresponding phase diagram is shown in Fig.4-3. At large U (Fig.4-2(a, c)), the system is insulating at charge neutrality and allows for gate-switching of Ising SOI as discussed above. The sign of U determines which charge carriers, electrons or holes, experience the effective Ising SOI. At not-too-large U values such that $\Delta - \lambda \leq 2U \leq \Delta + \lambda$, the system is semi-metallic at charge neutrality. As shown in Fig.4-2(b), in this case the $E_{\pm 1,s}$



Figure 4-2: Four lowest energy bands (left panel) and layer polarization of corresponding eigenstates (right panel) obtained from Eq. 4.7. Upon increasing U, the system first transitions from an insulating phase (a) to a semi-metallic phase (b) and then to a different insulating phase (c) that has the order of the bands inverted compared to (a); labels correspond to the phase labels in Fig.4-3. Values used are (a) U = -2 meV, (b) U = 2 meV, (c) U = 5 meV with other parameters fixed as $\Delta = 3 \text{ meV}$, $\lambda = 4 \text{ meV}$, and $\lambda_{\rm R} = 2 \text{ meV}$.

bands lie between the $E_{-1,s}$ bands so that the Ising SOI gap is partitioned between the electrons and holes: $\lambda \simeq \Delta E_e + \Delta E_h$. This partitioning can be tuned from 0% to 100% by varying U, and thus in this regime both the electron and hole spin splittings are gate-tunable, albeit in a correlated fashion.

As λ decreases to zero, its effects at p = 0 eventually become subleading compared to that of $\delta\lambda^*$ when $\lambda_{\rm R} \gg \gamma_1 \sqrt{\frac{\lambda}{U}}$. At $\lambda = 0$, we find from Eq. 4.8 that $E_{-1,s}|_{p=0} \simeq$ $-\frac{U}{2} + \frac{\Delta}{2} + \delta\lambda^*(1 \mp \tau_z)$. The term $\delta\lambda^*(1 \mp \tau_z)$ introduces a spin splitting which varies linearly with U. In practice, which contribution dominates depends on the actual values of λ and $\lambda_{\rm R}$; so far, experiments in BLG-on-WS₂ indicate that $\delta\lambda^*$ is indeed dominant with $\lambda_{\rm R} \sim 10$ meV[154].

The $\frac{1}{\gamma_1^2}$ suppression in $\delta\lambda^*$ is a consequence of the specific form of $\delta H_{\rm R} \propto \tau_z \sigma_x s_y - \sigma_y s_x$. It couples the A1/B2 polarized low-energy states to the high-energy states which are strongly A2-B1 mixed by the interlayer coupling γ_1 . At p = 0, the wave-functions of the low-energy states remain layer-polarized such that the SOI is completely tunable. However, because $\delta H_{\rm R}$ introduces a substantial interlayer mixing in the low-energy subspace that increases with p, the which-layer tunability of the SOI becomes increasingly suppressed away from the valleys as is evident in Fig.4-1.

4.6 Gate-Tuneable Topological Phase Transition

An even more interesting behavior is found when BLG is encapsulated between two TMD layers. In this case, carriers in each of the two graphene layers experience an interfacially-induced SOI from the TMD layers above and below, respectively. The low-energy effective Hamiltonian near the K_{\pm} points now reads

$$H_{\text{eff}} = H_{\text{BLG}} \otimes \mathbf{1}^{(s)} + \sum_{i=1,2} \mathcal{P}_i \delta H_{\text{MLG},i} \mathcal{P}_i, \qquad (4.9)$$

in which a layer index *i* is introduced to allow for distinct phenomenological parameters for the different layers: $\Delta_i, \lambda_i, \lambda_{\mathrm{R},i}$.

A consequence of adding $\delta H_{MLG,2}$ is to open up a gap at p = 0 between the



Figure 4-3: Phase diagram of the BLG-on-TMD system described by Eq. 4.7 at charge neutrality when $\lambda \gtrsim \lambda_{\rm R}$. Phases (a)-(c) have band structures with corresponding labels in Fig.4-2.

 $E_{\pm 1,s}$ bands. It follows that for arbitrary values of $\Delta_i, \lambda_i, \lambda_{\mathrm{R},i}$, the system at charge neutrality has up to five different insulating phases with phase transitions occurring at values of U for which the band gap at p = 0 closes. While the overall Chern number for any of these bands is guaranteed to vanish because of time reversal symmetry, the *valley* Chern number is unconstrained and can take non-zero values. In fact, the valley Chern numbers for some of the bands changes across a phase transition, such that these insulating phases are topologically distinct. This suggests that the intrinsic valley Hall conductivity at charge neutrality, $\sigma_{xy}^{\mathrm{VH}}(0)$, is a suitable quantity to distinguish these phases.

To compute $\sigma_{xy}^{\text{VH}}(0)$, I first obtain the Berry curvature of each energy band near either valley, $\Omega_{\pm}^{(n)}(\mathbf{p})$. Here I introduced a generalized index *n* that labels bands, including both the four low-energy bands (previously labeled by $\{\zeta, s\}$) as well as the other four high-energy bands that I have excluded from our discussion thus far. Because the Berry curvature is strongly peaked at the valleys, the corresponding valley Chern number $N_{\pm}^{(n)}$ can be obtained by numerically integrating $\Omega_{\pm}^{(n)}(\mathbf{p})$ over an individual valley[159]. The intrinsic valley Hall conductivity at charge neutrality is then obtained from adding up the contributions from all the filled bands, $\sigma_{xy}^{\text{VH}}(0) = \sum_{n} \left(N_{+}^{(n)} - N_{-}^{(n)} \right) \frac{e^2}{h} = 2 \sum_{n} N_{+}^{(n)} \frac{e^2}{h}$. Here I used the relation $N_{+}^{(n)} = -N_{-}^{(n)}$, valid because of time reversal symmetry.

A detailed characterization of the various phases for arbitrary values of Δ_i , λ_i , $\lambda_{\mathrm{R},i}$ lies outside the scope of this work. Here I highlight a generic aspect which can be illustrated by considering the simplest case of $\Delta_1 = \Delta_2 = 0$ (this choice of values is consistent with ab initio studies[119]), $|\lambda_i| = \lambda$, and $|\lambda_{\mathrm{R},i}| = \lambda_{\mathrm{R}}$. In this case, the system hosts two topologically distinct phases at charge neutrality – the ordinary valley Hall phase, in which $\sigma_{xy}^{\mathrm{VH}}(0) = -4\mathrm{sgn}(U)\frac{e^2}{h}$, and the anomalous valley Hall phase, in which $\sigma_{xy}^{\mathrm{VH}}(0) \neq -4\mathrm{sgn}(U)\frac{e^2}{h}$. I will denote these phases as VH0 and VH1 respectively.

A simple way to understand the VH0-VH1 phase transition is as follows. The well-studied case of dual-gated BLG in the absence of SOI, which has $\sigma_{xy}^{\text{VH}}(0) = -4\text{sgn}(U)\frac{e^2}{h}[160, 88, 161, 162, 163, 164]$, is in fact a specific example of the VH0 phase for which $\lambda = \lambda_R = 0$. The system remains in the same topological phase VH0 in the presence of relatively weak SOI, i.e. when $\lambda \leq |U|$, since the SOI-induced splitting of the low-energy bands is insufficient to cause the band gap to close at either valley. In agreement with the above picture, independent of the relative signs of λ_i and $\lambda_{\text{R},i}$, it can be shown that $\sigma_{xy}^{\text{VH0}}(0) = -4\text{sgn}(U)\frac{e^2}{h}$.

Upon tuning down the interlayer-bias U such that $|U| \leq \lambda$, the SOI starts to dominate and band inversion occurs between the low-energy bands at both valleys. The system undergoes a topological phase transition into the VH1 phase through the closing and re-opening of the band gap analogous to phase transitions in Chern and topological insulators. We therefore expect the valley Chern numbers of the lowenergy bands to change across the VH0-VH1 phase transition such that $\sigma_{xy}^{\text{VH0}}(0) \neq$ $\sigma_{xy}^{\text{VH1}}(0) = 2M\frac{e^2}{h}$, where possible values of M equal $0, \pm 1, \pm 3, ...$; the results from our preliminary studies are consistent with this expectation. Unlike $\sigma_{xy}^{\text{VH0}}(0)$, the value of $\sigma_{xy}^{\text{VH1}}(0)$ depends on the relative signs of λ_i and $\lambda_{\text{R},i}$. This dependence is, however, not yet well understood. This interplay between the induced SOI and the interlayer bias resembles the behavior for the quantum spin Hall effect in graphene[72] and the electrically tunable topological insulator[165].

In fact, this sharp change in $\sigma_{xy}^{VH}(0)$ is independent of the specifics of the induced SOI and occurs in the generic case when $|\lambda_1| \neq |\lambda_2|$ and $|\lambda_{R,1}| \neq |\lambda_{R,2}|$ as well despite there potentially being a more elaborate phase characterization scheme. This change in $\sigma_{xy}^{VH}(0)$ no longer happens at $|U| \simeq \lambda$ but at a different critical value $U_c \leq \frac{1}{2}(|\lambda_1| + |\lambda_2|)$. As the experimental study of valley-based transport is still in its infancy, these predictions therefore serve as robust experimental signatures that could be used to advance our understanding of the valley Hall effect. We find ourselves with a system whose topological nature is not completely determined by the material itself, but can instead be gate-controlled, in situ.

4.7 Chapter Summary

In summary, graphene-based heterostructures with on-demand SOI grant access to tunable topological properties. In particular, gate-controlled intrinsic valley Hall conductivity can be achieved in these systems through combining interlayer coupling, gating and various types of interfacially-induced SOI. Further, the robust broad-band response of graphene[156] turns graphene-on-TMD heterostructures into a unique platform to realize and explore novel time-dependent spin phenomena such as the electrically driven spin resonance. It can also help to extend the optoelectronics and valleytronics phenomena of current interest[77, 78, 79, 166, 167] into the time domain.

4.8 Appendix: Derivation of Low-Energy Effective Hamiltonian and Band Structure

Here I present the details of our derivation of the low-energy effective Hamiltonian of the BLG-on-TMD system. Let us first consider the tight-binding Hamiltonian of the (spin-degenerate) bernal-stacked BLG near the K_{\pm} points. This is given by [80]

$$H_{BLG} = \begin{pmatrix} \epsilon_{A1} & v\pi^{\dagger} & -v_{4}\pi^{\dagger} & v_{3}\pi \\ v\pi & \epsilon_{B1} & \gamma_{1} & -v_{4}\pi^{\dagger} \\ -v_{4}\pi & \gamma_{1} & \epsilon_{A2} & v\pi^{\dagger} \\ v_{3}\pi^{\dagger} & -v_{4}\pi & v\pi & \epsilon_{B2} \end{pmatrix},$$
(4.10)

where γ_1 is the interlayer (A2-B1) hopping, v is the MLG band velocity, v_3 is the velocity associated with trigonal warping and v_4 the velocity associated with skew interlayer coupling. $\epsilon_{\alpha i}$ is the on-site energy for sublattice $\alpha = A, B$ and on layer i = 1, 2. Note that H_{BLG} is expressed in the (A1, B1, A2, B2) basis. For simplicity, I have neglected the terms associated with v_3 and v_4 and consider the case with no intrinsic sublattice asymmetry so that $\epsilon_{\alpha i} = \epsilon_i$ with $U = \epsilon_2 - \epsilon_1$. I use this simplified form of H_{BLG} in H_{eff} defined by Eq. 4.7.

Since we are only interested in the 4 low-energy bands which have energy scales much smaller than γ_1 , i.e. $|\gamma_1| \gg |E|, |\lambda|, |\lambda_R|, |U|, |\Delta|$, we can project H_{eff} to the low-energy subspace and obtain a low-energy effective Hamiltonian for our system. To proceed, we first rewrite it as $H_{\text{eff}} = H_{\gamma_1} + H'$, with

$$H_{\gamma_1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \gamma_1 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma_1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \otimes \mathbf{1}_2^{(s)},$$
(4.11)

and re-express it in the basis that diagonalizes H_{γ_1} :

In this basis, we can label each eigenstate by a quantum number $m = 0, \pm 1$ such

that $\tilde{H}_{\gamma_1}|m\rangle = m\gamma_1|m\rangle$. The low-energy subspace that we are interested in is spanned by the m = 0 eigenstates. We can then decompose \tilde{H}' as

$$\tilde{H}' = T_0 + T_1 + T_{-1} + T_2 + T_{-2}, \tag{4.13}$$

where the operators (Unitary but not necessarily Hermitian) $T_i = T_{-i}^{\dagger}$ can be understood as ladder operators $-T_i |m\rangle \propto |m+i\rangle$ – and are given by

where $w_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} (\pm \Delta \mathbf{1}_{2}^{(s)} + \lambda \tau_{z} s_{z}), a_{R} = \frac{1}{2} \lambda_{R} (\tau_{z} s_{y} - i s_{x}).$

With this framework in place, let us proceed with the Brillouin-Wigner method outlined in Section IV of Ref. 82 to obtain the effective Hamiltonian to arbitrary orders in $\frac{\Lambda}{\gamma_1}$, where Λ refers to any energy scale set by the other parameters (including vp). In this expansion scheme, at second order, I recover the usual spin degenerate effective 2-band BLG Hamiltonian $H_{\text{BLG}}^{2\times2}$. The correction due to SOI at the same order ($H_{\text{SO},1}^{4\times4}$) is off-diagonal, the energy corrections of which only enter at the next order. To consistently account for the energy corrections to the $H_{\text{BLG}}^{2\times2}$ spectrum, I therefore go to third order in the expansion scheme and obtain

$$\begin{aligned} H_{\text{eff}}^{4\times4} &\approx H_{\text{BLG}}^{2\times2} \otimes \mathbf{1}_{2}^{(s)} + H_{\text{SO},0}^{4\times4} + H_{\text{SO},1}^{4\times4} + H_{\text{SO},2}^{4\times4} \\ &+ \gamma_{1}O\left(\frac{\Lambda}{\gamma_{1}}\right)^{4}, \text{ with } \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} H_{\text{BLG}}^{2\times2} &\equiv \left(\begin{array}{c} -\frac{1}{2}U & -\frac{1}{\gamma_{1}}\left(v\pi^{\dagger}\right)^{2} \\ -\frac{1}{\gamma_{1}}\left(v\pi\right)^{2} & \frac{1}{2}U \end{array}\right), \\ H_{\text{SO},0}^{4\times4} &\equiv \left(\begin{array}{c} w_{+} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{array}\right), \quad H_{\text{SO},1}^{4\times4} &\equiv -\frac{1}{\gamma_{1}}\left(\begin{array}{c} 0 & v\pi^{\dagger}a_{R}^{\dagger} \\ v\pi a_{R} & 0 \end{array}\right), \quad H_{\text{SO},2}^{4\times4} &\equiv \frac{1}{2}\gamma_{1}^{2}\left(\begin{array}{c} A & 0 \\ 0 & B \end{array}\right), \\ A &\equiv \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{R}^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{2}^{(s)} - \tau_{z}s_{z})(2U - \Delta + \lambda) + (2U - \Delta)v\lambda_{R}(p_{x}s_{y} - p_{y}s_{x}) + 2(U\mathbf{1}_{2}^{(s)} - w_{+})v^{2}p^{2}, \\ B &\equiv 2(-U\mathbf{1}_{2}^{(s)} + w_{-})v^{2}p^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

Here, I have explicitly separated the resulting effective Hamiltonian to the usual spin degenerate effective 2-band BLG Hamiltonian $H_{\rm BLG}^{2\times2}$ and the corrections due to substrate induced SOI $H_{\rm SO,\;j=0,1,2}^{4\times4}$. These corrections are further organized into powers of γ_1^{-1} , so that the $(j-1)^{th}$ order correction $H_{\rm SO,\;j-1}^{4\times4} \propto \gamma_1^{-j+1}$.

Solving for the eigenvalues of $H_{\text{eff}}^{4\times4}$ perturbatively, I obtain the low-energy band structure to order $O\left(\frac{\Lambda^3}{\gamma_1^2}\right)$ for $\tau_z = 1$:

$$\begin{split} E_{+1,|\uparrow\rangle} &= \frac{U}{2} + \frac{v^2 p^2}{\gamma_1^2} \left(-U - \frac{\Delta}{2} + \frac{\lambda}{2} + \frac{2\lambda_R^2}{2U - \Delta + \lambda} + \frac{2v^2 p^2}{2U - \Delta - \lambda} \right) + O\left(\frac{\Lambda^4}{\gamma_1^3}\right), \\ E_{+1,|\downarrow\rangle} &= \frac{U}{2} + \frac{v^2 p^2}{\gamma_1^2} \left(-U - \frac{\Delta}{2} - \frac{\lambda}{2} + \frac{2\lambda_R^2}{2U - \Delta - \lambda} + \frac{2v^2 p^2}{2U - \Delta + \lambda} \right) + O\left(\frac{\Lambda^4}{\gamma_1^3}\right), \\ E_{-1,|\uparrow\rangle} &= -\frac{U}{2} + \frac{\Delta + \lambda}{2} + \frac{v^2 p^2}{\gamma_1^2} \left(U - \frac{\Delta}{2} - \frac{\lambda}{2} - \frac{2\lambda_R^2 + 2v^2 p^2}{2U - \Delta - \lambda} \right) + O\left(\frac{\Lambda^4}{\gamma_1^3}\right), \\ E_{-1,|\downarrow\rangle} &= -\frac{U}{2} + \frac{\Delta - \lambda}{2} + \frac{1}{\gamma_1^2} \left\{ \lambda_R^2 \left(U - \frac{\Delta}{2} + \frac{\lambda}{2} \right) \right\} \\ &+ v^2 p^2 \left(U - \frac{\Delta}{2} + \frac{\lambda}{2} - \frac{2\lambda_R^2}{2U - \Delta + \lambda} \right) - v^4 p^4 \left(\frac{2}{2U - \Delta + \lambda} \right) \right\} + O\left(\frac{\Lambda^4}{\gamma_1^3}\right). \end{split}$$

$$(4.16)$$

~

Chapter 5

Tunable Quantum Hall Edge Conduction in Bilayer Graphene through Spin-Orbit Interaction

In this chapter ¹, I solve for the single-particle Landau levels of bilayer graphene with layer-specific spin-orbit interaction (SOI) to highlight its deviation from the established Landau level spectrum of bilayer graphene. Bilayer graphene, in the presence of a one-sided spin-orbit interaction (SOI) induced by a suitably chosen substrate, is predicted to exhibit unconventional Quantum Hall states. The new states arise because the one-sided SOI creates a strong splitting of the eight zeroth Landau levels, which are strongly layer-polarized, residing fully or partially on one of the two graphene layers. In particular, an Ising SOI in the meV scale is sufficient to invert the Landau level order between the n = 0 and n = 1 orbital levels under moderately weak magnetic fields $B \leq 10$ T. Furthermore, when the Ising field opposes the *B* field, the order of the spin-polarized levels can also be inverted. We show that, under these conditions, three different compensated electron-hole phases can occur at $\nu = 0$ filling, in which equal concentrations of electrons and holes are present. The

¹This chapter is reproduced with permission from J. Y. Khoo, L. S. Levitov, Tunable Quantum Hall Edge Conduction in Graphene Bilayer through Spin-Orbit Interaction, submitted for publication in *Physical Review B*.

three phases have distinct edge conductivity values. One of the phases is especially interesting, since its edge conduction can be turned on and off by switching the sign of the interlayer bias.

5.1 Absence of Spin-Orbit Interaction (SOI) in Graphene Landau Levels (LLs)

The effect of spin-orbit interaction (SOI) on the Landau levels (LLs) in graphene has been largely unexplored experimentally. The main obstacle has been the extreme weakness of the intrinsic SOI, corresponding to spin splittings as small as 1 to 100 μ eV in graphene monolayer [92, 5, 97] and bilayer [100, 101, 102]. Consequently, the SOI splitting is smaller than the Zeeman splitting $E_Z \sim 0.1B(T)$ meV even when magnetic fields B are relatively weak. However, the situation has changed with the advent of graphene-based heterostructures. An SOI of 1 to 10 meV has been interfaciallyinduced in graphene by transition-metal dichalcogenide substrates with strong SOI such as MoS₂, MoSe₂, WS₂ and WSe₂ [154, 119, 118, 168, 169, 170, 171] while an SOI of \leq 100 meV was achieved at the graphene-Ni interface by introducing Au intercalation [172]. These developments have therefore opened the door to realizing SOI-based phenomena in graphene.

It is particularly interesting to study how the LLs of (Bernal-stacked) bilayer graphene are modified by interfacially-induced SOI. Apart from having spin and valley degrees of freedom, the low-energy carriers in bilayer graphene are sensitive to the potential difference between the two graphene layers. These properties collectively give rise to a gate-tunable single-particle LL spectrum [173, 174]. By including the effects of electron-electron interactions, we obtain a very rich phase diagram which hosts gate-tunable phase transitions [175, 176, 177] and can be directly probed by experiments [63, 56, 64]. This gate-tunability is therefore expected to provide a means to probe the effects of interfacially-induced SOI on the LLs.

5.2 Zeroth LLs of Bilayer Graphene with Layer-Specific SOI

In our discussion, special attention will be given to the zeroth LLs of bilayer graphene, the set of eight-fold nearly degenerate lowest energy bands. The states of the zeroth LLs belonging to different valleys are strongly localized on different layers. This has two consequences. First, the valley degeneracy can be lifted by introducing layerasymmetry to the system [174]. This can be achieved by applying an interlayer bias or by constructing an inversion-asymmetric heterostructure. Second, layer asymmetric effects will be most noticeable in the zeroth LLs. Motivated by these observations, and in departure from previous treatments which considered SOI of equal strength for both layers [178, 179], we shall focus on the case of bilayer graphene with a *layer-specific* SOI. Recent experimental progress has led to a better understanding of the bilayer graphene zeroth LLs at various integer [59, 55, 61, 64, 56] and fractional fillings [62, 63, 64], as well as to the recently demonstrated artificial SOI enhancement in graphene [154, 119, 118, 168, 169, 170, 171, 172]. We thus find ourselves in the opportune moment to investigate the novel valley-asymmetric effects on the zeroth LLs due to substrate-induced SOI.

To this end, here we analyze the single-particle LL spectrum of bilayer graphene with a layer-specific SOI of both the Ising and Rashba types. We highlight several interesting features that arise already at the non-interacting level. Some of these features are expected to remain robust in the presence of interactions. In particular, an Ising SOI λ at the meV scale is strong enough to significantly change the zeroth LL spectrum. In contrast, Rashba SOI is of an off-diagonal character, and thus its effect is small even at values as large as $\lambda_{\rm R} \sim 15$ meV. As a result, the energy ordering of the zeroth LL states is essentially determined by the competition between the layerasymmetric Ising splitting and the Zeeman as well as orbital splittings. In particular, the orbital and spin order inversions occur at relatively weak and moderate *B* field values, respectively, as we discuss in detail below.

We predict three compensated electron-hole phases in this system, one of which is



Figure 5-1: Edge state configurations for a) para-phase, b) ortho/para-phase and c) ortho-phase. Edge conduction is reduced due to backscattering between the counter-propagating modes with equal spin polarization. Backscattering between the modes with opposite spins cannot occur because of the orthogonality of the spin wavefunctions, leading to quantized edge conduction. In the phase b), spin polarization of one of the edge modes can be reversed by a transverse electric field, giving rise to a switchable edge conduction.

a conventional phase, whereas the other two phases arise due to the layer-asymmetric nature of the Ising SOI. These three phases occur at the $\nu = 0$ filling and when the interlayer bias u is moderately large so that one layer becomes electron-doped while the other becomes hole-doped by the same amount. In the absence of SOI, there is only one compensated electron-hole phase at $\nu = 0$, which is expected to host helical edge modes with opposite chiralities and spin polarizations in each layer [56]. Spin wavefunctions of these edge modes are orthogonal, forbidding interlayer tunneling processes, and thereby protecting the edge states from backscattering. The expected edge conductance in this phase is therefore $2e^2/h$ [180].

Introducing a layer-specific Ising SOI can invert the energy ordering of the spinpolarized zeroth LLs set by the Zeeman splitting. This inversion occurs only within the zeroth LLs of the corresponding valley, and therefore requires that the Ising splitting at that valley be opposite in sign to the Zeeman splitting, and dominate over it. In this case, the corresponding compensated electron-hole phase will have helical edge modes with the same spin polarization. Backscattering processes are now allowed, so that the edge conductivity of this new compensated electron-hole phase is expected to be suppressed compared to the $2e^2/h$ value.

Increasing B eventually restores the energy ordering so that we recover the com-

pensated electron-hole phase equivalent to that in the system without SOI. However, the magnitude of Ising splitting is somewhat larger for the more strongly layerpolarized n = 0 LLs as compared to the n = 1 LLs. As a result, in the presence of moderately large B fields only the ordering between the n = 1 spin-polarized levels is restored while that of the n = 0 remains inverted. Therefore, the transition between the two phases, which are dominated by the spin-orbital and Zeeman interactions, occurs via a third intermediate phase. This intermediate phase has edge modes with the same spin polarization for positive interlayer bias, but with opposite spin polarization for negative interlayer bias.

There are therefore a total of three different compensated electron-hole phases distinguished by whether their edge modes have the same or opposite spin polarizations for the cases of positive and negative interlayer bias, as illustrated in Fig.5-1. The intermediate phase is particularly interesting because it hosts an edge conductivity that can be turned on or off by switching the sign of the interlayer bias.

5.3 Low-Energy Effective Hamiltonian

The low-energy states of bilayer graphene near the Dirac points (the K_+ and K_- valleys) can be modeled by an effective Hamiltonian, expressed in the (A1, B1, A2, B2) basis as [80, 56?]

$$H_{0}^{B=0} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{u}{2} & v_{0}\pi^{\dagger} & -v_{4}\pi^{\dagger} & 0\\ v_{0}\pi & \frac{u}{2} + \Delta' & \gamma_{1} & -v_{4}\pi^{\dagger}\\ -v_{4}\pi & \gamma_{1} & -\frac{u}{2} + \Delta' & v_{0}\pi^{\dagger}\\ 0 & -v_{4}\pi & v_{0}\pi & -\frac{u}{2} \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.1)
$$\pi = \hbar(\xi k_{x} + ik_{y}), \quad \pi^{\dagger} = \hbar(\xi k_{x} - ik_{y}), \quad v_{0,4} = \frac{\sqrt{3}a}{2\hbar}\gamma_{0,4}.$$

Here, a = 2.46 Å is the monolayer graphene lattice constant, the sign factor $\xi = \pm 1$ serves as the valley index corresponding to the valley wavevectors $\mathbf{K}_{\pm} = (\pm \frac{4\pi}{3a}, 0)$. The wavevector $\mathbf{k} = (k_x, k_y)$ is measured relative to \mathbf{K}_{\pm} . The hopping parameters are denoted by: $\gamma_0 = 2.61 \text{ eV}$ for the intralayer nearest neighbor hopping, $\gamma_1 = 0.361 \text{ eV}$ for the interlayer coupling between orbitals on the dimer sites B1 and A2, and $\gamma_4 = 0.138 \text{ eV}$ for the interlayer coupling between dimer and non-dimer orbitals A1 and A2 or B1 and B2. The parameter $\Delta' = 0.015 \text{ eV}$ describes the energy difference between dimer and non-dimer sites. The interlayer bias is given by $u = V_2 - V_1$ where V_i is the potential on layer i = 1, 2.

We model the interfacially-induced SOI by introducing a layer-specific spin-orbit Hamiltonian to the monolayer subspace of the system [181], described by the components A1 and B1 of Eq.(5.1):

$$\delta H_{SO}^{(1)} = \delta H_{\text{Ising}} + \delta H_{\text{R}}, \qquad (5.2)$$

$$\delta H_{\text{Ising}} = \frac{\lambda}{2} \xi s_z, \quad \delta H_{\text{R}} = \frac{\lambda_{\text{R}}}{2} (\xi \sigma_x s_y - \sigma_y s_x),$$

where s_i and σ_i are the Pauli matrices corresponding to the spin and A/B sublattice degrees of freedom respectively. Under time reversal, the spin variables s_i , as well as the valley index ξ , change sign, whereas the sublattices A and B are not interchanged. The SOI Hamiltonian, Eq.(5.2), is therefore invariant under time reversal. However, it is not invariant under inversion.

Indeed, our interfacial SOI interaction is distinct in its symmetry properties from the intrinsic SOI for graphene monolayer analyzed by Kane and Mele [?]. Both of the SOI terms in Eq.(5.2) are extrinsic, i.e. they are allowed by symmetry only because of the presence of the transition metal dichalcogenide substrate [182]. In particular, the Ising term δH_{Ising} is of the same form as the intrinsic Ising SOI of transition metal dichalcogenides with broken inversion symmetry [??]. Thus, the interfacial SOI induced in the graphene monolayer (and hence in the bilayer) also breaks the inversion symmetry. Likewise, the term δH_{R} , which has the standard lowenergy form of Rashba SOI in graphene subject to a transverse electric field at the substrate/graphene interface [?], also breaks the inversion symmetry.

We neglect the small intrinsic SOI terms of bilayer graphene, as well as Rashba SOI terms generated by the transverse electric field due to the interlayer potential between
the graphene layers. Spin splittings due to these effects have been estimated to be in the range of 1 to 100 μ eV [100, 101, 102], which are much smaller than those arising from the interfacially-induced SOI in the meV range [154, 119, 118, 168, 169, 170, 171].

We introduce a perpendicular magnetic field $\mathbf{B} = B\hat{z}$ via the usual replacement of k_i with $q_i = k_i - \frac{e}{\hbar}A_i$ (i = x, y) where $\mathbf{A} = (A_x, A_y)$ is the vector potential, $\mathbf{B} = \nabla \times \mathbf{A}$. We construct the magnetic ladder operators,

$$\widehat{a} = \frac{l_B}{\sqrt{2}}(q_x + iq_y), \quad \widehat{a}^{\dagger} = \frac{l_B}{\sqrt{2}}(q_x - iq_y),$$
(5.3)

which satisfy $[\hat{a}, \hat{a}^{\dagger}] = 1$, where $l_B = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{eB}}$ is the magnetic length. Substituting these quantities into the full Hamiltonian $H = H_0^B + \delta H_{SO}^{(1)}$ of the system, we perform matrix diagonalization to solve for the LLs (see Section 5.11 for detailed derivation of the zero Landau levels of bilayer graphene with layer-specific spin-orbit interaction).

In particular, the eigenstates of H corresponding to the zeroth LLs are well parameterized by $|\xi ns_z\rangle$,

$$H|\xi ns_z\rangle = E_{\xi,n,s_z}|\xi ns_z\rangle \tag{5.4}$$

Here $\xi = \pm 1$ is the valley index, n = 0, 1 is the orbital LL index, and $s_z = \pm 1$ is the out-of-plane spin polarization. To leading order in $u/\hbar\omega_c$, where ω_c is the cyclotron frequency, the corresponding single-particle energies are

$$E_{\xi,n,s_z} \simeq -E_Z s_z + n\Delta_{10} + \frac{u}{2} \alpha_{\xi,n,s_z} + \xi \frac{\lambda}{2} \zeta_{1,\xi,n}, \qquad (5.5)$$
$$\Delta_{10} \approx \hbar \omega_c \left(\frac{\Delta'}{\gamma_1} + 2\frac{\gamma_4}{\gamma_0}\right), \quad \hbar \omega_c = \frac{3a^2 \gamma_0^2}{2l_B^2 \gamma_1},$$

where $E_Z = \mu_B B$ is the Zeeman splitting, α_{ξ,n,s_z} is the layer polarization, $\zeta_{1,\xi,n}$ is the spin polarization on layer 1 and Δ_{10} is the orbital splitting. These leading order energy corrections already account for most of the features given by the exact solutions, which are shown in Fig. 5-2 and Fig. 5-5 for typical values of λ , λ_R and selected values of B. The effects of the layer-specific SOI can be understood by contrasting Fig. 5-2 and Fig. 5-5(b) to Fig. 5-5(a), which shows the zeroth LL spectrum in the absence



Figure 5-2: Single-particle zeroth LL spectrum (including Zeeman splitting) as a function of interlayer bias u for $\lambda = \lambda_{\rm R} = 5 \,{\rm meV}$ at a) $B = 5 \,{\rm T}$, b) $B = 10 \,{\rm T}$, c) $B = 20 \,{\rm T}$, d) $B = 31 \,{\rm T}$. Different colors and linestyles are used to differentiate different LLs in each panel. The levels are labeled in a) by $|\xi n s_z\rangle$, the notation defined in Eq.(5.4). A reversal of the order of the levels $|+0\uparrow\rangle$ (black solid line) and $|+1\downarrow\rangle$ (blue solid line) occurs with increasing magnetic field, with the transition taking place at $B \approx 10 \,{\rm T}$ shown in b).

of SOI ($\lambda = \lambda_{\rm R} = 0$). In what follows, we discuss some of these effects and their implications.

5.4 Effects of Layer-Specific Ising SOI

As we will see, the SOI-induced changes to the zeroth LL spectrum arise mainly due to the Ising SOI λ . This is illustrated by comparing the zeroth LL spectrum for $\lambda = \lambda_{\rm R} = 5 \text{ meV}$ and B = 5 T, shown in Fig. 5-2(a), to Fig. 5-5(b), which shows the changes in the spectrum solely due to the $\lambda_{\rm R}$ coupling for the same *B* field strength as in Fig. 5-2(a). In comparison to the Ising SOI, the effect of the Rashba SOI $\lambda_{\rm R}$ on the zeroth LLs is negligible and will not play a significant role in our analysis. A more detailed discussion of the reasons that effects due to $\lambda_{\rm R}$ are small can be found below (see the penultimate paragraph).

The Ising term λ generates a valley-antisymmetric Zeeman-like splitting with opposite signs at the two valleys. Depending on the relative sign between λ and B at a given valley, this Ising field induces a splitting that either assists or counteracts the Zeeman splitting for a given valley. Importantly, because this Ising field is layerspecific, its splitting is directly proportional to the layer-1 polarisation of the state. For the zeroth LL states, the valley polarization is essentially in one-to-one correspondence with the layer polarization of the state. Consequently, the layer-specific Ising field influences the zeroth LLs in a valley-asymmetric fashion, whereby it only modifies the spectrum of the LL states in the K_+ valley (in our convention) and not those in the K_- valley.

5.5 Inverted Orbital Ordering

The most noticeable feature seen in Fig. 5-2 is the evolution of the $|+0\uparrow\rangle$ (black solid line) and $|+1\downarrow\rangle$ (blue solid line) energy levels with increasing *B* field from 5 T in Fig. 5-2(a) to 31 T in Fig. 5-2(d). From Eq. (5.5), we see that this is a direct consequence of the competition between the orbital splitting Δ_{10} and the Ising splitting λ . When the Ising splitting dominates in relatively weak *B* fields, it changes the ordering between the more energetic n = 0 and less energetic n = 1 states in the K_+ valley. Consequently, at filling level $\nu = 2$, one of the n = 0 and n = 1 states are filled instead of both n = 0 states.

The onset of this inverted orbital ordering depends on the relative orientation between the Ising field and the external *B* field. This inversion occurs when $\delta E_{\lambda\Delta}^{\pm} < 0$,

$$\delta E_{\lambda\Delta}^+ = E_{+1\downarrow} - E_{+0\uparrow}, \quad \lambda > 0, \tag{5.6}$$

$$\delta E_{\lambda\Delta}^{-} = E_{+1\uparrow} - E_{+0\downarrow}, \quad \lambda < 0.$$
(5.7)

which at u = 0 is approximately given by,

$$\begin{aligned} |\lambda| \gtrsim & \Delta_{10} + \operatorname{sgn}(\lambda) 2E_Z \end{aligned} \tag{5.8} \\ \simeq & \begin{cases} (0.381 + 0.116)B(T) \text{ meV}, & \lambda > 0\\ (0.381 - 0.116)B(T) \text{ meV}, & \lambda < 0 \end{cases}, \end{aligned}$$

so that it occurs over a larger range of B when the Ising and magnetic fields are aligned ($\lambda < 0$) than when they are anti-aligned ($\lambda > 0$).

In Fig. 5-3, we include the effects of the interlayer bias u and map out the phase diagrams for several values of $\lambda = \pm 1, \pm 3, \pm 5$ meV. This serves to assist visualizing the region in the three-dimensional (u, B, λ) phase space in which orbital inversion occurs, i.e. when $\delta E_{\lambda\Delta}^{\pm} < 0$ is satisfied. For $\lambda > 0$, the ordering inversion occurs between $|+1 \downarrow\rangle$ and $|+0 \uparrow\rangle$ while for $\lambda < 0$, ordering inversion occurs between $|+1 \uparrow\rangle$ and $|+0 \downarrow\rangle$. The occurrence of inverted orbital ordering at the non-interacting level will likely lead to novel phases near the $\nu = 2$ filling when interaction effects are included.

In particular, two observations can be made from Fig.5-3. First, the region in the B - u phase space with orbital ordering inversion increases with the magnitude of λ . Second, these inversion regions are larger for $\lambda < 0$ than for $\lambda > 0$ of the same magnitude. These observations are consistent with what we have discussed above and are accounted for by Eq. (5.8).

5.6 Novel Compensated Electron-Hole Phases

Another interesting feature occurs at larger B fields when orbital ordering of energy levels is restored. The occurrence of this feature also requires that the Ising splitting opposes the Zeeman splitting. Applying a moderately large interlayer potential |u|dopes one layer into the electron band and the other into the hole band [180]. Three different compensated electron-hole phases exist as a result of the competition between the Ising splitting and Zeeman splitting, which we denote as para-phase, ortho-phase and ortho/para-phase. They are characterized by the alignment between the spinpolarization of their respective edge modes under positive and negative interlayer bias



Figure 5-3: Phase diagrams in the *B*-*u* plane showing how the regions of normal and inverted orbital ordering change with the Ising SOI λ magnitude and sign. The panels a), b) and c) correspond to $\lambda > 0$ and normal/inverted ordering refers to the ordering between the levels $|+1 \downarrow\rangle$ and $|+0\uparrow\rangle$: a) $\lambda = 5 \text{ meV}$, b) $\lambda = 3 \text{ meV}$, c) $\lambda = 1 \text{ meV}$. The panels d), e) and f) correspond to $\lambda < 0$ and normal/inverted ordering refers to the ordering between the levels $|+1\uparrow\rangle$ and $|+0\downarrow\rangle$ (see Eq.(5.4) for notation): d) $\lambda = -5 \text{ meV}$, e) $\lambda = -3 \text{ meV}$, f) $\lambda = -1 \text{ meV}$. Dashed lines indicate the phase boundary along which $\delta E_{\lambda\Delta}^+ = 0$ [panels a)-c)], and $\delta E_{\lambda\Delta}^- = 0$ [panels d)-f)]. The energy difference $\delta E_{\lambda\Delta}^+$ (in meV) is indicated in Fig. 5-2(c).

u (see Fig. 5-1):

Para-phase:
$$\begin{cases} |electron,\uparrow\rangle \otimes |hole,\downarrow\rangle, & u > 0\\ |electron,\uparrow\rangle \otimes |hole,\downarrow\rangle, & u < 0 \end{cases}$$
Ortho-phase:
$$\begin{cases} |electron,\uparrow\rangle \otimes |hole,\uparrow\rangle, & u > 0\\ |electron,\downarrow\rangle \otimes |hole,\downarrow\rangle, & u < 0 \end{cases}$$
Ortho/para-phase:
$$\begin{cases} |electron,\uparrow\rangle \otimes |hole,\uparrow\rangle, & u > 0\\ |electron,\uparrow\rangle \otimes |hole,\downarrow\rangle, & u < 0 \end{cases}$$
(5.9)

When the Ising field is absent or when the Zeeman splitting dominates, the com-

pensated electron-hole phase is in the para-phase, which corresponds to 'phase III' in Ref. [56]. In this phase, the filled hole and electron bands residing on opposite layers have opposite spin-polarization. When the substrate-induced Ising splitting dominates ($\lambda \gg 2E_Z \simeq 0.116B(T)$ meV), the ordering of the spin-polarized states localized on the layer nearer to the substrate is now reversed. The corresponding compensated electron-hole phase is in the ortho-phase, in which case the filled electron band has the same spin-orientation as the filled hole band.

Unlike the para-phase, the ortho-phase is overall spin-neutral. In addition, having filled electron and hole bands with the same spin polarization means that their corresponding helical edge modes do not have protection from backscattering, unlike those of the para-phase. The edge conductivity of the ortho-phase is therefore expected to be strongly suppressed compared to that of the para-phase.

The mixed ortho/para-phase occurs at moderate B fields when the Ising and Zeeman splittings are comparable. Because the $|+0s_z\rangle$ states are more strongly polarized on layer 1, they experience a stronger substrate-induced Ising field compared to the $|+1s_z\rangle$ states. The Ising splitting between the $|+0s_z\rangle$ states is therefore slightly larger than that between the $|+1s_z\rangle$ states, so that they do not necessarily have the same spin ordering for a given value of B. This can be seen from the larger spin splitting between the $|+0s_z\rangle$ states compared to that between the $|+1s_z\rangle$ states in Fig. 5-2(d). Consequently, the para-phase to ortho-phase transition occurs at different values of B when u > 0 and when u < 0. To describe this ordering, we define the following parameters

$$\delta E_{\lambda B}^{+} = E_{+0\downarrow} - E_{+0\uparrow}, \quad u > 0, \qquad (5.10)$$

$$\delta E_{\lambda B}^{-} = E_{+1\downarrow} - E_{+1\uparrow}, \quad u < 0.$$

The conditions for the different phases are then given by

Para-phase:
$$\delta E_{\lambda B}^{+} > 0$$
, $\delta E_{\lambda B}^{-} > 0$,
Ortho-phase: $\delta E_{\lambda B}^{+} < 0$, $\delta E_{\lambda B}^{-} < 0$,
Ortho/para-phase: $\delta E_{\lambda B}^{+} < 0$, $\delta E_{\lambda B}^{-} > 0$. (5.11)

The orbital splitting gives rise to a mixed ortho/para-phase in the $\lambda - B$ plane (see Fig. 5-4), in which the system can be thought of as being in the ortho-phase for u > 0 and being in the para-phase for u < 0. This mixed phase is particularly interesting because its edge conductivity can be switched on or off via switching the sign of the interlayer bias u.



Figure 5-4: Phase diagram in the $\lambda - B$ plane, showing the different regions in which the system is found in one of the three different compensated electron-hole phases: the para-phase, the ortho-phase, and the ortho/para-phase. The notation for the energy differences $\delta E_{\lambda B}^{\pm}$ is given in Eq.(5.10).

5.7 Effects of Electron-Electron Interactions

While interaction effects are not included in this work, we expect the above discussion to remain qualitatively unchanged for $B \gtrsim 15 \,\mathrm{T}$. To understand why it is so, let us consider the $\lambda = 0$ case, in which the compensated electron-hole phase only exists in the para-phase (phase III in Ref. [56]). The $\nu = 0$ phase diagram mapped out in Ref. [56] suggests that the net effect of electron-electron interactions is to reduce the single-particle orbital splitting $\Delta_{10} \propto B$ which stabilizes the compensated electron-hole phase. In weak B fields, orbital splitting is unable to overcome the interaction energy between the filled LLs on the same layer. In this case, the total energy of the system is minimized by one of two phases depending on the potential difference between the two layers. The ground state is in the layer-unpolarized canted antiferromagnetic phase (phase I in Ref. [56]) when the potential on both layers are comparable. Otherwise, when the potential on one layer is much larger than the other, the ground state is in the completely layer-polarized, spin-neutral phase (phase II in Ref. [56]). The compensated electron-hole phase does not exist as a ground state of the system in weak B fields. On the other hand, when $B \gtrsim 15 \,\mathrm{T}$, Δ_{10} is sufficiently large and can exceed the interaction energy between the filled LLs on the same layer. In this case, the physics is qualitatively captured by the single-particle picture. At moderately large values of u, the energy of the $|-1\uparrow\rangle$ state becomes lower than that of the $|+0\downarrow\rangle$ state (see Fig.5-5(a)). The total energy of the system is therefore minimized by filling three LLs on one layer and one LL on the other -i.e. the compensated electron-hole phase.

The novel phases, ortho and ortho/para, predicted in this work, arise due to the competition between the Zeeman splitting and the layer-specific Ising SOI splitting. This competition gives rise to the normal and inverted spin-ordering between LLs of the same orbital number n and is therefore independent of the orbital splitting. We therefore do not expect the electron-electron interactions to have a big effect on the spin ordering, since they mainly affect the orbital splitting and, through that, may alter the effective interlayer potential. This effect, however, will have no direct

impact on the competition between the SOI and Zeeman interactions that govern spin ordering. Therefore, so long as $B \gtrsim 15$ T, the $\nu = 0$ ground state of the interacting system will be found in one of the three compensated electron-hole phases. This means that for an Ising field strength of $\lambda \gtrsim 2$ meV, all three phases are expected to be accessible even when the interaction effects are included, since the transitions between the different phases occur at $B \gtrsim 15$ (see Fig. 5-4).

Following this reasoning, we expect that for these moderately large values of B, the $\nu = 0$ layer-unpolarized canted antiferromagnetic phase discussed in Ref. [56] is likely to remain unchanged in the presence of a strong SOI substrate. However, this also means that the $\nu = 0$ phase diagram may change at weaker B fields because of the inverted orbital ordering (see Fig. 5-3). A more detailed study including interaction effects is required to map out the phase diagram in this regime.

5.8 Conductances of Novel Phases

An immediate consequence of these three different phases is the difference between their two-terminal conductances G. The para-phase conductance, as discussed earlier, is expected to take a quantized value $G_{\text{para}} = 2e^2/h$ for both positive and negative values of u (each edge contributes e^2/h in parallel). For the ortho-phase, backscattering between the counterpropagating edge states is allowed. This causes the two terminal conductance to decay exponentially from $2e^2/h$ to 0 as the sample dimension increases. Therefore, for sufficiently large samples, we expect $G_{\text{ortho}} \simeq 0$ for both positive and negative values of u. Finally, we expect the mixed ortho/para-phase to have a conductance that is gate-tunable – $G_{\text{ortho/para}}(u > 0) \simeq 0$ and $G_{\text{ortho/para}}(u < 0) = 2e^2/h$.

5.9 Effects of Layer-Specific Rashba SOI

Finally, we comment on the effects of Rashba SOI $\lambda_{\rm R}$, which are important at high LLs but are negligible at the zeroth LL. The smallness of the Rashba SOI $\lambda_{\rm R}$ for the zeroth LL is illustrated in Fig.5-5. Indeed, by comparing the zeroth LL spectra



Figure 5-5: Illustration of the extreme smallness of the level shifts induced by the Rashba SOI $\lambda_{\rm R}$ in the zeroth LL, as compared to those induced by the Ising SOI λ illustrated in Fig. 5-2. The spectrum found in the absence of SOI interaction remains essentially unchanged after adding a relatively large Rashba SOI: a) $\lambda = \lambda_{\rm R} = 0 \text{ meV}$ and b) $\lambda = 0$, $\lambda_{\rm R} = 15 \text{ meV}$. Magnetic field is B = 5 T in both cases. Labeling of Landau levels (color and linestyle) is the same as that in Fig. 5-2.

shown in Fig. 5-5(a) to those in Fig. 5-5(b)($\lambda = 0$, $\lambda_{\rm R} = 15 \,{\rm meV}$), it is evident that the effects of the Rashba SOI are strongly suppressed even at values of $\lambda_{\rm R}$ as large as 15 meV. It gives rise to an energy correction $\approx 10^{-2} \,{\rm meV}$, which is comparable to the Zeeman energy at $B = 1 \,{\rm T}$, but quickly becomes negligible at larger field strengths ($B \gtrsim 5 \,{\rm T}$). It is therefore justified to ignore the correction due to $\lambda_{\rm R}$ at leading order, which was done in Eq. (5.5). The physical reason for this smallness is as follows. The matrices σ_i in the Rashba term generate A1-B1 couplings, which mix the zeroth LL state $|+, 0, \downarrow\rangle = |A1 \downarrow, 0\rangle$ with the dimer states at relatively high energies $\pm \gamma_1$. As a result, the $\lambda_{\rm R}$ -dependent corrections scale as $\delta \propto \lambda_{\rm R} \left(\frac{\lambda_{\rm R}}{\gamma_1}\right)$. Furthermore, because the high-energy states $\pm \gamma_1$ are particle-hole symmetric, their contributions cancel out at the lowest order. The $\lambda_{\rm R}$ -dependent corrections survive only at the next order, giving a small contribution to the level shifts of the order $\delta \propto \lambda_{\rm R} \left(\frac{\lambda_{\rm R}}{\gamma_1}\right)^2$.

5.10 Chapter Summary

In summary, the layer-specific SOI adds some unique features to the bilayer graphene single-particle zeroth LL spectrum. Those include the occurrence of an interesting pattern of orbital and spin inversions in the LL energy ordering. In contrast to the SOI-induced splittings of higher LLs, which are dominated by the Rashba SOI, the zeroth LL splittings are dominated by the Ising SOI. Furthermore, the states with spin inversion give rise to novel compensated electron-hole ortho- and ortho/para-phases with a unique set of edge modes and gate-tunable edge conduction. While we anticipate the discovery of other novel phases when electron-electron interaction effects are taken into account, the compensated electron-hole ortho-phase and ortho/para-phase predicted here are expected to be robust to electron-electron interactions when $B \gtrsim 15 \,\mathrm{T}$. The ortho/para-phase in particular provides a new knob that controls the edge-conductivity of quantum Hall systems. The gate tunability enables a field-effect transistor-like behavior of the edge states, a property that can lead to interesting applications of graphene-on-transition metal dichalcogenide heterostructures.

5.11 Appendix: Derivation of Zeroth LL Spectrum

In this section, I provide a more detailed derivation of the zeroth LL spectrum of BLG with layer-specific SOI. I follow the convention given in Ref. [80] to describe the spin-degenerate, low-energy effective Hamiltonian of bernal-stacked bilayer graphene including the hopping parameters $\gamma_0, \gamma_1, \gamma_4, \Delta'$ as per Ref. [56]. The effective Hamiltonian is given in the main text Eq. 5.1. The monolayer SOI Hamiltonian Eq. 5.2 can be written explicitly as

$$\delta H_{SO}^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\lambda}{2}\xi s_z & \frac{\lambda_R}{2}(\xi s_y + is_x) & 0 & 0\\ \frac{\lambda_R}{2}(\xi s_y - is_x) & \frac{\lambda}{2}\xi s_z & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.12)

and will be added to the layer-1 subspace of the Hamiltonian. Following the main text, I then introduce a perpendicular magnetic field and construct Landau level creation and annihilation operators \hat{a} and \hat{a}^{\dagger} . Defining these operators as in Eq. 5.3 gives rise to the following valley-specific transformations,

$$\xi = +: \begin{cases} \pi \to \frac{\sqrt{2\hbar}}{l_B} \hat{a} \\ \pi^{\dagger} \to \frac{\sqrt{2\hbar}}{l_B} \hat{a}^{\dagger} \end{cases}$$
(5.13)

$$\xi = -: \begin{cases} \pi \to -\frac{\sqrt{2\hbar}}{l_B} \hat{a}^{\dagger} \\ \pi^{\dagger} \to -\frac{\sqrt{2\hbar}}{l_B} \hat{a} \end{cases}$$
(5.14)

which we can substitute directly into the full Hamiltonian of the system $H = H_0 + \delta H_{SO}^{(1)}$, and write the following valley-specific Hamiltonians in the $(A1 \uparrow, A1 \downarrow, B1 \uparrow, B1 \downarrow, A2 \uparrow, A2 \downarrow, B2 \uparrow, B2 \downarrow)$ basis,

$$H_{+} = \hbar\omega_{0} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}+\bar{\lambda}) & 0 & \hat{a}^{\dagger} & 0 & -\frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}}\hat{a}^{\dagger} & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}-\bar{\lambda}) & i\bar{\lambda}_{R} & \hat{a}^{\dagger} & 0 & -\frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}}\hat{a}^{\dagger} & 0 & 0\\ \hat{a} & -i\bar{\lambda}_{R} & \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}+\bar{\lambda})+\bar{A}' & 0 & \bar{\gamma}_{1} & 0 & -\frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}}\hat{a}^{\dagger} & 0\\ 0 & \hat{a} & 0 & \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}-\bar{\lambda})+\bar{A}' & 0 & \bar{\gamma}_{1} & 0 & -\frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}}\hat{a}^{\dagger} & 0\\ 0 & \hat{a} & 0 & \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}-\bar{\lambda})+\bar{A}' & 0 & \hat{a}^{\dagger} & 0\\ 0 & -\frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}}\hat{a} & 0 & \bar{\gamma}_{1} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u}+\bar{A}' & 0 & \hat{a}^{\dagger} \\ 0 & 0 & -\frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}}\hat{a} & 0 & \hat{a} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}}\hat{a} & 0 & \hat{a} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}}\hat{a} & 0 & \hat{a} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}}\hat{a} & 0 & \hat{a} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}}\hat{a} & 0 & \hat{a} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}+\bar{\lambda}) & 0 & -\hat{a} & 0 & \frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}}\hat{a} & 0 & 0\\ -\hat{a}^{\dagger} & 0 & \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}-\bar{\lambda})+\bar{A}' & 0 & \bar{\gamma}_{1} & 0 & \frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}}\hat{a} & 0\\ -\hat{a}^{\dagger} & 0 & \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}-\bar{\lambda})+\bar{A}' & 0 & \bar{\gamma}_{1} & 0 & \frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}}\hat{a} & 0\\ -\hat{a}^{\dagger} & 0 & \bar{\gamma}_{1} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u}+\bar{A}' & 0 & -\hat{a} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}}\hat{a}^{\dagger} & 0 & \bar{\gamma}_{1} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u}+\bar{A}' & 0 & -\hat{a}\\ 0 & 0 & \frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}}\hat{a}^{\dagger} & 0 & -\hat{a}^{\dagger} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}}\hat{a}^{\dagger} & 0 & -\hat{a}^{\dagger} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}}\hat{a}^{\dagger} & 0 & -\hat{a}^{\dagger} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}}\hat{a}^{\dagger} & 0 & -\hat{a}^{\dagger} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u} & 0\\ \end{array}\right),$$
(5.16)

For brevity, I introduce $\hbar\omega_0 = \hbar \frac{\sqrt{2}v_0}{l_B} = \sqrt{\frac{3}{2}} \frac{a\gamma_0}{l_B}$ and various barred quantities which are related to their unbarred counterparts via $x = \hbar \omega_0 \bar{x}$.

The creation and annihilation operators act on the site-specific Landau level wavefunctions $|n\rangle$ in the usual sense, $\hat{a}|n\rangle = \sqrt{n}|n-1\rangle$ and $\hat{a}^{\dagger}|n\rangle = \sqrt{n+1}|n+1\rangle$ so that by considering the following valley-specific ansatz for $n \ge 3$,

$$\left| +, n, i \right\rangle = \left(c_{i,A1\uparrow}^{+} |n\rangle, c_{i,A1\downarrow}^{+} |n-1\rangle, c_{i,B1\uparrow}^{+} |n-1\rangle, c_{i,B1\downarrow}^{+} |n-2\rangle, c_{i,A2\uparrow}^{+} |n-1\rangle, c_{i,A2\downarrow}^{+} |n-2\rangle, c_{i,B2\uparrow}^{+} |n-2\rangle, c_{i,B2\downarrow}^{+} |n-3\rangle \right)^{T},$$

$$\left| -, n, i \right\rangle = \left(c_{i,A1\uparrow}^{-} |n-2\rangle, c_{i,A1\downarrow}^{-} |n-3\rangle, c_{i,B1\uparrow}^{-} |n-1\rangle, c_{i,B1\downarrow}^{-} |n-2\rangle, c_{i,A2\uparrow}^{-} |n-1\rangle, c_{i,A2\downarrow}^{-} |n-2\rangle, c_{i,B2\uparrow}^{-} |n\rangle, c_{i,B2\downarrow}^{-} |n-1\rangle \right)^{T},$$

the Landau levels are given by the eigenvalues and eigenstates of the valley-specific matrices,

$$H_{+,n\geq3} = \hbar\omega_{0} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}+\bar{\lambda}) & 0 & \sqrt{n} & 0 & -\frac{24}{\gamma_{0}}\sqrt{n} & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}-\bar{\lambda}) & i\bar{\lambda}_{R} & \sqrt{n-1} & 0 & -\frac{24}{\gamma_{0}}\sqrt{n-1} & 0 & 0\\ \sqrt{n} & -i\bar{\lambda}_{R} & \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}+\bar{\lambda})+\bar{\Delta}' & 0 & \bar{\gamma}_{1} & 0 & -\frac{24}{\gamma_{0}}\sqrt{n-1} & 0\\ 0 & \sqrt{n-1} & 0 & \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}-\bar{\lambda})+\bar{\Delta}' & 0 & \bar{\gamma}_{1} & 0 & -\frac{24}{\gamma_{0}}\sqrt{n-1} & 0\\ 0 & \sqrt{n-1} & 0 & \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}-\bar{\lambda})+\bar{\Delta}' & 0 & \sqrt{n-1} & 0\\ 0 & -\frac{24}{\gamma_{0}}\sqrt{n-1} & 0 & \bar{\gamma}_{1} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u}+\bar{\Delta}' & 0 & \sqrt{n-2}\\ 0 & 0 & -\frac{24}{\gamma_{0}}\sqrt{n-1} & 0 & \sqrt{n-1} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{24}{\gamma_{0}}\sqrt{n-1} & 0 & \sqrt{n-1} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{24}{\gamma_{0}}\sqrt{n-2} & 0 & \sqrt{n-2} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u} \end{pmatrix}, \end{cases}$$

$$H_{-,n\geq3} = \hbar\omega_{0} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}-\bar{\lambda}) & 0 & -\sqrt{n-1} & i\bar{\lambda}_{R} & \frac{24}{\gamma_{0}}\sqrt{n-1} & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}+\bar{\lambda}) & 0 & -\sqrt{n-2} & 0 & \frac{24}{\gamma_{0}}\sqrt{n-2} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u} \\ -\sqrt{n-1} & 0 & \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}-\bar{\lambda})+\bar{\Delta}' & 0 & \bar{\gamma}_{1} & 0 & \frac{24}{\gamma_{0}}\sqrt{n-1} \\ -\sqrt{n-1} & 0 & \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}-\bar{\lambda})+\bar{\Delta}' & 0 & \bar{\gamma}_{1} & 0 & \frac{24}{\gamma_{0}}\sqrt{n-1} \\ -\sqrt{n-1} & 0 & \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}-\bar{\lambda})+\bar{\Delta}' & 0 & \bar{\gamma}_{1} & 0 & -\frac{2}{\gamma_{0}}\sqrt{n} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{24}{\gamma_{0}}\sqrt{n-2} & 0 & \bar{\gamma}_{1} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u}+\bar{\Delta}' & 0 & -\sqrt{n-1} \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{24}{\gamma_{0}}\sqrt{n-2} & 0 & \bar{\gamma}_{1} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u}+\bar{\Delta}' & 0 & -\sqrt{n-1} \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{24}{\gamma_{0}}\sqrt{n} & 0 & -\sqrt{n} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{24}{\gamma_{0}}\sqrt{n-1} & 0 & -\sqrt{n} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix}$$

(0.18)

By setting to zero all other energy parameters in Eq. 5.1 except γ_0 and γ_1 , we recover the eight-fold degenerate (2 spin, 2 valley, 2 orbital) zeroth LLs states with zero energy, $|\xi, 0, s_z\rangle$ and $|\xi, 1, s_z\rangle$. By considering $H_{\pm,n=0,1,2}$ in this limit, we can understand how the zeroth LL degeneracy is lifted (i.e. how these states mix with the higher Landau levels and the terms responsible for the mixing).

At n = 0, the solutions are immediately given,

$$H_{+,0} = \frac{1}{2}(u+\lambda), \quad \text{eigenstate:} |+,0,\uparrow\rangle = |A1\uparrow,0\rangle$$
(5.19)

$$H_{-,0} = -\frac{1}{2}u, \quad \text{eigenstate:} |-,0,\uparrow\rangle = |B2\uparrow,0\rangle. \quad (5.20)$$

The eigenstates and energies are exact. At n = 1, we have

$$H_{+,1} = \hbar\omega_{0} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}+\bar{\lambda}) & 0 & 1 & -\frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}} \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}-\bar{\lambda}) & i\bar{\lambda}_{R} & 0 \\ 1 & -i\bar{\lambda}_{R} & \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}+\bar{\lambda})+\bar{\Delta}' & \bar{\gamma}_{1} \\ -\frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}} & 0 & \bar{\gamma}_{1} & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u}+\bar{\Delta}' \end{pmatrix},$$

basis: $(|A1\uparrow,1\rangle, |A1\downarrow,0\rangle, |B1\uparrow,0\rangle, |A2\uparrow,0\rangle)$
$$H_{-,1} = \hbar\omega_{0} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}-\bar{\lambda})+\bar{\Delta}' & \bar{\gamma}_{1} & \frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}} & 0 \\ \bar{\gamma}_{1} & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u}+\bar{\Delta}' & -1 & 0 \\ \gamma_{4} & 1 & -\frac{1}{\bar{u}}\bar{u} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
 (5.21)

basis:
$$(|B1\uparrow,0\rangle, |A2\uparrow,0\rangle, |B2\uparrow,1\rangle, |B2\downarrow,0\rangle)$$
.

(5.22)

、

Keeping only γ_0 and γ_1 non-trivial and setting the other parameters to 0, we find

that the zeroth LL eigenstates are

$$|+,1,\uparrow\rangle_{0} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\bar{\gamma}_{1}^{2}+1}} \left(-\bar{\gamma}_{1}|A1\uparrow,1\rangle + |A2\uparrow,0\rangle\right), \qquad (5.23)$$

$$|+,0,\downarrow\rangle_0 = |A1\downarrow,0\rangle, \tag{5.24}$$

$$|-,1,\uparrow\rangle_0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\bar{\gamma}_1^2+1}} \left(|B1\uparrow,0\rangle + \bar{\gamma}_1 |B2\uparrow,1\rangle \right), \qquad (5.25)$$

$$|-,0,\downarrow\rangle_0 = |B2\downarrow,0\rangle, \tag{5.26}$$

With the above information, we can now discuss the effects due to the various parameters in the Hamiltonian as corrections which are justified in the strong field limit $\hbar\omega_0 \simeq 31 \text{ meV}\sqrt{B(T)} \gg \frac{\gamma_4}{\gamma_0}, \Delta', u, \lambda, \lambda_R$ but constrained to $\hbar\omega_0 \lesssim \gamma_1$ or equivalently $\bar{\gamma}_1 \gtrsim 1$. The effects from SOI are already discussed in the main text and here I include a short discussion on the effects of the non-SOI parameters for completeness. The interlayer bias u shifts the energies by an amount that measures the layer polarization of the state as is expected, $+\frac{u}{2}$ if the state is completely polarized in layer 1 and $-\frac{u}{2}$ if it is completely polarized in layer 2. Similarly, the Δ' term gives rise to an energy shift proportional to the state's polarization on the A2 or B1 sites. Finally, γ_4 introduces mixing between the different sublattice components of the $|+, 1, \uparrow\rangle_0$ and $|-, 1, \uparrow\rangle_0$ respectively and shifts the state's energy by the difference between the amount of symmetric and anti-symmetric superposition of the sublattice components.

At n = 2, we have

$$H_{-,2} = \hbar\omega_{0} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}-\bar{\lambda}) & -1 & i\bar{\lambda}_{R} & \frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}} & 0 & 0 & 0\\ -1 & \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}-\bar{\lambda})+\bar{\Delta}' & 0 & \bar{\gamma}_{1} & 0 & \frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}}\sqrt{2} & 0\\ -i\bar{\lambda}_{R} & 0 & \frac{1}{2}(\bar{u}+\bar{\lambda})+\bar{\Delta}' & 0 & \bar{\gamma}_{1} & 0 & \frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}}\\ \frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}} & \bar{\gamma}_{1} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u}+\bar{\Delta}' & 0 & -\sqrt{2} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \bar{\gamma}_{1} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u}+\bar{\Delta}' & 0 & -1\\ 0 & \frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}}\sqrt{2} & 0 & -\sqrt{2} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \frac{\gamma_{4}}{\gamma_{0}} & 0 & -1 & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\bar{u} \end{pmatrix}, \\ \text{basis:} \quad (|A1\uparrow,0\rangle, |B1\uparrow,1\rangle, |B1\downarrow,0\rangle, |A2\uparrow,1\rangle, |A2\downarrow,0\rangle, |B2\uparrow,2\rangle, |B2\downarrow,1\rangle) \,.$$

$$(5.28)$$

Once again, turning off all parameters except γ_0 and γ_1 allows us to recover the remaining 2 zeroth LL states:

$$|+,1,\downarrow\rangle_{0} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\bar{\gamma}_{1}^{2}+1}} \left(-\bar{\gamma}_{1}|A1\downarrow,1\rangle + |A2\downarrow,0\rangle\right), \qquad (5.29)$$

$$|-,1,\downarrow\rangle_0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\bar{\gamma}_1^2 + 1}} \left(|B1\downarrow,0\rangle + \bar{\gamma}_1 |B2\downarrow,1\rangle \right), \qquad (5.30)$$

The qualitative nature of how the various parameters affect these two zeroth LL states is similar to that of the n = 1 case discussed earlier.

Consistent with the above discussion, the single-particle energies of the zeroth LL to leading order in $u/\hbar\omega_c$ is given by main text Eq. 5.5, and here I give the explicit expressions for the layer and spin polarizations that were omitted in the main text,

$$\alpha_{\xi,n,s_z} = |c_{A1,s_z}|^2 + |c_{B1,s_z}|^2 - |c_{A2,s_z}|^2 - |c_{B2,s_z}|^2$$
(5.31)

$$\zeta_{1,n,s_z} = s_z \left(|c_{A1,s_z}|^2 + |c_{B1,s_z}|^2 \right).$$
(5.32)

Chapter 6

Conclusions

A wide range of interesting phenomena have been discovered in graphene. The vdW heterostructures certainly add a lot of excitement to graphene research by introducing novel interfacial physics. In this thesis, I have discussed how heterostructures help to introduce interfacial SOI in graphene. This opens up a plethora of new phenomena that are awaiting to be discovered. I explored some interesting effects that arise when SOI is interfacially-induced in bilayer graphene via a TMD substrate. Special emphasis was given to gate-tunable properties of the bilayer graphene-on-TMD heterostructure.

The experimental verification of the change to the graphene bandstructure as a result of interfacially-induced SOI from a TMD substrate was reviewed in chapter 3. It is especially important that TMD substrates are able to directly modify the band structure of graphene and give rise to carriers that are spin-split in energy. Analogous to the intrinsic spin-Hall effect, a spin-split band structure enables robust control over the spin degree of freedom (chapter 4). It can also modify the system's topological properties (chapter 4) and lead to novel phases (chapter 5). Several extensions to the ideas presented in this thesis are discussed below.

The Magnitude of Induced SOI. The experiments performed at relatively high doping clearly confirm the presence of spin-split bands (chapter 3). However, at present there is insufficient data at low carrier densities and thus it is impossible to accurately determine the relative strength of the Rashba and Ising-type SOI. These values can be precisely determined by measurements at the energies near the Dirac point, in which case the spin-splitting (if present) will be completely due to the Ising SOI. An alternative approach is to directly probe the zeroth LLs and look for effects due to a layer-specific SOI. As shown in chapter 5, the effects of Rashba SOI is strongly suppressed in the zeroth LL compared to the Ising SOI. In particular, the Zeeman splitting competes against the Ising SOI responsible for spin-ordering inversion within the zeroth LLs. An observable that is sensitive to the spin-ordering will therefore show a dependence on the strength of the applied transverse magnetic field. This effect is expected to be suppressed by applying a strong in-plane magnetic field in conjunction with a relatively weaker transverse magnetic field. The strong inplane field acts to overwhelm the system's spin-ordering while not introducing other field dependent energy splittings in the LL spectrum. At the time of writing this thesis, an ongoing collaboration with the University of Santa Barbara, where these measurements are being made, indicates that the interfacially induced Ising SOI can have strength of up to 1.5 to 2 meV.

Realizing topological materials. Achieving a sufficiently strong Ising SOI is desirable as it can produce band inversion and give rise to topologically non-trivial states. With this in mind, a few interesting heterostructure configurations can be immediately proposed. The Ising SOI breaks inversion symmetry, with the symmetry breaking occurring due to the TMD layer on one side of the system. The symmetry can be restored by introducing TMD layers on both sides of the system. The opposing Ising SOI induced by the different TMD layers will likely cancel each other out in the case of monolayer graphene when the heterostructure is inversion symmetric. However, in the bilayer or trilayer graphene, for example, these interfacially induced SOI act on different layers and, therefore, on different low-energy states of the system. The resulting heterostructures are expected to exhibit a rich topological phase diagrams. A more thorough investigation, which goes beyond what was presented in chapter 4, is required for a complete characterization of the various phases in the case of TMD-bilayer-graphene-TMD heterostructures.

Interfacially-induced SOI on twisted bilayer graphene. Another interesting plat-

form to introduce interfacially-induced SOI is the twisted bilayer graphene, which has electron properties very different from those of the Bernal-stacked bilayer graphene considered in this thesis. Likewise, the cases in which SOI is introduced on one or both graphene layers can be separately investigated. In light of the Mott-insulating and superconducting phases that were recently discovered in magic angle twisted bilayer graphene, introducing SOI can give rise to novel phases. These include novel classes of Mott-insulating phases or topological superconductors.

Gate-tuning other layer-specific effects. Besides the interfacially-induced SOI considered above, it is interesting to consider introducing other layer-specific effects. Such effects can modify the bandstructure of bilayer graphene in a variety of different ways. Analogous to our findings for interfacially-induced SOI, such modifications of the bilayer graphene bandstructure will be gate-tunable. Examples of such gatetunable effects include superconductivity, disorder physics, as well as superlattice potentials/Moire physics. Alternatively, tunability beyond electrostatic gating or based on different underlying physics can also be explored. With the improved ability to construct layered 2D heterostructures, we find ourselves in the perfect moment to pursue these questions not only theoretically, but experimentally as well.

The work undertaken in this thesis has barely scratched the surface of the rapidly growing field of 2D van der Waals heterostructures. It follows the notion 'design and build' in an attempt to extend the success of the semiconducting heterostructures. The ultimate goal therefore is to have a comprehensive set of tools at our disposal to create heterostructures with any desired functionality. As we are in the stage of discovering and building up our toolbox, collaborations between theory and experiment are ever more so important. I am therefore grateful to have had the opportunity to experience this firsthand and be a part of this grand endeavor.

Bibliography

- K. S. Novoselov, A. K. Geim, S. V. Morozov, D. Jiang, Y. Zhang, S. V. Dubonos, I. V. Grigorieva, and A. A. Firsov. Electric field effect in atomically thin carbon films. *Science*, 306(5696):666–669, 2004.
- [2] K. S. Novoselov, D. Jiang, F. Schedin, T. J. Booth, V. V. Khotkevich, S. V. Morozov, and A. K. Geim. Two-dimensional atomic crystals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 102(30):10451–10453, 2005.
- [3] K. S. Novoselov, A. K. Geim, S. V. Morozov, D. Jiang, M. I. Katsnelson, I. V. Grigorieva, S. V. Dubonos, and A. A. Firsov. Two-dimensional gas of massless dirac fermions in graphene. *Nature*, 438:197 EP –, Nov 2005.
- [4] Yuanbo Zhang, Yan-Wen Tan, Horst L. Stormer, and Philip Kim. Experimental observation of the quantum hall effect and berry's phase in graphene. *Nature*, 438:201 EP -, Nov 2005.
- [5] D. C. Elias, R. V. Gorbachev, A. S. Mayorov, S. V. Morozov, A. A. Zhukov, P. Blake, L. A. Ponomarenko, I. V. Grigorieva, K. S. Novoselov, F. Guinea, and A. K. Geim. Dirac cones reshaped by interaction effects in suspended graphene. *Nature Physics*, 7:701 EP -, Jul 2011.
- [6] Chenming Hu. Modern Semiconductor Devices for Integrated Circuits. Pearson, 2010.
- [7] W. Shockley, M. Sparks, and G. K. Teal. p-n junction transistors. *Phys. Rev.*, 83:151–162, Jul 1951.
- [8] P. R. Wallace. The band theory of graphite. Phys. Rev., 71:622-634, May 1947.
- [9] J. W. McClure. Diamagnetism of graphite. Phys. Rev., 104:666-671, Nov 1956.
- [10] J. C. Slonczewski and P. R. Weiss. Band structure of graphite. Phys. Rev., 109:272–279, Jan 1958.
- [11] R A Bromley, R B Murray, and A D Yoffe. The band structures of some transition metal dichalcogenides. iii. group via: trigonal prism materials. *Journal* of Physics C: Solid State Physics, 5(7):759, 1972.

- [12] L. F. Mattheiss. Band structures of transition-metal-dichalcogenide layer compounds. Phys. Rev. B, 8:3719–3740, Oct 1973.
- [13] R. Coehoorn, C. Haas, J. Dijkstra, C. J. F. Flipse, R. A. de Groot, and A. Wold. Electronic structure of mose₂, mos₂, and wse₂. i. band-structure calculations and photoelectron spectroscopy. *Phys. Rev. B*, 35:6195–6202, Apr 1987.
- [14] K. S. Novoselov, Z. Jiang, Y. Zhang, S. V. Morozov, H. L. Stormer, U. Zeitler, J. C. Maan, G. S. Boebinger, P. Kim, and A. K. Geim. Room-temperature quantum hall effect in graphene. *Science*, 315(5817):1379–1379, 2007.
- [15] A. K. Geim and I. V. Grigorieva. Van der waals heterostructures. Nature, 499:419 EP -, Jul 2013.
- [16] C. R. Dean, A. F. Young, I. Meric, C. Lee, L. Wang, S. Sorgenfrei, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, P. Kim, K. L. Shepard, and J. Hone. Boron nitride substrates for high-quality graphene electronics. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 5:722 EP –, Aug 2010.
- [17] L. Britnell, R. V. Gorbachev, R. Jalil, B. D. Belle, F. Schedin, A. Mishchenko, T. Georgiou, M. I. Katsnelson, L. Eaves, S. V. Morozov, N. M. R. Peres, J. Leist, A. K. Geim, K. S. Novoselov, and L. A. Ponomarenko. Field-effect tunneling transistor based on vertical graphene heterostructures. *Science*, 335(6071):947– 950, 2012.
- [18] Liam Britnell, Roman V. Gorbachev, Rashid Jalil, Branson D. Belle, Fred Schedin, Mikhail I. Katsnelson, Laurence Eaves, Sergey V. Morozov, Alexander S. Mayorov, Nuno M. R. Peres, Antonio H. Castro Neto, Jon Leist, Andre K. Geim, Leonid A. Ponomarenko, and Kostya S. Novoselov. Electron tunneling through ultrathin boron nitride crystalline barriers. *Nano Letters*, 12(3):1707– 1710, Mar 2012.
- [19] L. Britnell, R. V. Gorbachev, A. K. Geim, L. A. Ponomarenko, A. Mishchenko, M. T. Greenaway, T. M. Fromhold, K. S. Novoselov, and L. Eaves. Resonant tunnelling and negative differential conductance in graphene transistors. *Nature Communications*, 4:1794 EP –, Apr 2013.
- [20] A. Mishchenko, J. S. Tu, Y. Cao, R. V. Gorbachev, J. R. Wallbank, M. T. Greenaway, V. E. Morozov, S. V. Morozov, M. J. Zhu, S. L. Wong, F. Withers, C. R. Woods, Y.-J. Kim, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, E. E. Vdovin, O. Makarovsky, T. M. Fromhold, V. I. Fal'ko, A. K. Geim, L. Eaves, and K. S. Novoselov. Twist-controlled resonant tunnelling in graphene/boron nitride/graphene heterostructures. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 9:808 EP -, Sep 2014.
- [21] L. Britnell, R. M. Ribeiro, A. Eckmann, R. Jalil, B. D. Belle, A. Mishchenko, Y.-J. Kim, R. V. Gorbachev, T. Georgiou, S. V. Morozov, A. N. Grigorenko, A. K. Geim, C. Casiraghi, A. H. Castro Neto, and K. S. Novoselov. Strong

light-matter interactions in heterostructures of atomically thin films. *Science*, 340(6138):1311–1314, 2013.

- [22] Woo Jong Yu, Yuan Liu, Hailong Zhou, Anxiang Yin, Zheng Li, Yu Huang, and Xiangfeng Duan. Highly efficient gate-tunable photocurrent generation in vertical heterostructures of layered materials. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 8:952 EP -, Oct 2013.
- [23] Yuanbo Zhang, Tsung-Ta Tang, Caglar Girit, Zhao Hao, Michael C. Martin, Alex Zettl, Michael F. Crommie, Y. Ron Shen, and Feng Wang. Direct observation of a widely tunable bandgap in bilayer graphene. *Nature*, 459:820 EP –, Jun 2009.
- [24] J. M. B. Lopes dos Santos, N. M. R. Peres, and A. H. Castro Neto. Graphene bilayer with a twist: Electronic structure. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 99:256802, Dec 2007.
- [25] J. M. B. Lopes dos Santos, N. M. R. Peres, and A. H. Castro Neto. Continuum model of the twisted graphene bilayer. *Phys. Rev. B*, 86:155449, Oct 2012.
- [26] Justin C. W. Song, Polnop Samutpraphoot, and Leonid S. Levitov. Topological bloch bands in graphene superlattices. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(35):10879–10883, 2015.
- [27] Rafi Bistritzer and Allan H. MacDonald. Moiré bands in twisted double-layer graphene. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 108(30):12233– 12237, 2011.
- [28] Yuan Cao, Valla Fatemi, Ahmet Demir, Shiang Fang, Spencer L. Tomarken, Jason Y. Luo, Javier D. Sanchez-Yamagishi, Kenji Watanabe, Takashi Taniguchi, Efthimios Kaxiras, Ray C. Ashoori, and Pablo Jarillo-Herrero. Correlated insulator behaviour at half-filling in magic-angle graphene superlattices. *Nature*, 556:80 EP –, Mar 2018.
- [29] Yuan Cao, Valla Fatemi, Shiang Fang, Kenji Watanabe, Takashi Taniguchi, Efthimios Kaxiras, and Pablo Jarillo-Herrero. Unconventional superconductivity in magic-angle graphene superlattices. *Nature*, 556:43 EP -, Mar 2018.
- [30] H. C. Po, L. Zou, A. Vishwanath, and T. Senthil. Origin of Mott insulating behavior and superconductivity in twisted bilayer graphene. *ArXiv e-prints*, March 2018.
- [31] C. Xu and L. Balents. Topological Superconductivity in Twisted Multilayer Graphene. ArXiv e-prints, March 2018.
- [32] G. E. Volovik. Graphite, graphene, and the flat band superconductivity. JETP Letters, 107(8):516–517, Apr 2018.

- [33] Noah F. Q. Yuan and Liang Fu. Model for the metal-insulator transition in graphene superlattices and beyond. *Phys. Rev. B*, 98:045103, Jul 2018.
- [34] M. I. Dyakonov. Spin Hall Effect. ArXiv e-prints, October 2012.
- [35] M.I. Dyakonov and V.I. Perel. Possibility of orienting electron spins with current. Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. Pis. Red, 13(11):657 - 660, 1971.
- [36] M.I. Dyakonov and V.I. Perel. Current-induced spin orientation of electrons in semiconductors. *Physics Letters A*, 35(6):459 – 460, 1971.
- [37] Shuichi Murakami, Naoto Nagaosa, and Shou-Cheng Zhang. Dissipationless quantum spin current at room temperature. *Science*, 301(5638):1348–1351, 2003.
- [38] Jairo Sinova, Dimitrie Culcer, Q. Niu, N. A. Sinitsyn, T. Jungwirth, and A. H. MacDonald. Universal intrinsic spin hall effect. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 92:126603, Mar 2004.
- [39] Jesse W. M. DuMond and J. Paul Youtz. Selective x-ray diffraction from artificially stratified metal films deposited by evaporation. *Phys. Rev.*, 48:703–703, Oct 1935.
- [40] Ivan K Schuller, S Kim, and C Leighton. Magnetic superlattices and multilayers. Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials, 200(1):571 – 582, 1999.
- [41] M. N. Baibich, J. M. Broto, A. Fert, F. Nguyen Van Dau, F. Petroff, P. Etienne, G. Creuzet, A. Friederich, and J. Chazelas. Giant magnetoresistance of (001)fe/(001)cr magnetic superlattices. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 61:2472–2475, Nov 1988.
- [42] G. Binasch, P. Grünberg, F. Saurenbach, and W. Zinn. Enhanced magnetoresistance in layered magnetic structures with antiferromagnetic interlayer exchange. *Phys. Rev. B*, 39:4828–4830, Mar 1989.
- [43] Supriyo Datta and Biswajit Das. Electronic analog of the electroâARoptic modulator. Applied Physics Letters, 56(7):665–667, 1990.
- [44] Hyun Cheol Koo, Jae Hyun Kwon, Jonghwa Eom, Joonyeon Chang, Suk Hee Han, and Mark Johnson. Control of spin precession in a spin-injected field effect transistor. *Science*, 325(5947):1515–1518, 2009.
- [45] D. J. Monsma, J. C. Lodder, Th. J. A. Popma, and B. Dieny. Perpendicular hot electron spin-valve effect in a new magnetic field sensor: The spin-valve transistor. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 74:5260–5263, Jun 1995.
- [46] Pojen Chuang, Sheng-Chin Ho, L. W. Smith, F. Sfigakis, M. Pepper, Chin-Hung Chen, Ju-Chun Fan, J. P. Griffiths, I. Farrer, H. E. Beere, G. A. C. Jones, D. A. Ritchie, and Tse-Ming Chen. All-electric all-semiconductor spin field-effect transistors. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 10:35 EP -, Dec 2014.

- [47] Y. M. Lee, J. Hayakawa, S. Ikeda, F. Matsukura, and H. Ohno. Effect of electrode composition on the tunnel magnetoresistance of pseudo-spin-valve magnetic tunnel junction with a mgo tunnel barrier. *Applied Physics Letters*, 90(21):212507, 2007.
- [48] C. Gould, C. Rüster, T. Jungwirth, E. Girgis, G. M. Schott, R. Giraud, K. Brunner, G. Schmidt, and L. W. Molenkamp. Tunneling anisotropic magnetoresistance: A spin-valve-like tunnel magnetoresistance using a single magnetic layer. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 93:117203, Sep 2004.
- [49] D. J. Monsma, J. C. Lodder, Th. J. A. Popma, and B. Dieny. Perpendicular hot electron spin-valve effect in a new magnetic field sensor: The spin-valve transistor. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 74:5260–5263, Jun 1995.
- [50] Claude Chappert, Albert Fert, and Frédéric Nguyen Van Dau. The emergence of spin electronics in data storage. *Nature Materials*, 6:813 EP –, Nov 2007.
- [51] D. C. Tsui, H. L. Stormer, and A. C. Gossard. Two-dimensional magnetotransport in the extreme quantum limit. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 48:1559–1562, May 1982.
- [52] W Zawadzki and P Pfeffer. Spin splitting of subband energies due to inversion asymmetry in semiconductor heterostructures. Semiconductor Science and Technology, 19(1):R1, 2004.
- [53] Boris Grbić, Renaud Leturcq, Thomas Ihn, Klaus Ensslin, Dirk Reuter, and Andreas D. Wieck. Strong spin-orbit interactions and weak antilocalization in carbon-doped *p*-type $GaAsal_xga_{1-x}As$ heterostructures. *Phys. Rev. B*, 77:125312, Mar 2008.
- [54] Y. Zhang, Z. Jiang, J. P. Small, M. S. Purewal, Y.-W. Tan, M. Fazlollahi, J. D. Chudow, J. A. Jaszczak, H. L. Stormer, and P. Kim. Landau-level splitting in graphene in high magnetic fields. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 96:136806, Apr 2006.
- [55] Y. Zhao, P. Cadden-Zimansky, Z. Jiang, and P. Kim. Symmetry breaking in the zero-energy landau level in bilayer graphene. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 104:066801, Feb 2010.
- [56] B. M. Hunt, J. I. A. Li, A. A. Zibrov, L. Wang, T. Taniguchi, K. Watanabe, J. Hone, C. R. Dean, M. Zaletel, R. C. Ashoori, and A. F. Young. Direct measurement of discrete valley and orbital quantum numbers in bilayer graphene. *Nature Communications*, 8(1):948, 2017.
- [57] Biswajit Datta, Santanu Dey, Abhisek Samanta, Hitesh Agarwal, Abhinandan Borah, Kenji Watanabe, Takashi Taniguchi, Rajdeep Sensarma, and Mandar M. Deshmukh. Strong electronic interaction and multiple quantum hall ferromagnetic phases in trilayer graphene. *Nature Communications*, 8:14518 EP –, Feb 2017.

- [58] R. T. Weitz, M. T. Allen, B. E. Feldman, J. Martin, and A. Yacoby. Broken-symmetry states in doubly gated suspended bilayer graphene. *Science*, 330(6005):812–816, 2010.
- [59] P. Maher, C. R. Dean, A. F. Young, T. Taniguchi, K. Watanabe, K. L. Shepard, J. Hone, and P. Kim. Evidence for a spin phase transition at charge neutrality in bilayer graphene. *Nature Physics*, 9:154 EP -, Jan 2013.
- [60] J. Velasco Jr, Y. Lee, F. Zhang, K. Myhro, D. Tran, M. Deo, D. Smirnov, A. H. MacDonald, and C. N. Lau. Competing ordered states with filling factor two in bilayer graphene. *Nature Communications*, 5:4550 EP -, Jul 2014.
- [61] Kayoung Lee, Babak Fallahazad, Jiamin Xue, David C. Dillen, Kyounghwan Kim, Takashi Taniguchi, Kenji Watanabe, and Emanuel Tutuc. Chemical potential and quantum hall ferromagnetism in bilayer graphene. *Science*, 345(6192):58–61, 2014.
- [62] A. Kou, B. E. Feldman, A. J. Levin, B. I. Halperin, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, and A. Yacoby. Electron-hole asymmetric integer and fractional quantum hall effect in bilayer graphene. *Science*, 345(6192):55–57, 2014.
- [63] Patrick Maher, Lei Wang, Yuanda Gao, Carlos Forsythe, Takashi Taniguchi, Kenji Watanabe, Dmitry Abanin, Zlatko Papić, Paul Cadden-Zimansky, James Hone, Philip Kim, and Cory R. Dean. Tunable fractional quantum hall phases in bilayer graphene. *Science*, 345(6192):61–64, 2014.
- [64] Yanmeng Shi, Yongjin Lee, Shi Che, Ziqi Pi, Timothy Espiritu, Petr Stepanov, Dmitry Smirnov, Chun Ning Lau, and Fan Zhang. Energy gaps and layer polarization of integer and fractional quantum hall states in bilayer graphene. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 116:056601, Feb 2016.
- [65] Helmut KronmulLller and Stuart S P Parkin. Handbook of Magnetism and Advanced Magnetic Materials. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, 2007.
- [66] F. Dolde, I. Jakobi, B. Naydenov, N. Zhao, S. Pezzagna, C. Trautmann, J. Meijer, P. Neumann, F. Jelezko, and J. Wrachtrup. Room-temperature entanglement between single defect spins in diamond. *Nature Physics*, 9:139 EP –, Feb 2013.
- [67] Florian Dolde, Ville Bergholm, Ya Wang, Ingmar Jakobi, Boris Naydenov, Sébastien Pezzagna, Jan Meijer, Fedor Jelezko, Philipp Neumann, Thomas Schulte-Herbrüggen, Jacob Biamonte, and Jörg Wrachtrup. High-fidelity spin entanglement using optimal control. *Nature Communications*, 5:3371 EP –, Feb 2014.
- [68] Gopalakrishnan Balasubramanian, I. Y. Chan, Roman Kolesov, Mohannad Al-Hmoud, Julia Tisler, Chang Shin, Changdong Kim, Aleksander Wojcik, Philip R. Hemmer, Anke Krueger, Tobias Hanke, Alfred Leitenstorfer, Rudolf

Bratschitsch, Fedor Jelezko, and Jörg Wrachtrup. Nanoscale imaging magnetometry with diamond spins under ambient conditions. *Nature*, 455:648 EP -, Oct 2008.

- [69] M. S. Grinolds, S. Hong, P. Maletinsky, L. Luan, M. D. Lukin, R. L. Walsworth, and A. Yacoby. Nanoscale magnetic imaging of a single electron spin under ambient conditions. *Nature Physics*, 9:215 EP -, Feb 2013.
- [70] Ingmar Jakobi, Philipp Neumann, Ya Wang, Durga Bhaktavatsala Rao Dasari, Fadi El Hallak, Muhammad Asif Bashir, Matthew Markham, Andrew Edmonds, Daniel Twitchen, and Jörg Wrachtrup. Measuring broadband magnetic fields on the nanoscale using a hybrid quantum register. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 12:67 EP -, Sep 2016.
- [71] Markus König, Steffen Wiedmann, Christoph Brüne, Andreas Roth, Hartmut Buhmann, Laurens W. Molenkamp, Xiao-Liang Qi, and Shou-Cheng Zhang. Quantum spin hall insulator state in hgte quantum wells. *Science*, 318(5851):766-770, 2007.
- [72] C. L. Kane and E. J. Mele. Quantum spin hall effect in graphene. Phys. Rev. Lett., 95:226801, Nov 2005.
- [73] Markus KAűnig, Hartmut Buhmann, Laurens W. Molenkamp, Taylor Hughes, Chao-Xing Liu, Xiao-Liang Qi, and Shou-Cheng Zhang. The quantum spin hall effect: Theory and experiment. J. Phys. Soc. Jpn., 77(3):031007, 2008.
- [74] B. Andrei Bernevig, Taylor L. Hughes, and Shou-Cheng Zhang. Quantum spin hall effect and topological phase transition in hgte quantum wells. *Science*, 314(5806):1757–1761, 2006.
- [75] Di Xiao, Gui-Bin Liu, Wanxiang Feng, Xiaodong Xu, and Wang Yao. Coupled spin and valley physics in monolayers of mos₂ and other group-vi dichalcogenides. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 108:196802, May 2012.
- [76] Hongtao Yuan, Kazuhiro Bahramy, Mohammad Saeed Morimoto, Sanfeng Wu, Kentaro Nomura, Bohm-Jung Yang, Hidekazu Shimotani, Ryuji Suzuki, Minglin Toh, Christian Kloc, Xiaodong Xu, Ryotaro Arita, Naoto Nagaosa, and Yoshihiro Iwasa. Zeeman-type spin splitting controlled by an electric field. *Nat. Phys.*, 9:563–569, Sep 2013.
- [77] Hongtao Yuan, Xinqiang Wang, Biao Lian, Haijun Zhang, Xianfa Fang, Bo Shen, Yong Xu, Gang Xu, Shou-Cheng Zhang, Harold Y. Hwang, and Yi Cui. Generation and electric control of spin-valley-coupled circular photogalvanic current in wse2. Nat. Nanotechnol., 9:851–857, Oct 2014.
- [78] Jason S. Ross, Philip Klement, Aaron M. Jones, Nirmal J. Ghimire, Jiaqiang Yan, MandrusD. G., Takashi Taniguchi, Kenji Watanabe, Kenji Kitamura, Wang Yao, David H. Cobden, and Xiaodong Xu. Electrically tunable excitonic

light-emitting diodes based on monolayer wse2 p-n junctions. Nat. Nanotechnol., 9:268–272, Apr 2014.

- [79] Y. J. Zhang, T. Oka, R. Suzuki, J. T. Ye, and Y. Iwasa. Electrically switchable chiral light-emitting transistor. *Science*, 344(6185):725–728, 2014.
- [80] Edward McCann and Mikito Koshino. The electronic properties of bilayer graphene. *Reports on Progress in Physics*, 76(5):056503, 2013.
- [81] Jeil Jung and Allan H. MacDonald. Accurate tight-binding models for the π bands of bilayer graphene. *Phys. Rev. B*, 89:035405, Jan 2014.
- [82] A. L. Chernyshev, D. Galanakis, P. Phillips, A. V. Rozhkov, and A.-M. S. Tremblay. Higher order corrections to effective low-energy theories for strongly correlated electron systems. *Phys. Rev. B*, 70:235111, Dec 2004.
- [83] Edward McCann and Vladimir I. Fal'ko. Landau-level degeneracy and quantum hall effect in a graphite bilayer. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 96:086805, Mar 2006.
- [84] M Mucha-KruczyÅĎski, E McCann, and Vladimir I Fal'ko. Electron-hole asymmetry and energy gaps in bilayer graphene. Semiconductor Science and Technology, 25(3):033001, 2010.
- [85] K. S. Novoselov, E. McCann, S. V. Morozov, V. I. Fal'ko, M. I. Katsnelson, U. Zeitler, D. Jiang, F. Schedin, and A. K. Geim. Unconventional quantum hall effect and berry's phase of 2p in bilayer graphene. *Nature Physics*, 2:177 EP -, Feb 2006.
- [86] G. P. Mikitik and Yu. V. Sharlai. Electron energy spectrum and the berry phase in a graphite bilayer. *Phys. Rev. B*, 77:113407, Mar 2008.
- [87] Taisuke Ohta, Aaron Bostwick, Thomas Seyller, Karsten Horn, and Eli Rotenberg. Controlling the electronic structure of bilayer graphene. *Science*, 313(5789):951–954, 2006.
- [88] Jeroen B. Oostinga, Hubert B. Heersche, Xinglan Liu, Alberto F. Morpurgo, and Lieven M. K. Vandersypen. Gate-induced insulating state in bilayer graphene devices. *Nat. Mater.*, 7(2):151–157, Feb 2008.
- [89] Eduardo V. Castro, K. S. Novoselov, S. V. Morozov, N. M. R. Peres, J. M. B. Lopes dos Santos, Johan Nilsson, F. Guinea, A. K. Geim, and A. H. Castro Neto. Biased bilayer graphene: Semiconductor with a gap tunable by the electric field effect. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 99:216802, Nov 2007.
- [90] Edward McCann. Asymmetry gap in the electronic band structure of bilayer graphene. *Phys. Rev. B*, 74:161403, Oct 2006.
- [91] Andrea F. Young and Leonid S. Levitov. Capacitance of graphene bilayer as a probe of layer-specific properties. *Phys. Rev. B*, 84:085441, Aug 2011.

- [92] Daniel Huertas-Hernando, F. Guinea, and Arne Brataas. Spin-orbit coupling in curved graphene, fullerenes, nanotubes, and nanotube caps. *Phys. Rev. B*, 74:155426, Oct 2006.
- [93] Hongki Min, J. E. Hill, N. A. Sinitsyn, B. R. Sahu, Leonard Kleinman, and A. H. MacDonald. Intrinsic and rashba spin-orbit interactions in graphene sheets. *Phys. Rev. B*, 74:165310, Oct 2006.
- [94] C. L. Kane and E. J. Mele. Z_2 topological order and the quantum spin hall effect. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 95:146802, Sep 2005.
- [95] Yugui Yao, Fei Ye, Xiao-Liang Qi, Shou-Cheng Zhang, and Zhong Fang. Spinorbit gap of graphene: First-principles calculations. *Phys. Rev. B*, 75:041401, Jan 2007.
- [96] M. Gmitra, S. Konschuh, C. Ertler, C. Ambrosch-Draxl, and J. Fabian. Bandstructure topologies of graphene: Spin-orbit coupling effects from first principles. *Phys. Rev. B*, 80:235431, Dec 2009.
- [97] J. C. Boettger and S. B. Trickey. First-principles calculation of the spin-orbit splitting in graphene. *Phys. Rev. B*, 75:121402, Mar 2007.
- [98] Tsuneya Ando. Spin-orbit interaction in carbon nanotubes. Journal of the Physical Society of Japan, 69(6):1757–1763, 2000.
- [99] F. Kuemmeth, S. Ilani, D. C. Ralph, and P. L. McEuen. Coupling of spin and orbital motion of electrons in carbon nanotubes. *Nature*, 452:448 EP -, Mar 2008.
- [100] Ralph van Gelderen and C. Morais Smith. Rashba and intrinsic spin-orbit interactions in biased bilayer graphene. *Phys. Rev. B*, 81:125435, Mar 2010.
- [101] F Guinea. Spin-orbit coupling in a graphene bilayer and in graphite. New Journal of Physics, 12(8):083063, 2010.
- [102] S. Konschuh, M. Gmitra, D. Kochan, and J. Fabian. Theory of spin-orbit coupling in bilayer graphene. *Phys. Rev. B*, 85:115423, Mar 2012.
- [103] E. Prada, P. San-Jose, L. Brey, and H.A. Fertig. Band topology and the quantum spin hall effect in bilayer graphene. Solid State Communications, 151(16):1075 - 1083, 2011.
- [104] Alberto Cortijo, Adolfo G. Grushin, and María A. H. Vozmediano. Topological insulating phases in monolayer and bilayer graphene: An effective action approach. *Phys. Rev. B*, 82:195438, Nov 2010.
- [105] Zhenhua Qiao, Wang-Kong Tse, Hua Jiang, Yugui Yao, and Qian Niu. Twodimensional topological insulator state and topological phase transition in bilayer graphene. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 107:256801, Dec 2011.

- [106] C. R. Dean, L. Wang, P. Maher, C. Forsythe, F. Ghahari, Y. Gao, J. Katoch, M. Ishigami, P. Moon, M. Koshino, T. Taniguchi, K. Watanabe, K. L. Shepard, J. Hone, and P. Kim. Hofstadter's butterfly and the fractal quantum hall effect in moiré superlattices. *Nature*, 497:598 EP -, May 2013.
- [107] L. A. Ponomarenko, R. V. Gorbachev, G. L. Yu, D. C. Elias, R. Jalil, A. A. Patel, A. Mishchenko, A. S. Mayorov, C. R. Woods, J. R. Wallbank, M. Mucha-Kruczynski, B. A. Piot, M. Potemski, I. V. Grigorieva, K. S. Novoselov, F. Guinea, V. I. Fal'ko, and A. K. Geim. Cloning of dirac fermions in graphene superlattices. *Nature*, 497:594 EP –, May 2013.
- [108] B. Hunt, J. D. Sanchez-Yamagishi, A. F. Young, M. Yankowitz, B. J. LeRoy, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, P. Moon, M. Koshino, P. Jarillo-Herrero, and R. C. Ashoori. Massive dirac fermions and hofstadter butterfly in a van der waals heterostructure. *Science*, 340(6139):1427–1430, 2013.
- [109] Chul-Ho Lee, Gwan-Hyoung Lee, Arend M. van der Zande, Wenchao Chen, Yilei Li, Minyong Han, Xu Cui, Ghidewon Arefe, Colin Nuckolls, Tony F. Heinz, Jing Guo, James Hone, and Philip Kim. Atomically thin p-n junctions with van der waals heterointerfaces. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 9:676 EP –, Aug 2014.
- [110] Yun-Mei Li, Jian Li, Li-Kun Shi, Dong Zhang, Wen Yang, and Kai Chang. Light-induced exciton spin hall effect in van der waals heterostructures. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 115:166804, Oct 2015.
- [111] Pasqual Rivera, John R. Schaibley, Aaron M. Jones, Jason S. Ross, Sanfeng Wu, Grant Aivazian, Philip Klement, Kyle Seyler, Genevieve Clark, Nirmal J. Ghimire, Jiaqiang Yan, D. G. Mandrus, Wang Yao, and Xiaodong Xu. Observation of long-lived interlayer excitons in monolayer mose2-wse2 heterostructures. *Nature Communications*, 6:6242 EP -, Feb 2015.
- [112] Zhiyong Wang, Chi Tang, Raymond Sachs, Yafis Barlas, and Jing Shi. Proximity-induced ferromagnetism in graphene revealed by the anomalous hall effect. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 114:016603, Jan 2015.
- [113] Martin Gmitra and Jaroslav Fabian. Graphene on transition-metal dichalcogenides: A platform for proximity spin-orbit physics and optospintronics. *Phys. Rev. B*, 92:155403, Oct 2015.
- [114] Z. Y. Zhu, Y. C. Cheng, and U. Schwingenschlögl. Giant spin-orbit-induced spin splitting in two-dimensional transition-metal dichalcogenide semiconductors. *Phys. Rev. B*, 84:153402, Oct 2011.
- [115] K. Kośmider, J. W. González, and J. Fernández-Rossier. Large spin splitting in the conduction band of transition metal dichalcogenide monolayers. *Phys. Rev.* B, 88:245436, Dec 2013.

- [116] Qing Hua Wang, Kourosh Kalantar-Zadeh, Andras Kis, Jonathan N. Coleman, and Michael S. Strano. Electronics and optoelectronics of two-dimensional transition metal dichalcogenides. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 7:699 EP –, Nov 2012.
- [117] A. V. Kretinin, Y. Cao, J. S. Tu, G. L. Yu, R. Jalil, K. S. Novoselov, S. J. Haigh, A. Gholinia, A. Mishchenko, M. Lozada, T. Georgiou, C. R. Woods, F. Withers, P. Blake, G. Eda, A. Wirsig, C. Hucho, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, A. K. Geim, and R. V. Gorbachev. Electronic properties of graphene encapsulated with different two-dimensional atomic crystals. *Nano Letters*, 14(6):3270–3276, Jun 2014.
- [118] A. Avsar, J. Y. Tan, T. Taychatanapat, J. Balakrishnan, G. K. W. Koon, Y. Yeo, J. Lahiri, A. Carvalho, A. S. Rodin, E. C. T. O'Farrell, G. Eda, A. H. Castro Neto, and B. Özyilmaz. Spin-orbit proximity effect in graphene. *Nature Communications*, 5:4875 EP –, Sep 2014.
- [119] Zhe Wang, Dong-Keun Ki, Hua Chen, Helmuth Berger, Allan H. MacDonald, and Alberto F. Morpurgo. Strong interface-induced spin-orbit interaction in graphene on ws2. *Nature Communications*, 6:8339 EP -, Sep 2015.
- [120] Nikolaos Tombros, Csaba Jozsa, Mihaita Popinciuc, Harry T. Jonkman, and Bart J. van Wees. Electronic spin transport and spin precession in single graphene layers at room temperature. *Nature*, 448:571 EP -, Jul 2007.
- [121] M. H. D. Guimarães, P. J. Zomer, J. Ingla-Aynés, J. C. Brant, N. Tombros, and B. J. van Wees. Controlling spin relaxation in hexagonal bn-encapsulated graphene with a transverse electric field. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 113:086602, Aug 2014.
- [122] Sergej Konschuh, Martin Gmitra, and Jaroslav Fabian. Tight-binding theory of the spin-orbit coupling in graphene. *Phys. Rev. B*, 82:245412, Dec 2010.
- [123] Martin Gmitra, Denis Kochan, Petra Högl, and Jaroslav Fabian. Trivial and inverted dirac bands and the emergence of quantum spin hall states in graphene on transition-metal dichalcogenides. *Phys. Rev. B*, 93:155104, Apr 2016.
- [124] B. Das, D. C. Miller, S. Datta, R. Reifenberger, W. P. Hong, P. K. Bhattacharya, J. Singh, and M. Jaffe. Evidence for spin splitting in $in_x ga_{1-x} As/in_{0.52} al_{0.48} As$ heterostructures as $b \rightarrow 0$. *Phys. Rev. B*, 39:1411–1414, Jan 1989.
- [125] Junsaku Nitta, Tatsushi Akazaki, Hideaki Takayanagi, and Takatomo Enoki. Gate control of spin-orbit interaction in an inverted in_{0.53}ga_{0.47}as/in_{0.52}al_{0.48}as heterostructure. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 78:1335–1338, Feb 1997.
- [126] J. Velasco Jr, L. Jing, W. Bao, Y. Lee, P. Kratz, V. Aji, M. Bockrath, C. N. Lau, C. Varma, R. Stillwell, D. Smirnov, Fan Zhang, J. Jung, and A. H. Mac-Donald. Transport spectroscopy of symmetry-broken insulating states in bilayer graphene. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 7:156 EP –, Jan 2012.

- [127] M. F. Craciun, S. Russo, M. Yamamoto, J. B. Oostinga, A. F. Morpurgo, and S. Tarucha. Trilayer graphene is a semimetal with a gate-tunable band overlap. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 4:383 EP -, Apr 2009.
- [128] Nuno J. G. Couto, Davide Costanzo, Stephan Engels, Dong-Keun Ki, Kenji Watanabe, Takashi Taniguchi, Christoph Stampfer, Francisco Guinea, and Alberto F. Morpurgo. Random strain fluctuations as dominant disorder source for high-quality on-substrate graphene devices. *Phys. Rev. X*, 4:041019, Oct 2014.
- [129] Kyounghwan Kim, Stefano Larentis, Babak Fallahazad, Kayoung Lee, Jiamin Xue, David C. Dillen, Chris M. Corbet, and Emanuel Tutuc. Band alignment in wse2-graphene heterostructures. ACS Nano, 9(4):4527–4532, Apr 2015.
- [130] Alexander S. Mayorov, Roman V. Gorbachev, Sergey V. Morozov, Liam Britnell, Rashid Jalil, Leonid A. Ponomarenko, Peter Blake, Kostya S. Novoselov, Kenji Watanabe, Takashi Taniguchi, and A. K. Geim. Micrometer-scale ballistic transport in encapsulated graphene at room temperature. *Nano Letters*, 11(6):2396–2399, Jun 2011.
- [131] A. F. Young, C. R. Dean, L. Wang, H. Ren, P. Cadden-Zimansky, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, J. Hone, K. L. Shepard, and P. Kim. Spin and valley quantum hall ferromagnetism in?graphene. *Nature Physics*, 8:550 EP -, May 2012.
- [132] Thiti Taychatanapat, Kenji Watanabe, Takashi Taniguchi, and Pablo Jarillo-Herrero. Electrically tunable transverse magnetic focusing in graphene. *Nature Physics*, 9:225 EP -, Feb 2013.
- [133] A. M. Goossens, V. E. Calado, A. Barreiro, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, and L. M. K. Vandersypen. Mechanical cleaning of graphene. *Applied Physics Letters*, 100(7):073110, 2012.
- [134] Shinobu Hikami, Anatoly I. Larkin, and Yosuke Nagaoka. Spin-orbit interaction and magnetoresistance in the two dimensional random system. Progress of Theoretical Physics, 63(2):707–710, 1980.
- [135] C.W.J. Beenakker and H. van Houten. Quantum transport in semiconductor nanostructures. In Henry Ehrenreich and David Turnbull, editors, Semiconductor Heterostructures and Nanostructures, volume 44 of Solid State Physics, pages 1 – 228. Academic Press, 1991.
- [136] P. A. Lee and A. Douglas Stone. Universal conductance fluctuations in metals. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 55:1622–1625, Oct 1985.
- [137] Gerd Bergmann. Physical interpretation of weak localization: A time-of-flight experiment with conduction electrons. *Phys. Rev. B*, 28:2914–2920, Sep 1983.
- [138] F. V. Tikhonenko, A. A. Kozikov, A. K. Savchenko, and R. V. Gorbachev. Transition between electron localization and antilocalization in graphene. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 103:226801, Nov 2009.

- [139] R. V. Gorbachev, F. V. Tikhonenko, A. S. Mayorov, D. W. Horsell, and A. K. Savchenko. Weak localization in bilayer graphene. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 98:176805, Apr 2007.
- [140] Edward McCann and Vladimir I. Fal'ko. $z \rightarrow -z$ symmetry of spin-orbit coupling and weak localization in graphene. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 108:166606, Apr 2012.
- [141] J. B. Miller, D. M. Zumbühl, C. M. Marcus, Y. B. Lyanda-Geller, D. Goldhaber-Gordon, K. Campman, and A. C. Gossard. Gate-controlled spin-orbit quantum interference effects in lateral transport. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 90:076807, Feb 2003.
- [142] D. K. Efetov, L. Wang, C. Handschin, K. B. Efetov, J. Shuang, R. Cava, T. Taniguchi, K. Watanabe, J. Hone, C. R. Dean, and P. Kim. Specular interband andreev reflections at van der waals interfaces between graphene and nbse2. *Nature Physics*, 12:328 EP -, Dec 2015.
- [143] A. H. Castro Neto, F. Guinea, N. M. R. Peres, K. S. Novoselov, and A. K. Geim. The electronic properties of graphene. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 81:109–162, Jan 2009.
- [144] Wei Han, Roland K. Kawakami, Martin Gmitra, and Jaroslav Fabian. Graphene spintronics. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 9:794 EP -, Oct 2014.
- [145] Tomas Jungwirth, Jörg Wunderlich, and Kamil Olejník. Spin hall effect devices. Nature Materials, 11:382 EP -, Apr 2012.
- [146] M. Studer, G. Salis, K. Ensslin, D. C. Driscoll, and A. C. Gossard. Gatecontrolled spin-orbit interaction in a parabolic GaAs/AlGaAs quantum well. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 103:027201, Jul 2009.
- [147] Junsaku Nitta, Tatsushi Akazaki, Hideaki Takayanagi, and Takatomo Enoki. Gate control of spin-orbit interaction in an inverted $in_{0.53}ga_{0.47}as/in_{0.52}al_{0.48}as$ heterostructure. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 78:1335–1338, Feb 1997.
- [148] A. D. Caviglia, M. Gabay, S. Gariglio, N. Reyren, C. Cancellieri, and J.-M. Triscone. Tunable rashba spin-orbit interaction at oxide interfaces. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 104:126803, Mar 2010.
- [149] M. Ben Shalom, M. Sachs, D. Rakhmilevitch, A. Palevski, and Y. Dagan. Tuning spin-orbit coupling and superconductivity at the srtio₃/laalo₃ interface: A magnetotransport study. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 104:126802, Mar 2010.
- [150] Yaroslav Tserkovnyak and Shimul Akhanjee. Spin-selective localization due to intrinsic spin-orbit coupling. *Phys. Rev. B*, 79:085114, Feb 2009.
- [151] Arne Brataas, A G Mal'shukov, and Yaroslav Tserkovnyak. Spin injection in quantum wells with spatially dependent rashba interaction. New J. Phys., 9(9):345, 2007.

- [152] G. Salis, Y. Kato, K. Ensslin, D. C. Driscoll, A. C. Gossard, and D. D. Awschalom. Electrical control of spin coherence in semiconductor nanostructures. *Nature*, 414(6864):619–622, 2001.
- [153] A. V. Kretinin, Y. Cao, J. S. Tu, G. L. Yu, R. Jalil, K. S. Novoselov, S. J. Haigh, A. Gholinia, A. Mishchenko, M. Lozada, T. Georgiou, C. R. Woods, F. Withers, P. Blake, G. Eda, A. Wirsig, C. Hucho, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, A. K. Geim, and R. V. Gorbachev. Electronic properties of graphene encapsulated with different two-dimensional atomic crystals. *Nano Lett.*, 14(6):3270–3276, 2014.
- [154] Zhe Wang, Dong-Keun Ki, Jun Yong Khoo, Diego Mauro, Helmuth Berger, Leonid S. Levitov, and Alberto F. Morpurgo. Origin and magnitude of 'designer' spin-orbit interaction in graphene on semiconducting transition metal dichalcogenides. *Phys. Rev. X*, 6:041020, Oct 2016.
- [155] Bowen Yang, Min-Feng Tu, Jeongwoo Kim, Yong Wu, Hui Wang, Jason Alicea, Ruqian Wu, Marc Bockrath, and Jing Shi. Tunable spin-orbit coupling and symmetry-protected edge states in graphene/ws 2. 2D Mater., 3(3):031012, 2016.
- [156] Y.-M. Lin, C. Dimitrakopoulos, K. A. Jenkins, D. B. Farmer, H.-Y. Chiu, A. Grill, and Ph. Avouris. 100-ghz transistors from wafer-scale epitaxial graphene. *Science*, 327(5966):662–662, 2010.
- [157] E. I. Rashba and Al. L. Efros. Orbital mechanisms of electron-spin manipulation by an electric field. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 91:126405, Sep 2003.
- [158] Eduardo V Castro, K S Novoselov, S V Morozov, N M R Peres, J M B Lopes dos Santos, Johan Nilsson, F Guinea, A K Geim, and A H Castro Neto. Electronic properties of a biased graphene bilayer. J. Phys.: Condens. Matter, 22(17):175503, 2010.
- [159] Takahiro Fukui, Yasuhiro Hatsugai, and Hiroshi Suzuki. Chern numbers in discretized brillouin zone: Efficient method of computing (spin) hall conductances. J. Phys. Soc. Jpn., 74(6):1674–1677, 2005.
- [160] Di Xiao, Wang Yao, and Qian Niu. Valley-contrasting physics in graphene: Magnetic moment and topological transport. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 99:236809, Dec 2007.
- [161] Y. Shimazaki, M. Yamamoto, I. V. Borzenets, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, and S. Tarucha. Generation and detection of pure valley current by electrically induced berry curvature in bilayer graphene. *Nat. Phys.*, 11:1032–1036, Dec 2015.
- [162] Mengqiao Sui, Guorui Chen, Liguo Ma, Wen-Yu Shan, Dai Tian, Kenji Watanabe, Takashi Taniguchi, Xiaofeng Jin, Wang Yao, Di Xiao, and Yuanbo Zhang.
Gate-tunable topological valley transport in bilayer graphene. Nat. Phys., 11:1027–1031, Dec 2015.

- [163] Janghee Lee, Kenji Watanabe, Takashi Taniguchi, and Hu-Jong Lee. Realisation of topological zero-energy mode in bilayer graphene in zero magnetic field. Sci. Rep., 7(1):6466, 2017.
- [164] Long Ju, Zhiwen Shi, Nityan Nair, Yinchuan Lv, Chenhao Jin, Jairo Velasco Jr, Claudia Ojeda-Aristizabal, Hans A. Bechtel, Michael C. Martin, Alex Zettl, James Analytis, and Feng Wang. Topological valley transport at bilayer graphene domain walls. *Nature*, 520(7549):650–655, Apr 2015.
- [165] Paolo Michetti and BjÄűrn Trauzettel. Devices with electrically tunable topological insulating phases. Appl. Phys. Lett., 102(6):063503, 2013.
- [166] Ajit Srivastava, Meinrad Sidler, Adrien V. Allain, Dominik S. Lembke, Andras Kis, and A. Imamoglu. Valley zeeman effect in elementary optical excitations of monolayer wse2. *Nat. Phys.*, 11:141–147, Feb 2015.
- [167] G. Aivazian, Zhirui Gong, Aaron M. Jones, Rui-Lin Chu, J. Yan, D. G. Mandrus, Chuanwei Zhang, David Cobden, Wang Yao, and X. Xu. Magnetic control of valley pseudospin in monolayer wse2. *Nat. Phys.*, 11:148–152, Feb 2015.
- [168] Tobias Völkl, Tobias Rockinger, Martin Drienovsky, Kenji Watanabe, Takashi Taniguchi, Dieter Weiss, and Jonathan Eroms. Magnetotransport in heterostructures of transition metal dichalcogenides and graphene. *Phys. Rev.* B, 96:125405, Sep 2017.
- [169] Bowen Yang, Mark Lohmann, David Barroso, Ingrid Liao, Zhisheng Lin, Yawen Liu, Ludwig Bartels, Kenji Watanabe, Takashi Taniguchi, and Jing Shi. Strong electron-hole symmetric rashba spin-orbit coupling in graphene/monolayer transition metal dichalcogenide heterostructures. *Phys. Rev. B*, 96:041409, Jul 2017.
- [170] Talieh S. Ghiasi, Josep Ingla-Aynés, Alexey A. Kaverzin, and Bart J. van Wees. Large proximity-induced spin lifetime anisotropy in transition-metal dichalcogenide/graphene heterostructures. Nano Letters, 17(12):7528-7532, Dec 2017.
- [171] L. Antonio Benítez, Juan F. Sierra, Williams Savero Torres, Aloïs Arrighi, Frédéric Bonell, Marius V. Costache, and Sergio O. Valenzuela. Strongly anisotropic spin relaxation in graphene-transition metal dichalcogenide heterostructures at room temperature. *Nature Physics*, 14(3):303–308, 2018.
- [172] D. Marchenko, A. Varykhalov, M. R. Scholz, G. Bihlmayer, E. I. Rashba, A. Rybkin, A. M. Shikin, and O. Rader. Giant rashba splitting in graphene due to hybridization with gold. *Nature Communications*, 3:1232 EP -, Nov 2012.
- [173] J. Milton Pereira, F. M. Peeters, and P. Vasilopoulos. Landau levels and oscillator strength in a biased bilayer of graphene. *Phys. Rev. B*, 76:115419, Sep 2007.

- [174] Mikito Koshino and Edward McCann. Parity and valley degeneracy in multilayer graphene. Phys. Rev. B, 81:115315, Mar 2010.
- [175] Wenchen Luo, R. Côté, and Alexandre Bédard-Vallée. Ising quantum hall ferromagnetism in landau levels $|n| \ge 1$ of bilayer graphene. *Phys. Rev. B*, 90:075425, Aug 2014.
- [176] E. V. Gorbar, V. P. Gusynin, Junji Jia, and V. A. Miransky. Broken-symmetry states and phase diagram of the lowest landau level in bilayer graphene. *Phys. Rev. B*, 84:235449, Dec 2011.
- [177] J. Lambert and R. Côté. Quantum hall ferromagnetic phases in the landau level n = 0 of a graphene bilayer. *Phys. Rev. B*, 87:115415, Mar 2013.
- [178] Francisco Mireles and John Schliemann. Energy spectrum and landau levels in bilayer graphene with spin-orbit interaction. New Journal of Physics, 14(9):093026, 2012.
- [179] Edward McCann and Mikito Koshino. Spin-orbit coupling and the landau level spectrum of aba-stacked trilayer graphene. Journal of Physics: Conference Series, 334(1):012001, 2011.
- [180] Javier D. Sanchez-Yamagishi, Jason Y. Luo, Andrea F. Young, Benjamin M. Hunt, Kenji Watanabe, Takashi Taniguchi, Raymond C. Ashoori, and Pablo Jarillo-Herrero. Helical edge states and fractional quantum hall effect in a graphene electron-hole bilayer. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 12, 2016.
- [181] Jun Yong Khoo, Alberto F. Morpurgo, and Leonid Levitov. On-demand spinorbit interaction from which-layer tunability in bilayer graphene. Nano Letters, 17(11):7003-7008, 2017.
- [182] Denis Kochan, Susanne Irmer, and Jaroslav Fabian. Model spin-orbit coupling hamiltonians for graphene systems. *Phys. Rev. B*, 95:165415, Apr 2017.